


Communication. Its power is unprecedented, its importance immea-
surable. At Hughes Electronics Corporation, we take communication
to the highest levels. 

As our DIRECTV direct-to-home entertainment services converge
with the Internet, we’re redefining the consumer entertainment expe-
rience. And we’re creating the next generation of business communi-
cations by combining our world-leading satellite services operations
with cutting-edge ground system technology.

It’s all driven by an innovative spirit and technological expertise that
is unmatched in the industry.

Whether it’s direct-to-home television entertainment or business-to-
business high-speed data transfer, the people and services of Hughes
help the world to communicate. To share ideas. To bridge cultural bar-
riers. To inspire and lead one another into the next millennium. This
is the power of communication. This is the power of Hughes.
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Financial Highlights (1)
(Dollars in Millions)

For The Ye a r 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Revenues $ 5,560 $ 3,481 $ 2,838

Service revenues as a percentage 

of revenues 82% 76% 70%

Product revenues as a percentage

of revenues 18% 24% 30%

EBITDA (2) $ 223 $ 342 $ 304

Operating profit (loss) (428) (46) 44

Income (loss) from continuing operations 

before extraordinary item and 

cumulative effect of accounting change (391) 64 237

Income from discontinued operations, 

net of taxes 100 196 171

Net income (loss) (291) 251 450

Capital expenditures 1,665 1,329 713

Average Class H dividend base

(in millions) 419 400 400

At Year-End

Cash and cash equivalents $ 238 $ 1,342 $ 2,784

Total current assets 3,858 4,075 5,179

Total assets 18,597 $12,617 12,142

Total current liabilities 2,642 1,346 1,008

Total debt 2,141 935 638

Number of employees (in thousands) 9 5 5

(1) Results reported reflect Hughes’ satellite systems manufacturing businesses as discontinued
operations due to the pending sale of such businesses to The Boeing Company.

(2) EBITDA is defined as operating profit (loss), plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is
not presented as an alternative measure of operating results or cash flow from operations, as
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Hughes management
believes it is a meaningful measure of performance and is commonly used by other large com-
munications, entertainment and media service providers. EBITDA does not give effect to cash
used for debt service requirements and thus does not reflect funds available for investment in
the business of Hughes, dividends or other discretionary uses. In addition, EBITDA as pre-
sented herein may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.
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The new century is barely

underway, and yet already we can

see the signature of Hughes on

the global communications infra-

structure. DIRECTV® is fast

becoming the standard for home

viewing, our business network

systems continue to widen their

lead in popularity around the

world,  and our satellite fleet con-

tinues to outpace the competition

in providing local, regional, and

global telecommunications ser-

vices. But even as we reach new

heights in each of our service

offerings, we continue to focus on

the next generation of telecom-

munications. Our vision is to

bring about the conver-

gence of both entertain-

ment and information

services in the same com-

munications portal, be it a

TV or a PC. Such conver-

gence will remake the

telecommunications land-

scape in the coming years,

and Hughes, with its unique core

capabilities, is distinctly posi-

tioned to lead this transform a t i o n .

In working to reshape the

telecommunications landscape,

Hughes also reinvented itself.

T h e re is no better example of this

than the organizational changes

designed to re s t ru c t u re the com-

pany around our key markets.

T h ree years ago, that meant split-

ting off our defense and automo-

tive lines of business. M o re

re c e n t l y, it included selling our

s l o w e r- g rowth, lower- m a rg i n

satellite systems manufacturing

businesses, and refocusing our

w i reless service operations. As a

result, Hughes today is a company

focused intensely on high-gro w t h ,

high-value services markets.

In addition to restructuring, we

have taken a number of strategic

steps to strengthen our leadership

and achieve our goal of becoming

the premier global provider of

integrated entertainment and

information services. Among

these steps, we:

• Realigned Hughes into two

marketing organizations – a con-

sumer group and an enterprise
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Illustrated above is the vision that has guided all of our

actions in transforming Hughes.

Michael T. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



g roup – that reflect our two dis-

tinct customer areas. This new

o rganization will allow us to more

rapidly identify and respond to

changes in our various markets;

• Nearly doubled the U.S. sub-

scriber base of DIRECTV,

Hughes’ digital direct broadcast

satellite (DBS) television service,

through aggressive marketing

efforts, and through the acquisi-

tions of United States Satellite

Broadcasting (USSB) and

PRIMESTAR. Our Latin

American DIRECTV subscriber

growth also gained momentum,

with a year-over-year growth rate

of 74 percent in 1999. Much of

this growth in Latin America was

the result of new agreements we

reached with our local partners

that granted Hughes greater con-

trol over marketing and opera-

tions. We ended 1999 with nearly

9 million subscribers throughout

the Western Hemisphere;

• Built Hughes Network

Systems (HNS) into one of the

l a rgest manufacturers of DIRECTV

systems, enabling it to produce

m o re than two million receivers in

1999, which in turn support e d

D I R E C T V ’s re c o rd growth; 

• Continued to extend

PanAmSat’s lead as the world’s

largest commercial provider of

satellite services. With the suc-

cessful launch of two new satel-

lites (out of seven planned),

PanAmSat is well on course

toward building up to a global

fleet of 24 spacecraft;

• Secured future funding for our

h i g h - g rowth services with the

expected cash proceeds before tax

of nearly $4 billion from the

announced sale of our satellite sys-

tems manufacturing business to

The Boeing Company;

• Refocused the wireless net-

working business at HNS to

emphasize the broadband point-

to-multipoint equipment in which

Hughes is a market leader. As

part of this refocusing, we discon-

tinued two narrowband wireless

businesses in which we did not

offer a competitive edge;

• Agreed to combine our

Japanese DBS subscriber base

with that of SkyPerfecTV!. This

move will result in Hughes own-

The contrasts between the old and the new Hughes are significant in

achieving new opportunities for market penetration and earnings growth.

“Our vision is to
bring about the 
convergence of both
entertainment and
information services
in the same commu-
nications portal”



ing an approximate 6.8 perc e n t

equity position in SkyPerf e c T V ! ,

enabling us to profit from its

i m p roved competitive position;

• Secured a $1.5 billion invest-

ment in Hughes by America

Online and a strategic alliance to

deliver AOL services to con-

sumers via DIRECTV and

DirecPC®; and

• Committed $1.4 billion to

the North American segment of

Spaceway™, Hughes’ innovative

satellite system for delivering

high-speed, two-way broadband

service beginning in 2003. 

In addition to the foregoing,

we have continued to make the

investments needed to sustain the

rapid growth in our high-margin

services businesses. These invest-

ments, together with our focus on

ensuring quality in satellite manu-

facturing and the discontinuation

of our narrowband wireless busi-

nesses, caused 1999’s EBITDA

(Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,

Depreciation and Amortization)

to be lower than projected. 

Wall Street accurately read these

results as the short - t e rm cost of

realigning ourselves around our

h i g h - g rowth markets.

A c c o rd i n g l y, the valuation of

GM Class H common share s

(GMH) more than doubled last

y e a r. The accompanying chart

highlights the dramatic growth in

GMH share price.

In 1999, our U.S. DIRECTV

business achieved an important

milestone. For the first time, rev-

enues from our growing sub-

scriber base outpaced our

marketing and other costs, which

resulted in U.S. DIRECTV’s first

year of positive EBITDA. Now

having passed the breakeven

point, we expect EBITDA growth

to accelerate going forward. We

have every expectation that

DIRECTV – and soon DirecPC

and Spaceway – will generate lev-

els of revenue and earnings

growth validating our new focus. 

How will we achieve such

growth? For starters we will pur-

sue the strategies that have served

us so well in recent years.  

In our consumer services, that

means continuing to offer

DIRECTV customers the widest

variety of programming, as well

as an unmatched level of recep-

tion quality, customer service,

ease of use, and programming

value. With the addition of local

channels in U.S. markets – a ser-

vice that has been very enthusias-

tically received – we are well on

our way toward becoming the

second largest multi-channel

provider in the United States.  

In our enterprise services, we

will continue to provide the gre a t

reliability and cost-effectiveness in

private business networks that have

made HNS’ VSAT systems the

most popular in the world. And we

will raise HNS’ output of

DIRECTV receiver systems 50 per-

cent, to 3 million units in 2000.  

We will continue to focus on

P a n A m S a t ’s stable customer

base, which includes the globe’s

leading entertainment and

telecommunications companies,

and build on its $6 billion-plus

backlog of satellite service con-

tracts. And we will expand

P a n A m S a t ’s global capacity

t h rough the launch of additional

and more powerful spacecraft. 

However, we are also looking

beyond these established and

rapidly growing markets to the

even greater growth potential of

convergence.  

At DIRECTV, a series of new

services to be phased in this year

will substantially change

America’s viewing habits. The

Wink® Enhanced Broadcasting

service will allow subscribers to

bring up additional data on their

TV screens to enhance many of

their favorite TV shows, or to

order product information simply

by clicking on their remote con-

trols. TiVoPersonal TV™ will

allow subscribers to create a per-

sonalized TV experience through

sophisticated digital video record-

ing technology. And our AOL TV™

service will enable subscribers to

surf the Internet while viewing
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their favorite programs.

HNS, meanwhile, will intro-

duce a new broadband service

called AOL Plus via DirecPC. We

believe that this new offering,

along with a new, two-way satel-

lite service planned to be rolled

out later this year, will signifi-

cantly boost Hughes’ broadband

subscriber base.  

HNS is also leading the devel-

opment of Spaceway, which will

c reate a new standard in both

consumer and business communi-

cations by providing multimedia

e n t e rtainment and fast Intern e t

access. Because Hughes has a vast

consumer and enterprise customer

base, Spaceway can count on an

existing target audience to give it

a head start on the competition. 

PanAmSat, too, will reap the

benefits of convergence as it exe-

cutes on its recently announced

I n t e rnet strategy. NET/36™ w i l l

deliver broadband services to

thousands of Internet serv i c e

p roviders (ISPs), cable headends,

digital subscriber line (DSL)

p roviders and wireless operators

t h rough a global satellite net-

work that bypasses congested

a reas of the Intern e t .

Altogether, by following cur-

rent strategies and expanding into

newer areas of converging tech-

nologies, we expect to achieve

rapidly accelerating EBITDA

growth for the next several years. 

As we look forw a rd, we’re

t remendously excited by the new

telecommunications enviro n m e n t

that Hughes is helping to cre a t e .

Our leading position in our indus-

tries, our unmatched technological

and marketing capabilities, and

the synergy of our various busi-

nesses all point to a future where

the Hughes name is synonymous

with the best in telecommunica-

tions on every level.  

And with the advent of conver-

gence, we expect the new services

offered by Hughes to open new

opportunities for market penetra-

tion and earnings growth – while

empowering consumers and busi-

ness people everywhere to reach

untapped ideas and develop

unknown capabilities.  Whether

the demand is for data or video,

entertainment or business,

research or recreation, or all of

these in various combinations,

Hughes is positioning itself as the

global service supplier of choice

in this Digital Age.

Michael T. S m i t h

C h a i rman and Chief Exe c u t i ve Offi c e r

“With the advent 
of convergence, we
expect the new ser-
vices developed by
Hughes to open new
opportunities for
market penetration
and earnings gro w t h ”



DIRECTV U. S .

DIRECTV is the United States’ leading digital television

e n t e rtainment service. As of year-end 1999, DIRECTV had

m o re than 8 million customers, including those subscribing

to the medium-power PRIMESTAR By DIRECTV serv i c e .

STRATEGIES

• Continue to diff e rentiate service through unique pro g r a m-
ming and services 
• Create new revenue streams through the intro d u c t i o n
of local channels, interactive services, e-commerce and
a d v e rtising 
• Further strengthen distribution channels 
• Maximize customer loyalty; reduce churn 

1999 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• A c q u i red a re c o rd 1.6 million net new high-power sub-
s c r i b e rs–a 39% increase over the number added in 1998  
• Attained industry-high average monthly revenue per sub-
scriber of $58 for high-power subscribers  
• P rovided local programming through existing DIRECTV
equipment to customers in more than 20 markets (as of
M a rch 2000) 
• Completed United States Satellite Broadcasting (USSB),
PRIMESTAR and Tempo transactions  
• Completed broad-based strategic alliance with America
Online to introduce AOL TV ™ and accelerate DIRECTV
subscriber growth  
• Renewed NFL SUNDAY TICKET®, providing out-of-
market NFL games through 2002  
• Converted 470,000 PRIMESTAR By DIRECTV sub-
scribers to the high-power service
• Made important strategic equity investments in Wink
Communications, TiVo, Thomson Consumer Electronics
and XM Satellite Radio  
• Launched DIRECTV 1-R and successfully transitioned
services from the DBS 1 satellite. 

DIRECTV LATIN A M E R I CA

Galaxy Latin America, which is 78 percent owned by

Hughes, provides the DIRECTV service in Latin America

and the Caribbean. It is the region’s leading direct-to-home

television service. As of year-end 1999, it had more than

800,000 customers in 27 countries.  

STRATEGIES

• Diff e rentiate service through exclusive programming, new
interactive services, and the most comprehensive sports and
local programming 
• Accelerate subscriber growth with aggressive promotions
• Further strengthen distribution channels
• Maximize customer loyalty; reduce churn 

1999 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• Added 320,000 net new subscribers – a 74% increase
over the number added in 1998  
• Restructured local operating companies in Brazil and
Mexico to increase operational control  
• Increased capacity to over 300 channels  
• Provided exclusive programming: HBO Olé in Argentina,
HBO Brasil, Shania Twain concert, Holyfield vs. Lewis
Boxing, Disney Weekend  
• Added new programming: NBA LEAGUE PASS ®, Major
League Baseball, MGM Networks Latin America program-
ming, and TV Bandeirantes and Canal 21 (local channels
in Brazil)  
• Launched service in Puerto Rico and Nicaragua.

D i re c t - To-Home 1999 VS. 1998

B roadcast Segment 1999 1998 INCREASE

Revenues $3,785.0 $1,816.1 108.4%

EBITDA $19.9 $(125.8) N/A

EBITDA Margin 0.5% N/A N/A

Operating Loss $(292.1) $(228.1) N/A

D o l l a r s in Mil lions

C O N S U M E R S E R V I C E S

The Consumer Services organization was created to maximize the synergies of Hughes’ DIRECTV® operations in the
United States and Latin America, to implement the consumer marketing of the company’s DirecPC® and Spaceway™ ser-
vices, and to accelerate the integration of Hughes’ television and Internet services. It is led by Eddy Hartenstein, corporate



PA N A M S AT

PanAmSat Corporation, which is 81 percent owned by

Hughes, is the world’s leading commercial provider of

satellite-based video and data broadcast services. The

stock is publicly traded on the NASDAQ under the ticker

symbol “SPOT.”

STRATEGIES

• Launch five additional satellites by mid-2001 as part of a
c o m p rehensive expansion and back-up plan 
• Introduce new Internet initiatives, including the
NET/36™ network
• Expand current video and telecommunications services 
• Pursue strategic acquisitions and partnerships

1999 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• Unveiled NET/36 network to broadcast Internet content
to Internet access providers worldwide (March 2000)
• Launched Galaxy XI satellite and Galaxy X-R satellite (in
J a n u a ry 2000) 
• Expanded or added service for Viacom, Encore Media
G roup, Fox Sports International, National Public Radio,
Portuguese public broadcaster RTP International,
Spacecom Systems and Televisión Nacional de Chile
• Became platform for direct-to-home service in Taiwan 
• P a rt n e red with Nuera Communications, Inc., to debut
satellite-based voice over IP (Internet Protocol) services  
• D e l i v e red more than 1,300 hours of Millennium celebra-
tion coverage to more than 40 countries 

1999VS. 1998

Satellite Services Segment 1999 1998 INCREASE

Revenues $810.6 $767.3 5.6%

EBITDA $618.8 $553.3 11.8%

EBITDA Margin 76.3% 72.1% 4.2 pts.

Operating Profit $338.3 $318.3 6.3%

Operating Margin 41.7% 41.5% 0.2 pts.

D o l l a r s in Mil lions

HUGHES NETWORK SYS T E M S

Hughes Network Systems (HNS) is the world’s leading

provider of satellite-based private business networks and

Internet services. HNS is also a leading supplier of

DIRECTV receiver equipment and terrestrial broadband

wireless access products.

STRATEGIES

• Lead Hughes’ entry into next-generation broadband
products and services, with particular focus on services 
• Expand very small aperature terminal (VSAT) capabili-
ties by offering integrated value-added business serv i c e s
• Continue expanding market in U.S. set-top receiver sys-
tems and launch in Europe and Asia receiver markets 
• Introduce two-way DirecPC service via satellite
• Roll out AOL Plus via DirecPC consumer broadband
services; leverage to Spaceway in the future

1999 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• Shipped more than 2.1 million DIRECTV systems 
• Completed a broad-based agreement with AOL to deliver
AOL Plus via DirecPC and accelerate growth of DirecDuo 
• Signed contracts to provide new or expanded DirecWay ™

or DirecPC services to more than 35 enterprise customers
• Became designer and initial exclusive provider of AOL
TV receivers for DIRECTV systems  
• Introduced industry’s fastest two-way VSAT supporting
IP-based multimedia 
• Completed successful initial public offering (IPO) in
India for its 56.1%-owned subsidiary, Hughes Software
Systems.

1999 VS. 1998

Network Systems Segment 1999 1998 INCREASE

Revenues $1,384.7 1,076.7 28.6%

EBITDA $(178.1) $52.6 N/A

EBITDA Margin N/A 4.9% N/A

Operating Profit $(227.3) $10.9 N/A

Operating Margin N/A 1.0% N/A

D o l l a rs in Millions

E N T E R P R I S E S E R V I C E S

The Enterprise Services organization was designed to leverage the strengths of PanAmSat Corporation and Hughes
Network Systems to focus on the enterprise markets, and to oversee the systems development of all wireless, broadband and
satellite telecommunications equipment. The eff o rt is led by Jack Shaw, corporate senior executive vice pre s i d e n t .



All across the United States, Latin America and the Caribbean, millions

of DIRECTV® subscribers enjoy the best selection and the highest quality

in entertainment and information services. And that’s just the beginning. 

Hughes’ consumer-based services will span from the television to the

I n t e rnet and into the worlds where both converge. Through the power of

innovation, Hughes is redefining the consumer entertainment experience.

THE TELEVISION: A MULTIMEDIA PORTAL INTO THE HOME

Just five years ago, DIRECTV began changing the face of American

television with its digital quality, wide variety of sports and specialty pro-

gramming, and hundreds of entertainment channels. To d a y, DIRECTV is

the world’s number-one provider of digital multichannel entertainment. 

DIRECTV ended 1999 with more than 8 million subscribers in the

United States, including those subscribing to the medium-power

PRIMESTAR By DIRECTV service. This made DIRECTV the third

largest multichannel entertainment provider in the United States. 

D I R E C T V ’s re c o rd growth was supported by Hughes Network Systems’

(HNS) ability to dramatically accelerate production of DIRECTV re c e i v e r

systems when demand for the equipment exceeded supply. HNS delivere d

m o re than 2.1 million DIRECTV systems in 1999, making it one of the

w o r l d ’s largest providers of DIRECTV receiver equipment.

HNS is also building a single antenna to receive DIRECTV services

from multiple orbital locations, and to receive the next generation of

interactive services for both the television and the desktop computer.

These new serv i c es– including data-enhanced video, electronic com-

m e rce, Internet access, high-definition television and local

p ro g r a m m i ng–a re expected to continue to drive DIRECTV’s growth in

2000 and beyond.

DIRECTV is making its initial entry into interactive services through a

t h ree-phase approach. Through its strategic equity agreements with Wi n k

Redefining The Consumer
Entertainment Experience
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DIRECTV is the

place for sports.

Through innovative programming

packages such as the NFL

SUNDAY TICKET®, DIRECTV

subscribers can receive an

unequaled array of out-of-market

sports entertainment.





Communications, Ti Vo and

America Online (AOL), DIRECTV

will transform the television fro m

an entertainment and inform a t i o n

re s o u rce into an interactive multi-

media portal into the home.

The Wi n k® E n h a n c e d

B roadcasting service will allow

DIRECTV viewers to use their

remote control to request addi-

tional information “on-demand,”

such as local weather fore c a s t s

and sports scores, from dozens of 

DIRECTV programming networks.

Wink capabilities were integrated

into DIRECTV basic re c e i v e r s

beginning in late 1999 and will

become operational in 2000. 

Customers seeking more fea-

t u res can purchase the Ti Vo

Personal TV™ s e rvice. Ti Vo uses

sophisticated digital video re c o rd-

ing technology that allows viewers

to pause, rewind and then fast-

f o rw a rd live TV. Ti Vo also

“ l e a rns” subscribers’ likes and dis-

likes, offers program re c o m m e n-

dations, allows subscribers to

c reate a personalized TV line-up

and creates a video-on-demand

capability by storing pro g r a m-

ming so that customers may view

it at any time. 

The third phase is AOL TV™,

a new interactive service that is

being jointly developed by

DIRECTV and AOL. AOL has

invested $1.5 billion in a security

that is convertible into GMH

stock as part of a long-term

strategic alliance with Hughes.

AOL TV will provide the most

popular AOL community services

(such as chat capabilities, buddy

lists and instant messaging) and

select Internet content that is con-
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Galaxy Latin America is the exclusive direct-

to-home provider of HBO Brasil and of HBO

Olé (left) in Argentina,offering DIRECTV sub-

scribers in those countries high-quality enter-

tainment they can’t find anywhere else .

Through the interactive onscreen guide,

DIRECTV customers can sort programming

by genre and find the best entertainment for

the whole family (right).

“Hughes’ consumer-
based services will
span from the
television to the
Internet and into the
worlds where both
converge”



tinuously refreshed through the

DIRECTV satellites. Web surfing

will also be available through a

built-in 56 kilobits-per-second

(Kbps) modem.

HNS will design and be the

first to manufacture the

DIRECTV/AOL TV receivers,

which feature a powerful hard

drive in the set-top box and an

optional wireless keyboard. 

DIRECTV made other impor-

tant programming additions dur-

ing the year. New legislation in

1999 enabled DIRECTV to

deliver local programming. Using

existing satellite capacity,

DIRECTV already serves more

than 20 major U.S. markets, re p-

resenting approximately half of

U.S. television households.

Initial sign-up rates for local

programming were encouraging.

Already, in some major markets

approximately half of existing

DIRECTV subscribers chose the

local channel package at a cost of

$5.99 per month. In addition,

Hughes expects to see a sizeable

increase in new subscriber addi-

tions in markets where it offers

local channels.

In late 2001, DIRECTV will

launch a new spot-beam satellite,

enabling it to more than double

the number of local-channel mar-

kets served and to introduce new

s e rvices nationwide.

DIRECTV also broadened its

reach to the U.S. Hispanic mar-

ket, launching DIRECTV PARA

TODOS™ (“DIRECTV for

Everyone”), a service offering

more than 20 Spanish-language

channels combined with up to 77

English channels.

DIRECTV is using a three-phase approach for its initial entry into interactive ser-

vices,allowing customers to choose from the variety of features offered through

DIRECTV’s Wink,TiVo and AOL TV services



As part of the Hughes/AOL $1.5 billion

strategic alliance , HNS employees (left) work

to develop software to help bring the AOL

Plus via DirecPC broadband service to a

nationwide audience beginning in 2000.

With a single small antenna,HNS’DirecDuo

system (right) provides customers with both

DIRECTV television entertainment and

DirecPC high-speed Internet access.
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All of these new services are

expected to further drive new

subscriber growth and additional

monthly revenue per subscriber.

DIRECTV LATIN AMERICA

Galaxy Latin America,LLC

(GLA), a partnership with The

Cisneros Group of Companies of

Venezuela that is 78 percent

owned by Hughes, is the leading

provider of direct-to-home (DTH)

television in Latin America and

the Caribbean, serving 27 coun-

tries in the region.

As a result of two major 1999

transactions, GLA gained gre a t e r

operational control of the local

businesses in Mexico and Brazil.

This, combined with GLA’s pri-

m a ry strategy of accelerating sub-

scriber growth, resulted in the

company adding more than

320,000 subscribers – a 74-perc e n t

i n c rease over the number added in

1998. GLA ended 1999 with more

than 800,000 subscribers . 

DIRECTV has the broadest

program offering in Latin

America and the Caribbean,

including exclusive entertainment,

sports and music. 

In 1999, GLA entered into sev-

eral key exclusive pro g r a m m i n g

a g reements. It is the exclusive

DTH provider of HBO Brasil, and

of HBO Olé and various Cisnero s

Television Group channels in

A rgentina. In addition, GLA

e n t e red into a 10-year exclusive

DTH agreement to provide The

Disney Channel in the Spanish-

speaking parts of Latin America. 

GLA will continue to drive

DIRECTV’s long-term success in

the region through outstanding

“Galaxy Latin
America is the
leading provider 
of direct-to-home
television in Latin
America and the
Caribbean”



AOL TV, a new interactive service that is

being jointly developed by DIRECTV and

America Online (AOL),will provide select

Internet content, web surfing,chat capabilities,

buddy lists,instant messaging and more.

operational performance and dif-

ferentiated programming.

THE PERSONAL COMPUTER: FULFILLING

THE PROMISE OF THE INTERNET

The DirecPC® Turbo Internet™

service from HNS is the only

high-speed Internet access service

to provide speeds of up to 400

Kbps across the entire continental

United States. As part of Hughes’

alliance with AOL, DirecPC will

deliver the new AOL Plus broad-

band service nationwide begin-

ning in 2000. DirecPC is also

compatible with other Internet

Service Providers (ISPs). 

With expanded marketing

beginning in 2000 and the

planned introduction of a two-

way-via-satellite version of

DirecPC, Hughes expects to gain

more than 1 million DirecPC cus-

tomers over the next three years.

These new broadband services

will also complement DIRECTV’s

video and interactive services, pro-

viding Hughes with the import a n t

ability to bundle service offerings. 

The AOL alliance also provides

for expanded marketing of

DirecDuo™, the first system to

provide U.S. customers with both

DIRECTV entertainment and

DirecPC Internet services through

a single small dish.

This growing broadband cus-

tomer base will provide a key tar-

get market for the faster two-way

Internet services that will be

available when Hughes launches

the Spaceway™ service in 2003. :



A key to business success is communication. Companies must be con-

nected in the global marketplace. Industry watchers predict that the stag-

gering growth of the consumer Internet will be dwarfed by the global

market for Internet-based business-to-business electronic commerc e .

Hughes is in a prime position to capitalize on this growth. Through

its innovative ground- and satellite-based communication networks and

services, Hughes is setting the standard for the next generation of busi-

ness communications. 

THE NETWORK CONNECTION: VSAT SYSTEMS

Hughes Network Systems (HNS) holds more than 50 percent of the

global market for very small aperture terminal (VSAT) systems, with

more than 300,000 interactive and one-way VSATs under contract

worldwide. HNS provides more than 500 companies in 85 countries

with broadcast video communications; two-way data, voice and multi-

media; and telephony systems. This strong installed base provides not

only the potential for upgrades and network expansion, but also ongo-

ing maintenance and service revenues.

To support high-speed, Web-based communications, HNS pro v i d e s

companies with Dire c P C® and Dire c Wa y™ V S AT s e rvices. These serv i c e s

t r a n s p o rt data at high speed, either “point-to-point” or in a bro a d c a s t

mode, and can simultaneously transport data and MPEG (motion picture s

e x p e rts group) real-time video stre a m s .

In 1999, HNS introduced the multimedia VSAT to provide the indus-

try’s first two-way VSAT service based on Internet protocol (IP) technol -

ogy. It provides multimegabit delivery of IP traffic, receiving data fro m

the satellite at speeds up to 24 megabits-per-second (Mbps) and transmit-

ting to the satellite at speeds up to 256 kilobits-per-second (Kbps). It also

s u p p o rts two-way interactive broadband applications, including Intern e t

Setting The Standard For 
Next-Generation Business

Communications
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Using HNS VSAT networks,cus-

tomers such as Mobil have a cost-

effective way to link their

dispersed operations,providing

each store with point-of-sale

inventory tracking,credit card

authorization and other value-

added services.





Through its production facilities (left), H N S

m a nufactured more than 2.1 million

DIRECTV systems in 1999, making it one of

the wo rl d ’s largest prov i d e rs of DIRECTV

receiving equipment.

HNS VSATs (right) provide more than 500

companies in 85 countries with broadcast

video communications and two-way data,

voice, and multimedia services.

access, corporate intranets, interac-

tive distance learning and multi-

c a s t / b roadcast applications such as

business TV and file distribution. 

As part of its vision to be a

premier broadband products and

services company, with particular

emphasis on broadband access,

HNS is expanding its role as an

end-to-end service provider.

Long established as the premier

supplier of satellite-based hard-

ware and data transport services,

HNS is now offering integrated

value-added business services,

such as in-store music, electronic

commerce, multimedia video

delivery and e-mail. 

By integrating these types of

Web-based services into their

H N S - p rovided networks, cus-

tomers can eliminate duplicative

equipment, streamline network

management, increase network

flexibility and reduce costs. HNS

o ffers its comprehensive turn k e y

network services through a

global network of shared hubs

operating in the United States,

E u rope and Asia.

In addition, HNS is broadening

its role in the terrestrial wireless

broadband access equipment mar-

ket. These systems, which are also

known as local multipoint distrib-

ution services (LMDS), provide

companies with last-mile access to

high-speed communications ser-

vices. HNS will begin delivering

equipment to its initial customers,

Teligent and Winstar, in 2000.

Building on its advanced tech-

nology and vast experience

installing wireless networks, HNS

expects to be the leader in the

w i reless broadband access market. 
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“Industry watchers
predict that the
staggering growth 
of the consumer
Internet will be
dwarfed by the global
market for Internet-
based business-to-
business electronic
commerce”



Beginning in 2003,Hughes’Spaceway system

will offer two-way service for high-speed

Internet access for customers of DIRECTV

and other consumer services,as well as cor-

porate intranets,virtual private networks, mul-

timedia broadcasting,high-speed data delivery

and more.

HNS also leads the develop-

ment of Hughes’ Spaceway™

broadband satellite system, which

is scheduled to begin service in

2003. Hughes has committed

$1.4 billion for Spaceway’s North

American system, which includes

two satellites, an in-orbit spare

and related ground infrastructure. 

Using spot-beam technology,

o n - b o a rd digital processors, packet

switching and other advanced

technologies, the satellites will pro-

vide broadcast capability and

“full-mesh” connectivity, which

routes data directly between the

sender and recipient rather than

t h rough a central hub.

Spaceway will offer high-speed

I n t e rnet access for customers of

DIRECTV and other consumer

s e rvices, as well as corporate

intranets, virtual private networks,

multimedia broadcasting, high-

speed data delivery and more .

Using a family of low-cost, easily

installed terminals featuring

antennas as small as 26 inches (66

cm), Spaceway will offer faster

speeds and lower costs than those

available with today’s satellites.

Hughes plans to incrementally

expand Spaceway into a global

network of interconnected

regional systems. This phased

rollout provides the most cost-

effective approach to serving the

worldwide market.

THE LINK IN SPACE: SATELLITE SERVICES

PanAmSat Corporation, a

company that is 81 perc e n t

owned by Hughes, is the world’s

leading commercial provider of

satellite-based video and data

b roadcast services. 



As Pa n A m S a t ’s we s t e rn hemisphere tracking station, t h e

Castle Rock, C o l o rado teleport (left) provides teleme-

t ry, t racking and control (TT&C) services for the Galaxy

Ku-band satellite fleet and for DIRECTV satellites.

PanAmSat’s global satellite fleet (right) provides

unparalleled coverage of the Americas,Europe, Africa,

the Middle East and Asia,enabling customers to reach

millions of people over vast areas or target specific

groups in cities,countries or regions.

PanAmSat is poised for signifi-

cant growth. In 1999, it began a

comprehensive expansion and

backup plan that will expand its

fleet to 24 satellites by mid-2001,

making it the world’s largest

provider of fixed satellite services.

In addition, PanAmSat’s extensive

backup capacity will enable it to

provide an unmatched level of

customer service and reliability.

PanAmSat initiated this growth

strategy with the December 1999

launch of Galaxy-XI, the largest

commercial communications

satellite ever deployed into space. 

P a n A m S a t ’s primary re v e n u e

generator continues to be televi-

sion program distribution. It is the

w o r l d ’s leading provider of com-

m e rcial satellite services to the

cable and network television

industries. Its Galaxy® fleet was

the first to dedicate entire satellites

to cable program distribution. It is

now home to the United States’

p remier “cable neighborh o o d , ”

including the new Galaxy-XR

satellite launched in January 2000.

PanAmSat satellites also serve

as platforms for direct-to-home

(DTH) television services in Latin

America, South Africa and

Taiwan.

PanAmSat anticipates continued

g rowth in this core business as the

i n c rease in digital television, high-

definition television, specialty pro-

gram channels and DTH serv i c e s

drives programmers to obtain

additional satellite capacity. 

PanAmSat is also building on

the inherent advantages of satel -

lite communications – including

cost-efficient point-to-multipoint

distribution, distance-insensitive
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“PanAmSat is the
world’s leading
provider of
commercial satellite
services to the cable
and network
television industries”



PanAmSat’s satellites provide

international ISPs with a cost-

effective link to the U.S.Internet

backbone, helping connect mil-

lions of people to the power of

the Internet.

pricing, and ubiquity – to expand

the role of satellites in data, multi-

media and Internet services.

The company is seeing signifi-

cant growth in telecommunica-

tions services to customers

including private business net-

works, telecommunications com-

panies (such as HNS) and Intern e t

S e rvice Providers (ISPs). In fact,

the delivery of Internet content 

via satellite is the fastest gro w i n g

p o rtion of PanAmSat’s business.

In early 2000, PanAmSat intro-

duced NET/36™, a high-speed,

high-capacity global bro a d c a s t

network. Using the PanAmSat

fleet and an initial network of

1,000 satellite-enabled serv e r s ,

NET/36 will provide a satellite-

based overlay to congested 

t e rrestrial networks allowing

thousands of ISPs, cable head-

ends and digital subscriber line

(DSL) providers worldwide to

o ffer faster delivery of Internet

content to their customers. 

Unlike PanAmSat’s traditional

business, NET/36 will generate

revenue according to the demand

for services at each server location,

not according to transponder

capacity sold. This gives

PanAmSat the ability to potentially

i n c rease its revenue per transpon-

d e r, and to benefit from the boom-

ing growth of the Internet. :



Successful companies in the

dynamic entertainment and com-

munications industries must have

the best products, the best ser-

vices and most import a n t l y, the

best people. Like any world-class

c o m p a n y, Hughes is driven by

the cre a t i v i t y, talent and commit-

ment of its employees. Their

ability to innovate – both in

p rocesses and in technology – i s

the cornerstone of Hughes’ abil-

ity to create the future. Here are

just a few examples of the inno-

vation and commitment that

drive Hughes’ success.

In November 1999, new legisla-

tion enabled DIRECTV to pro v i d e

local channels. The company’s

challenge initially was to cost-

e ffectively serve the gre a t e s t

number of markets and then to

design a new satellite that would

optimize the market opport u n i t y. 

The key to minimizing cost was

to use the existing satellites to pro-

vide more channels. To do this,

DIRECTV implemented an innov-

ative concept that enabled it to re -

use frequency spectrum, thus

eliminating the need to build, staff

and operate additional bro a d c a s t

centers. 

For the new satellite design,

company engineers created a cover-

age pattern that could be pro v i d e d

by a Ku-band spot-beam satellite.

The resulting configuration is

considered to be the basis of

DIRECTV’s ability to significantly

expand the number of markets

served with local channels.

As part of its transactions

with United States Satellite

B roadcasting (USSB) and

P R I M E S TAR, DIRECTV also

gained frequency spectrum at

two additional orbital locations.

But requiring customers to use a

multi-antenna solution to

receive entertainment from those

many slots was unacceptable.

Thus the company needed one

small, aff o rdable receiving sys-

tem to serve all three separate

orbital locations. 

To find a solution, DIRECTV

created a team of receiving equip-

ment and component manufactur-

ers – companies who typically

view themselves as competitors.

With members including represen-

tatives from Hughes Network

Systems (HNS), Thomson

Consumer Electronics, Sony,

Channel Master, NAS/Teamtec

and others, the team designed the

DIRECTV PLUS™ System, which

can serve three orbital slots simul-

taneously.

By working through a collabo-

rative eff o rt driven by the needs

of DIRECTV customers, the

team was able to complete its

work in time for the 1999 holi-

day selling season. 

While demand continued to

g row for the DIRECTV serv i c e

in the United States, HNS came

under increased pre s s u re to

accelerate production of

DIRECTV receiver systems. 

The key to meeting this height-

ened demand was to create a

receiver that was easy to pro d u c e

right from the start. 

Working closely with

D I R E C T V, factory personnel in

t h ree diff e rent locations, and a

variety of HNS business and

technical organizations, HNS

engineers focused on meeting a

v e ry aggressive schedule and

Creating The Future
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reducing unit cost. The re s u l t i n g

robust design enabled the com-

pany to ramp up production and

build a total of 1 million units

within the first five months of

p roduction, contributing to HNS’

ability to ship more than 2.1 mil-

lion units in 1999.

As HNS pushes further into the

world of data and Internet deliv-

ery, new innovations are needed

to optimize the role of satellites

and wireless systems in broad-

band communications. To do this,

a team of HNS engineers worked

to significantly advance the error

correcting code technique known

as “turbo codes.” 

As these new codes are incor-

porated into HNS’ very small

aperture terminal (VSAT) and

DirecPC® products, they are

expected to cut the power

required for data transmission by

half. In other words, they can

effectively double the speed at

which data is transmitted without

increasing costs. 

The team also contributed to

worldwide standards activities,

leading to the incorporation of

the company’s ideas into propos-

als for current and new wireless

standards that will enable high-

speed data delivery. This not only

reconfirmed HNS’ role as a tech-

nology powerhouse, it opened the

door for increased adoption of

HNS technology.

For the DIRECTV service in

Latin America, employees at

Galaxy Latin America (GLA) were

focused on a diff e rent type of

challenge: finding a way to pro-

vide more timely and accurate dis-

tribution of program schedule

i n f o rmation. The goal was to

develop a single, integrated system

for entering, modifying and deliv-

ering program schedules thro u g h-

out the entire GLA system. 

The resulting integrated pro-

gram schedule system implements

the program schedules received

from the GLA programming

department and the four in-coun-

try Broadcast Centers, then deliv-

ers the schedules to the functional

systems responsible for the

Program Guide, Conditional

Access, Information Technology

and Broadcast Automation. 

At PanAmSat, keeping the com-

p a n y ’s growing fleet of satellites

flying is a 24-hour-a-day job. And

during 1999, that job took on
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mammoth pro p o rtions. The Space

Operations Support depart m e n t

had to pre p a re for the largest fleet

expansion in Hughes and

PanAmSat history. At PanAmSat’s

seven ground support stations,

that meant adding antennas, con-

t rol software and hard w a re, and

other satellite and customer sup-

p o rt systems. 

As they prepared for the

launch of a total of seven satel-

lites by mid-2001, the department

had to simultaneously conduct a

comprehensive analysis to pre-

pare for potential year 2000, or

Y2K, issues. Driven by

PanAmSat’s commitment to cus-

tomer service, the department

completed both tasks on time and

on budget, with no Y2K-related

issues reported. :
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Condensed Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Total reve nu e s $ 5 , 5 6 0 . 3 $ 3 , 4 8 0 . 6 $ 2 , 8 3 8 . 3

Total operating costs and expenses 5 , 9 8 8 . 3 3 , 5 2 6 . 8 2 , 7 9 4 . 8

O p e rating profit (loss) ( 4 2 8 . 0 ) ( 4 6 . 2 ) 4 3 . 5

Other income (expense), n e t ( 2 3 2 . 0 ) ( 5 7 . 0 ) 3 3 0 . 6

Income tax provision (benefi t ) ( 2 3 6 . 9 ) ( 1 4 2 . 3 ) 1 6 2 . 0

M i n o rity interests in net losses of subsidiari e s 3 2 . 0 2 4 . 4 2 4 . 8

Income (loss) from continuing operations befo r e

e x t ra o r d i n a ry item and cumu l a t i ve effect of

accounting change ( 3 9 1 . 1 ) 6 3 . 5 2 3 6 . 9

Income from discontinued opera t i o n s , net of taxe s 9 9 . 8 1 9 6 . 4 1 7 0 . 6

Gain on sale of discontinued opera t i o n s , net of taxe s - - 6 2 . 8

E x t ra o r d i n a ry item, net of taxe s - - ( 2 0 . 6 )

C u mu l a t i ve effect of accounting change, net of taxe s - ( 9 . 2 ) -

Net income (loss) ( 2 9 1 . 3 ) 2 5 0 . 7 4 4 9 . 7

Adjustments to exclude the effect of GM purchase
accounting adjustments 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0

P r e fe rred stock dividends ( 5 0 . 9 ) - -

E a rnings (Loss) Used for Computation of Av a i l a ble 

S e p a rate Consolidated Net Income (Loss) $ ( 3 2 1 . 2 ) $ 2 7 1 . 7 $ 4 7 0 . 7

2 4
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Selected Segment Data
Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

D i re c t - T o-Home Br o a d c a s t
Total Reve nu e s $ 3 , 7 8 5 . 0 $ 1 , 8 1 6 . 1 $ 1 , 2 7 6 . 9
O p e rating Loss ( 2 9 2 . 1 ) ( 2 2 8 . 1 ) ( 2 5 4 . 6 )
E B I T DA (1) 1 9 . 9 ( 1 2 5 . 8 ) ( 1 6 8 . 5 )
E B I T DA Margin (1) 0 . 5 % N / A N / A
Depreciation and A m o rt i z a t i o n $ 3 1 2 . 0 $ 1 0 2 . 3 $ 8 6 . 1
Segment A s s e t s 9 , 0 5 6 . 6 2 , 1 9 0 . 4 1 , 4 0 8 . 7
Capital Expenditures (2) 5 1 6 . 9 2 3 0 . 8 1 0 5 . 6

Satellite Services 
Total Reve nues $ 8 1 0 . 6 $ 7 6 7 . 3 $ 6 2 9 . 9
O p e rating Profi t 3 3 8 . 3 3 1 8 . 3 2 9 2 . 9
O p e rating Profit Marg i n 4 1 . 7 % 4 1 . 5 % 4 6 . 5 %
E B I T DA (1) $ 6 1 8 . 8 $ 5 5 3 . 3 $ 4 3 8 . 1
E B I T DA Margin (1) 7 6 . 3 % 7 2 . 1 % 6 9 . 6 %
Depreciation and A m o rt i z a t i o n $ 2 8 0 . 5 $ 2 3 5 . 0 $ 1 4 5 . 2
Segment A s s e t s 5 , 9 8 4 . 7 5 , 8 9 0 . 5 5 , 6 8 2 . 4
Capital Expenditures (3) 9 5 6 . 4 9 2 1 . 7 6 2 5 . 7

N e t w ork Systems
Total Reve nues $ 1 , 3 8 4 . 7 $ 1 , 0 7 6 . 7 $ 1 , 0 1 1 . 3
O p e rating Profit (Loss) ( 2 2 7 . 3 ) 1 0 . 9 7 4 . 1
O p e rating Profit Marg i n N / A 1 . 0 % 7 . 3 %
E B I T DA (1) $ ( 1 7 8 . 1 ) $ 5 2 . 6 $ 1 0 6 . 1
E B I T DA Margin (1) N / A 4 . 9 % 1 0 . 5 %
Depreciation and A m o rt i z a t i o n $ 4 9 . 2 $ 4 1 . 7 $ 3 2 . 0
Segment A s s e t s 1 , 1 6 7 . 3 1 , 2 9 9 . 0 1 , 2 1 5 . 6
Capital Expenditures 3 5 . 0 4 0 . 0 4 3 . 1

Eliminations and Other
Total Reve nues $ ( 4 2 0 . 0 ) $ ( 1 7 9 . 5 ) $ ( 7 9 . 8 )
O p e rating Loss ( 2 4 6 . 9 ) ( 1 4 7 . 3 ) ( 6 8 . 9 )
E B I T DA (1) ( 2 3 7 . 9 ) ( 1 3 8 . 4 ) ( 7 1 . 9 )
Depreciation and A m o rt i z a t i o n 9 . 0 8 . 9 ( 3 . 0 )
Segment A s s e t s 2 , 3 8 8 . 4 3 , 2 3 7 . 5 3 , 8 3 4 . 8
Capital Expenditures 1 5 7 . 0 1 3 6 . 3 ( 6 1 . 7 )

To t a l
Total Reve nues $ 5,560.3 $ 3 , 4 8 0 . 6 $ 2 , 8 3 8 . 3
O p e rating Profit (Loss) ( 4 2 8 . 0 ) ( 4 6 . 2 ) 4 3 . 5
E B I T DA (1) 2 2 2 . 7 3 4 1 . 7 3 0 3 . 8
E B I T DA Margin (1) 4 . 0 % 9 . 8 % 1 0 . 7 %
Depreciation and A m o rt i z a t i o n $ 6 5 0 . 7 $ 3 8 7 . 9 $ 2 6 0 . 3
Total A s s e t s 1 8 , 5 9 7 . 0 1 2 , 6 1 7 . 4 1 2 , 1 4 1 . 5
Capital Expenditures 1 , 6 6 5 . 3 1 , 3 2 8 . 8 7 1 2 . 7

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 1999 classifications.

(1) EBITDA (Earnings (Loss) Before Interest, Taxes,Depreciation and Amortization) is the sum of operating profit (loss) and depreciation and amortization.

EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by total revenues.

(2) Includes expenditures related to satellites amounting to $136.0 million in 1999 and $70.2 million in 1998.

(3) Includes expenditures related to satellites amounting to $532.8 million,$726.3 million and $606.1 million,respectively. Also included in the

1999 and 1998 amounts are $369.5 million and $155.5 million,respectively, related to the early buy-out of satellite sale-leasebacks.
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This A n nual Report may contain certain statements that

Hughes believes are, or may be considered to be, “ fo r w a r d -

looking statements,” within the meaning of Section 27A of

the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securi t i e s

Exchange Act of 1934.These forward-looking statements

g e n e ra l ly can be identified by use of statements that include

p h rases such as we “ b e l i e ve,” “ e x p e c t ,” “ a n t i c i p a t e,”“ i n t e n d ,”

“ p l a n ,”“ fo r e s e e ” or other similar words or phra s e s .S i m i l a rly,

statements that describe our objective s , plans or goals also

are forward-looking statements. All of these fo r w a r d - l o o k i n g

statements are subject to certain risks and uncert a i n t i e s

that could cause our actual results to differ materi a l ly from

those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking state-

m e n t .The principal important risk factors which could

cause actual perfo rmance and future actions to differ mate-

ri a l ly from forward-looking statements made herein include

economic conditions, product demand and market accep-

t a n c e, g ove rnment action, local political or economic deve l-

opments in or affecting countries where Hughes has

o p e ra t i o n s , ability to obtain export licenses, c o m p e t i t i o n ,

ability to achieve cost reductions, technological ri s k , l i m i t a-

tions on access to distri bution channels, the success and

timeliness of satellite launches, in-orbit perfo rmance of

s a t e l l i t e s , ability of customers to obtain financing and

H u g h e s ’ ability to access capital to maintain its financial flexi-

b i l i t y. A d d i t i o n a l ly, Hughes and its 81% owned subsidiary,

PanAmSat Corp o ration (“Pa n A m S a t ” ) ,h ave experi e n c e d

satellite anomalies in the past and may experience satellite

anomalies in the future that could lead to the loss or

reduced capacity of such satellites that could materi a l ly

a f fect Hughes’ o p e ra t i o n s .R e a d e rs are urged to consider

these factors carefully in evaluating the fo r w a r d - l o o k i n g

s t a t e m e n t s .The forward-looking statements included in this

A n nual Report are made only as of the date of this A n nu a l

R e p o rt and we undert a ke no obligation to publ i c ly update

these forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent

e vents or circumstances.

General

Business Overview

The continuing operations of Hughes are comprised of

the following segments: Direct-To-Home Broadcast,

Satellite Services and Network Systems.The discontinued

operations of Hughes consist of its satellite systems manu-

facturing businesses, which in January 2000, Hughes agreed

to sell to The Boeing Company. Also included in discontin-

ued operations for 1997 is the Avicom in-flight entertain-

ment business,which was sold to Rockwell Collins, Inc. in

December 1997.These transactions are discussed more

fully below in “Liquidity and Capital Resources –

Acquisitions, Investments and Divestitures.”

Hughes’ financial information does not include the busi-

ness of Delco Electronics Corporation (“Delco”) or

Hughes’defense electronics business.These businesses

were divested as part of Hughes’ recapitalization in

December 1997, as more fully discussed in Note 1 to the

financial statements.

The Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment consists pri-

m a ri ly of the United States and Latin A m e rica DIRECTV

bu s i n e s s e s , which provide digital multi-channel enter t a i n-

m e n t .The DIRECTV U. S . o p e rations grew signifi c a n t ly dur-

ing 1999 with Hughes’ acquisition of the

2.3 million subscriber direct broadcast satellite medium-

p ower business of PRIMESTAR in A p ril 1999 and Hughes’

acquisition of United States Satellite Broadcasting (“USSB”),

a provider of premium subscription programming serv i c e s ,

in May 1999. DIRECTV intends to continue to operate the

m e d i u m - p ower PRIMESTAR bu s i n e s s , P R I M E S TAR By

D I R E C T V, through the end of 2000. D u ring such time, t h e

m e d i u m - p ower subscri b e rs will continue to be offered the

o p p o rtunity to transition to the high-power DIRECTV™

s e rv i c e.The USSB acquisition provided DIRECTV with 25

channels of video progra m m i n g , including premium net-

wo rks such as HBO, S h ow t i m e, Cinemax and The Mov i e

C h a n n e l , which are now being offered to DIRECTV’s sub-

s c ri b e rs .The results of operations for PRIMESTAR and

USSB have been included in Hughes’ financial info rm a t i o n

since their dates of acquisition. See Note 17 to the fi n a n c i a l
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statements and “Liquidity and Capital Resources -

A c q u i s i t i o n s ,I nvestments and Dive s t i t u r e s ,” b e l ow, for fur-

ther discussion of these tra n s a c t i o n s .

In addition,DIRECTV U.S. launched local broadcast net-

work services in the fourth quarter of 1999. Currently,

DIRECTV is providing major local broadcast networks to

23 U.S. markets and plans to increase these markets to at

least 25 in the first half of 2000. DIRECTV U.S. also

launched foreign language programming in seven U.S. cities

through its DIRECTV PARA TODOS™ service , which cur-

rently provides programming packages with up to 21

Spanish special interest channels combined with up to 77

English channels. DIRECTV expects to expand the

DIRECTV PARA TODOS service nationwide in the first

half of 2000 and to expand its programming in other lan-

guages.The launch of these services did not materially

affect revenues in 1999, but is expected to result in

increased revenues in 2000 and thereafter.

The Latin America DIRECTV businesses are comprised

of Galaxy Latin America, LLC (“GLA”), Hughes’ 78%

owned subsidiary that provides DIRECTV services to 27

countries in Latin America and the Caribbean Basin; SurFin

Ltd. (“SurFin”), a company 75% owned by Hughes that

provides financing of subscriber receiver equipment to cer-

tain GLA operating companies; Grupo Galaxy Mexicana,

S.R.L. de C.V. (“GGM”), the exclusive distributor of

DIRECTV in Mexico which was acquired in February 1999;

and Galaxy Brasil, Ltda. (“GLB”), the exclusive distributor of

DIRECTV in Brazil, which was acquired in July 1999.The

results of operations for SurFin,GGM, and GLB have been

included in Hughes’ financial information since their dates

of acquisition. See Note 17 to the financial statements and

“Liquidity and Capital Resources – Acquisitions,

Investments and Divestitures,” below, for further discussion

of these transactions.

Also included as part of the non-operating results of

the Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment is DIRECTV

Japan, a company 42.2% owned by Hughes that provides

DIRECTV services in Japan.On March 1, 2000, Hughes

announced that DIRECTV Japan’s operations would be dis-

continued and that its subscribers would migrate to

SkyPerfecTV!, a company in Japan providing direct-to-home

satellite broadcasting. In connection with this transaction,

Hughes will receive an ownership interest in SkyPerfecTV!.

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Acquisitions,

Investments and Divestitures,” below, for further discussion.

In June 1999, Hughes announced a new stra t e g i c

alliance with A m e rica Online, I n c. ( AOL) to develop and

m a rket digital entertainment and Internet services nation-

w i d e.This alliance is expected to accelerate subscri b e r

g r owth and reve nue per subscriber for DIRECTV,

D i r e c P C® and eve n t u a l ly the new broadband services to

be delivered via Spaceway™. As part of this alliance,

Hughes and AOL plan to introduce two new enhanced

TV- and Internet-based intera c t i ve services in 2000.T h e

fi rst is a combination television receiver that will allow

the consumer not only to receive DIRECTV’s extensive

p r o g ra m m i n g , but also to access “ AOL T V,” a new serv i c e

that will bring AO L’s extensive intera c t i ve and Intern e t

content to the consumer’s television.The second is a

high-speed Internet service called “ AOL Plus via

D i r e c P C ” that will be delivered using Hughes Netwo rk

S y s t e m s ’ DirecPC satellite netwo rk .A d d i t i o n a l ly, H u g h e s

and AOL also plan to jointly develop new services and

content for DIRECTV.

The Satellite Services segment consists of Pa n A m S a t ,

H u g h e s ’ 81% owned subsidiary. PanAmSat provides satel-

lite services to its customers pri m a ri ly through long-term

o p e rating lease contracts for the full or partial use of

satellite transponder capacity. In May 1997, Hughes and

PanAmSat Corp o ration merged their respective satellite

s e rvice operations into a new publ i c ly held company,

which retained the name PanAmSat Corp o ra t i o n . As a

result of this merg e r, Hughes obtained a 71.5% ow n e r-

ship interest in Pa n A m S a t . Since the date of the merg e r,

Hughes has included Pa n A m S a t ’s results of operations in

its financial info rm a t i o n . In May 1998, Hughes purchased

an additional 9.5% interest in Pa n A m S a t , i n c r e a s i n g

H u g h e s ’ ow n e rship to 81%. See Note 17 to the fi n a n c i a l

statements and the “Liquidity and Capital Resources –

A c q u i s i t i o n s , I nvestments and Dive s t i t u r e s ” s e c t i o n , b e l ow,

for further discussion of these tra n s a c t i o n s .



2 8 M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A L Y S I S

The Network Systems segment consists of Hughes

Network Systems (“HNS”), a manufacturer of DIRECTV

receiver equipment and provider of satellite and wireless

communications ground equipment and business commu-

nications services.In December 1999, HNS recorded a

pre-tax non-operating gain of approximately $39.4 million

resulting from the sale of securities of its 56.1% owned

subsidiary, Hughes Software Systems Private Limited

(“HSS”), in conjunction with HSS’ initial public offering in

India. In January 2000, Hughes announced the discontinua-

tion of its mobile cellular and narrowband local loop prod-

uct lines at HNS.As a result of this decision, HNS

recorded a fourth quarter 1999 pre-tax charge to continu-

ing operations of $272.1 million.The charge represents the

write-off of receivables and inventories, licenses, software

and equipment with no alternative use.

The Network Systems segment was also affected in

February 1999 by a notification received by Hughes from

the Department of Commerce that it intended to deny a

U.S. government export license that Hughes was required

to obtain in connection with its contract with Asia-Pacific

Mobile Te l e c o m munications Satellite Pte. L t d . (“APMT”) fo r

the provision of a satellite-based mobile telecommu n i c a t i o n s

system.As a result,APMT and Hughes terminated the con-

tract on April 9, 1999, resulting in a pre-tax charge to

Hughes’earnings of $92.0 million in the first quarter of

1999. Of the $92.0 million charge, $11.0 million was attrib-

utable to the Network Systems segment and the remain-

der to Hughes Space and Communications, which is

included in discontinued opera t i o n s .The charge represented

the write-off of receivables and inventory, with no alterna-

tive use, related to the contract.

Satellite Fleet

At December 31, 1999,Hughes had a fleet of 25 satel-

lites, five owned by DIRECTV and 20 owned and operated

by PanAmSat.The satellite fleet was expanded in the

fourth quarter of 1999 with the launch of DIRECTV-1R

and Galaxy-XI. DIRECTV-1R was placed into service at

DIRECTV’s 101 degree west longitude orbital slot and an

existing satellite, DBS-1, was moved to DIRECTV’s 110

degree west longitude orbital slot.The DIRECTV-1R satel-

lite adds additional capacity for DIRECTV U.S.’ basic pro-

gramming and local network channels.Galaxy-XI will

become an integral component of PanAmSat’s Galaxy

cable neighborhood and is expected to be operational in

the first half of 2000.

PanAmSat expects to add additional satellites as part of

its comprehensive satellite expansion and restoration plan

adopted in 1998.The additional satellites are intended to

meet the expected demand for additional satellite capacity,

replace capacity affected by satellite anomalies, and provide

added backup to existing capacity. In connection with this

plan, two satellites were successfully launched, Galaxy-XI in

1999 and Galaxy-XR in January 2000. In addition, five satel-

lites are now under construction for PanAmSat by Hughes

Space and Communications. PanAmSat expects to launch

four of these satellites in 2000 and one in 2001.

In the third quarter of 2000, DIRECTV U. S . expects to

launch DIRECTV 5, which will replace the DIRECTV 4

satellite located at 119 degrees west longitude. D I R E C T V

U. S . has also contracted with Hughes Space and

C o m munications to build DIRECTV 4S, a high-powe r e d

spot-beam satellite that will provide additional capacity

for new local channel service or other new serv i c e s

beginning in 2002.

On March 17, 1999, Hughes announced its intention to

make an initial investment of $1.4 billion in the Spaceway™

satellite system.The Spaceway system, when completed,

will provide high-speed, two-way communications of video,

voice and data directly to companies and individual con-

sumers. Hughes expects that this initial investment will

allow it to construct three high-power satellites to provide

broadband network services ‘‘on demand’’ for video-con-

ferencing,data transfer and other purposes in North

America by 2003. Hughes is currently assessing the possi-

bility of providing Spaceway services to most of the world

using high-orbit satellites as well as complementary ser-

vices from a low-orbit system.These subsequent phases

would require significant additional investment.

Hughes’ in-orbit satellites are subject to the risk of fail-

ing prematurely due to, among other things,mechanical
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f a i l u r e, collision with objects in space or an inability to

maintain proper orbit. Satellites are subject to the risk of

launch delay and failure, d e s t ruction and damage while

on the ground or during launch and failure to become

f u l ly operational once launched. D e l ays in the production

or launch of a satellite or the complete or partial loss of

a satellite, in-orbit or during launch, could have a materi a l

a d ve rse impact on the operation of Hughes’ bu s i n e s s e s .

With respect to both in-orbit and launch probl e m s , i n s u r-

ance carried by PanAmSat and Hughes does not com-

pensate for business interruption or loss of future

r e ve nues or customers . Hughes has, in the past, e x p e ri-

enced technical anomalies on some of its satellites.

S e rvice interruptions caused by these anomalies, d e p e n d-

ing on their seve ri t y, could result in claims by affe c t e d

c u s t o m e rs for termination of their transponder agree-

m e n t s , cancellation of other service contra c t s , or the loss

of other customers .

Results of Operations
1999 compared to 1998

O v e r a l l

R ev e n u e s. R e ve nues increased 59.8% to $5,560.3 mil-

lion in 1999 from $3,480.6 million in 1998.The Direct-To -

Home Broadcast segment was the pri m a ry contri butor to

the growth in reve nues resulting from record subscri b e r

g r owth in both the U. S . and Latin A m e rica DIRECTV bu s i-

nesses and from additional reve nues for the U. S .

DIRECTV businesses from the PRIMESTAR and USSB

a c q u i s i t i o n s . Also contri buting to the growth in reve nu e s

were increased sales of DIRECTV™ r e c e i ver equipment at

the Netwo rk Systems segment.

O p e rating Costs and Expenses. O p e rating costs and

expenses grew to $5,988.3 million in 1999 from $3,526.8

million in 1998. Broadcast programming and other costs

increased $863.7 million during 1999 due pri m a ri ly to the

added costs for the P R I M E S TAR By DIRECTV and premium

channel serv i c e s . Cost of products sold increased $348.0

million in 1999 from 1998 due to the increased sales of

DIRECTV receiver equipment discussed above and the

write-off of $91.5 million of inventory associated with the

discontinued wireless product lines at the Network

Systems segment.Selling, general and administrative

expenses increased by $987.0 million due primarily to

increased costs at the Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment

for subscriber acquisition costs and added costs for the

PRIMESTAR By DIRECTV business and a charge of $180.6

million at the Network Systems segment resulting from

the write-off of receivables, licenses and equipment associ-

ated with the discontinued wireless product lines.

Depreciation and amortization increased $262.8 million in

1999 over 1998 due primarily to added goodwill,intangi-

bles, and property, plant and equipment resulting from the

acquisitions discussed above, and additions to PanAmSat’s

satellite fleet.

E B I T DA . E a rnings Before Interest,Ta xe s , D e p r e c i a t i o n

and A m o rtization (“EBITDA ” ) . E B I T DA is defined as oper-

ating profit (loss), plus depreciation and amort i z a t i o n .

E B I T DA is not presented as an altern a t i ve measure of

o p e rating results or cash flow from opera t i o n s , as deter-

mined in accordance with genera l ly accepted accounting

p ri n c i p l e s . H owe ve r, Hughes believes EBITDA is a mean-

ingful measure of Hughes’ p e r fo rmance and that of its

business units. E B I T DA is a perfo rmance measurement

c o m m o n ly used by other commu n i c a t i o n s , e n t e rt a i n m e n t

and media service prov i d e rs and therefore can be used to

a n a ly ze and compare Hughes’ financial perfo rmance to

that of its competitors . E B I T DA is also a measurement

used for certain of Hughes’ debt covenants and is used by

rating agencies in determining credit ra t i n g s . E B I T DA does

not give effect to cash used for debt service requirements

and thus does not reflect funds av a i l a ble for investment in

the business of Hughes, dividends or other discretionary

u s e s . E B I T DA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by

total reve nu e s .

E B I T DA declined to $222.7 million in 1999 from

$341.7 million in 1998.The decline was attri bu t a ble to

c h a rges incurred at the Netwo rk Systems segment which

included the $272.1 million charge related to the discon-

t i nued wireless product lines and the $11.0 million wri t e -

off related to the termination of the APMT contra c t .
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These declines were offset by an increase in EBITDA of

$145.7 million at the Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment

and $65.5 million at the Satellite Services segment.

Operating Loss. Hughes’operating loss was $428.0 mil-

lion in 1999, compared to $46.2 million in 1998.The

increased operating loss resulted from the decrease in

EBITDA, discussed above, and higher depreciation and

amortization at the Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment

resulting primarily from goodwill from recent acquisitions.

Interest Income and Expense. Interest income declined

to $27.0 million in 1999 compared to $112.3 million in

1998.This change resulted from a decline in cash and cash

equivalents.Interest expense increased to $122.7 million in

1999 from $17.5 million in 1998.The increase in interest

expense resulted from an increase in debt and interest

associated with liabilities for above-market programming

contracts assumed in the acquisitions of PRIMESTAR and

USSB.The changes in cash and cash equivalents and debt

are discussed in more detail below under “Liquidity and

Capital Resources.”

Other, Net. Other, net declined to a net expense of

$136.3 million in 1999 from a net expense of $151.8 mil-

lion in 1998. Other, net for 1999 included losses from

equity method investments of $189.2 million of which

$134.9 million related to DIRECTV Japan,offset by the

gain of $39.4 million from the sale of securities in the HSS

initial public offering and other miscellaneous items.Other,

net for 1998 included losses from equity method invest-

ments of $128.3 million,of which $83.2 million related to

DIRECTV Japan, and a provision of $34.5 million for esti-

mated losses associated with the bankruptcy filings of two

Network Systems segment customers.These losses were

offset by the gains on the sale of property and investments

of about $15.0 million.

Income Taxes. Hughes recognized an income tax benefit

of $236.9 million in 1999 compared to $142.3 million in

1998.The higher tax benefit in 1999 resulted primarily

from higher losses from continuing operations.The income

tax benefit in 1998 included a favorable adjustment relating

to an agreement with the Internal Revenue Service

regarding the treatment of research and experi m e n t a t i o n

credits for the years 1983 through 1995.

Income (Loss) From Continuing Operations . Hughes

reported a loss from continuing operations in 1999 of

$391.1 million compared with 1998 income from continu-

ing operations of $63.5 million.

Discontinued Operations. Revenues for the satellite sys-

tems manufacturing businesses decreased to $2,240.7 mil-

lion for 1999 from revenues of $2,820.4 million for 1998.

Revenues, excluding intercompany transactions, were

$1,780.4 million for 1999 and $2,483.3 million for 1998.

The decrease in revenues was principally due to contract

revenue adjustments and delayed revenue recognition that

resulted from increased development costs and schedule

delays on several new product lines and decreased activity

associated with the contract with ICO Global

Communications (Operations) Ltd.

The satellite systems manu f a c t u ring bu s i n e s s e s

r e p o r ted an operating loss of $0.6 million for 1999 com-

pared to operating profit of $286.3 million for 1998.T h e

r e p o rted operating loss, excluding intercompany tra n s a c-

t i o n s , amounted to $10.4 million for 1999 compared to

o p e rating profit of $295.3 million for 1998.The 1999

o p e rating loss included a pre-tax charge of $125.0 mil-

lion that resulted from increased development costs and

schedule delays on seve ral new product lines, a one-time

pre-tax charge of $81.0 million resulting from the term i-

nation of the APMT contract and decreased activity

associated with a contract with ICO Global

C o m munications (Operations) Ltd.

Hughes had maintained a lawsuit against the U. S . g ov-

e rnment since September 1973 regarding the U. S . g ov-

e rn m e n t ’s infringement and use of a Hughes patent

c ove ring ‘‘ Velocity Control and Orientation of a Spin

S t a b i l i zed Body,’’ p ri n c i p a l ly satellites (the ‘‘ W i l l i a m s

p a t e n t ’’ ) . On A p ril 7, 1 9 9 8 , the U. S . C o u r t of Appeals fo r

the Federal Circuit reaffi rmed earlier decisions in the

Williams patent case, including an award of $114.0 million

in damages, plus interest. In March 1999, Hughes receive d

a payment from the U. S . g ove rnment as a final settlement

of the suit and as a result, r e c o g n i zed as income from dis-

c o n t i nued operations a pre-tax gain of $154.6 million.
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Accounting Changes. In 1998,Hughes adopted American

Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of

Position 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up

Activities. Statement of Position 98-5 requires that all start-

up costs previously capitalized be written off and recog-

nized as a cumulative effect of accounting change, net of

taxes, as of the beginning of the year of adoption. On a

prospective basis, these types of costs are required to be

expensed as incurred.The unfavorable cumulative effect of

this accounting change at January 1, 1998 was $9.2 million

after-tax.

Direct-To-Home Broadcast Segment

Revenues for the Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment

more than doubled to $3,785.0 million in 1999 from

$1,816.1 million in 1998. Operating losses grew to $292.1

million in 1999 from $228.1 million in 1998 while EBITDA

increased to $19.9 million in 1999 from negative $125.8

million in 1998.

United States. The DIRECTV U. S . businesses report e d

r e ve nues of $3,404.6 million in 1999, more than twice

the reported reve nues of $1,604.1 million in 1998.T h e

increase in reve nues resulted from an increase in sub-

s c ri b e rs for the high-power business and added rev-

e nues from P R I M E S TAR By DIRECTV and premium

channel serv i c e s . S u b s c ri b e rs for the high-powe r

DIRECTV business increased by 2.2 million subscri b e rs

(1.6 million excluding PRIMESTAR conve rsions and

incremental subscri b e rs from USSB) during 1999 to 6.7

million subscri b e rs at the end of 1999. I n c l u d i n g

P R I M E S TAR By DIRECTV s u b s c ri b e rs there were over 8

million subscri b e rs at the end of 1999. Ave rage monthly

r e ve nue per subscriber for the high-power bu s i n e s s

increased to $58 for 1999 from $46 for 1998. T h i s

increase resulted pri m a ri ly from the addition of the pre-

mium channel services in A p ril of 1999.

E B I T DA was $151.2 million in 1999 compared to neg-

a t i ve $17.9 million in 1998.The change in EBITDA

resulted from the increased reve nues that were part i a l ly

offset by increased subscriber acquisition costs and added

o p e rating costs from the P R I M E S TAR By DIRECTV a n d

premium channel services.The DIRECTV U.S. businesses

reported an operating loss of $97.9 million in 1999 com-

pared to $100.0 million in 1998.The decreased operating

loss resulted from increased EBITDA which was generally

offset by increased depreciation and amortization that

resulted from the PRIMESTAR and USSB acquisitions.

Latin America. Revenues for the Latin America

DIRECTV businesses increased 82.3% to $315.3 million in

1999 from $173.0 million in 1998.The increase in rev-

enues reflects an increase in subscribers and the consolida-

tion of the GGM,GLB and SurFin businesses. Subscribers

grew to 804,000 at the end of 1999 from 484,000 at the

end of 1998. Average monthly revenue per subscriber

decreased to $36 in 1999 from $41 in 1998.The decline

in average revenue per subscriber resulted from currency

devaluations in Brazil.

EBITDA was negative $105.6 million in 1999 compared

to negative $93.0 million in 1998.The change in EBITDA

resulted primarily from additional losses from the consoli-

dation of GGM and GLB.The Latin America DIRECTV

businesses incurred an operating loss of $168.4 million in

1999 compared to $113.2 million in 1998.The increased

operating loss resulted from the decline in EBITDA and

higher depreciation and amortization that resulted from

the GGM, GLB and SurFin transactions.

Satellite Services Segment

R e ve nues increased for the Satellite Services segment by

$43.3 million to $810.6 million in 1999 from $767.3 million

in 1998.This increase was pri m a ri ly due to increased opera t-

ing lease reve nu e s ,p a rt i a l ly offset by a decrease in sales and

sales-type lease reve nu e s .O p e rating lease reve nu e s ,w h i c h

reflect long-term satellite service agreements from which

PanAmSat deri ves reve nues over the duration of the con-

t ra c t , were 97% of total 1999 reve nues and increased by

6.9% to $787.5 million from $736.7 million in 1998.To t a l

sales and sales-type lease reve nues were $23.1 million fo r

1999 compared to $30.6 million for 1998.

EBITDA was $618.8 million compared to $553.3 million

in 1998.The increase was principally due to higher revenue

that resulted from the commencement of new service
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agreements on additional satellites placed into service in

1999 and lower leaseback expense resulting from the

exercise of certain early buy-out opportunities under sale-

leaseback agreements during 1999.Operating profit was

$338.3 million in 1999, an increase of $20.0 million over

1998.The increase resulted from the higher EBITDA in

1999 offset by increased depreciation expense resulting

from increased capital from additions to the satellite fleet.

Backlog for the Satellite Services segment, which con-

sists primarily of operating leases on satellite transponders,

was $4,856.3 million in 1999 compared to $4,461.9 million

in 1998.

Network Systems Segment

R e ve nues for the Netwo rk Systems segment increased

28.6% to $1,384.7 million in 1999 from $1,076.7 million in

1 9 9 8 .The higher reve nues resulted from greater ship-

ments of DIRECTV receiver equipment. Shipments of

DIRECTV receiver equipment totaled about 2.1 million

units in 1999 compared to about 0.7 million units in 1998.

The Netwo rk Systems segment reported negative

E B I T DA of $178.1 million in 1999 compared to EBITDA

of $52.6 million in 1998.The Netwo rk Systems segment

i n c u rred an operating loss of $227.3 million in 1999 com-

pared to operating profit of $10.9 million in 1998.T h e

decline in EBITDA and operating profit resulted from the

$272.1 million charge related to the discontinuation of the

wireless product lines, offset in part by the increased sales

of DIRECTV receiver equipment.

Backlog for the Netwo rk Systems segment, which con-

sists pri m a ri ly of private business netwo rks and satellite-

based mobile telephony equipment orders , was $996.0

million in 1999 compared to $1,333.4 million in 1998.

Eliminations and Other

The elimination of reve nues increased to $420.0 mil-

lion in 1999 from $179.5 million in 1998 due pri m a ri ly

to increased manu f a c t u ring subsidies received by the

N e t wo rk Systems segment from the DIRECTV bu s i-

nesses that resulted from the increased DIRECTV

r e c e i ver equipment shipments.

Operating losses for “eliminations and other”increased

to $246.9 million in 1999 from $147.3 million in 1998.The

increase was primarily due to increases in eliminations of

intercompany profit and corporate expenditures.The

increased intercompany profit elimination resulted from

the increased intercompany sales noted above and

increased corporate expenditures resulted primarily from

higher pension and other employee costs.

1998 compared to 1997

Overall

Revenues. Revenues in 1998 increased 22.6% to

$3,480.6 million compared with $2,838.3 million in 1997.

Each of Hughes’ business segments contributed to the

growth in revenue, which included continued strong sub-

scriber growth in the Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment,

the effect of the PanAmSat merger and increased operat-

ing lease revenues for video, data and Internet-related ser -

vices in the Satellite Services segment and increased sales

of DIRECTV receiver equipment in the Network Systems

segment.

Operating Costs and Expenses . O p e rating costs and

expenses increased to $3,526.8 million in 1998 from

$2,794.8 million in 1997. Broadcast programming and other

costs increased $299.1 million during 1998 due to

increased programming costs at the Direct-To - H o m e

Broadcast segment and the effects of a full year of costs

from Pa n A m S a t .The increase in costs of products sold of

$68.2 million during 1998 resulted pri m a ri ly from the costs

related to the increased shipments of DIRECTV receive r

e q u i p m e n t . S e l l i n g ,g e n e ral and administra t i ve expenses

increased $237.1 million in 1998 due pri m a ri ly to increased

m a rketing and subscriber acquisition costs in the Direct-To -

Home Broadcast segment and increased expenditures to

s u p p o rt the growth in the remaining business segments.

The increase in depreciation and amortization expense of

$127.6 million in 1998 resulted from increased goodwill

a m o rtization related to the PanAmSat transactions and

increased capital expenditures in the Direct-To - H o m e

Broadcast and Satellite Services segments.
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E B I T DA increased slightly during 1998 to $341.7 mil-

lion from $303.8 million in 1997.The increase in EBITDA

resulted from the full year effects of PanAmSat and

i m p r oved EBITDA at DIRECTV U. S .These EBITDA

i m p r ovements were offset by higher corp o rate expenses,

p ri m a ri ly related to pension and other employee costs,

and a decline in EBITDA in 1998 at the Netwo rk Systems

segment due pri n c i p a l ly to lower sales of wireless tele-

phone systems and private business netwo rks in the A s i a -

Pa c i fic region and provisions for estimated losses

associated with uncollectible amounts due from cer t a i n

wireless customers .

Operating Profit (Loss). Hughes incurred an operating

loss of $46.2 million in 1998 compared with operating

profit of $43.5 million in 1997.This decline resulted from

increased goodwill amortization, resulting primarily from

the PanAmSat transactions, which more than offset the

improvement in EBITDA.

Interest Income and Expense . Interest income increased

to $112.3 million in 1998 compared to $33.0 million in

1997, due primarily to higher cash balances resulting from

the recapitalization of Hughes.Interest expense decreased

$73.5 million to $17.5 million in 1998 ve rsus $91.0 million

in 1997 resulting from the repayment of debt, a rising from

the PanAmSat merg e r, at the end of 1997.

Other, net. Other, net for 1998 relates primarily to losses

from unconsolidated subsidiaries of $128.3 million, attribut-

able principally to equity investments, including American

Mobile Satellite Corporation and DIRECTV Japan, and a

provision for estimated losses associated with bankruptcy

filings by two customers of the Network Systems segment.

Other, net for 1997 includes a $489.7 million pre-tax gain

recognized in connection with the May 1997 PanAmSat

merger offset by losses from unconsolidated subsidiaries of

$72.2 million.

Income Taxes. Hughes recorded a tax benefit of $142.3

million in 1998 compared to a tax provision of $162.0 mil-

lion in 1997. Income taxes in 1998 benefited from the

favorable adjustment relating to a fourth quarter 1998

agreement with the Internal Revenue Service regarding the

treatment of research and experimentation costs for the

ye a rs 1983 through 1995 and also reflect the tax bene-

fit recorded for the losses incurred from continu i n g

o p e ra t i o n s .

Income (Loss) From Continuing Operations . Income from

continuing operations was $63.5 million in 1998 compared

with $236.9 million in 1997.

Discontinued Operations and Extraordinary Item. On

December 15, 1997, Hughes Avicom International,Inc. was

sold to Rockwell Collins, Inc., resulting in an after-tax gain

of $62.8 million. Hughes recorded an extraordinary after-

tax charge of $20.6 million in 1997 related to the refinanc-

ing of PanAmSat’s debt. For additional information see

Note 8 to the financial statements.

Also included in discontinued operations are the results

of the satellite systems manufacturing businesses. Revenues

for the satellite systems manufacturing businesses increased

13.2% in 1998 to $2,820.4 million from $2,491.9 million in

1997. Revenues, excluding intercompany sales, were

$2,483.3 million in 1998 compared to $2,290.0 million in

1997.The increase in revenues resulted primarily from

higher commercial satellite sales to customers such as

Thuraya Satellite Telecommunications Company, PanAmSat,

ICO Global Communications and Orion Asia Pacific

Corporation.Operating profit for the satellite systems

manufacturing businesses in 1998 was $286.3 million, an

increase of 52.9% over $187.2 million in 1997. Operating

profit, excluding intercompany transactions, was $295.3

million in 1998 compared to $241.9 million in 1997.The

increase was primarily due to the higher commercial satel-

lite sales noted above.

Accounting Changes. In 1998, Hughes adopted

A m e rican Institute of Cert i fied Public A c c o u n t a n t s

Statement of Position 98-5, R e p o rting on the Costs of

S t a rt-Up A c t i v i t i e s . Statement of Position 98-5 requires

that all star t-up costs previously capitalized be written off

and recognized as a cumu l a t i ve effect of accounting

c h a n g e, net of taxe s , as of the beginning of the year of

a d o p t i o n . On a prospective basis, these types of costs are

required to be expensed as incurr e d .The unfavo ra bl e

c u mu l a t i ve effect of this accounting change at Janu a ry 1,

1998 was $9.2 million after tax.
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Direct-To-Home Broadcast Segment

The Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment’s revenues

for 1998 increased 42.2% to $1,816.1 million from

$1,276.9 million in 1997. EBITDA for the segment

improved in 1998 to negative $125.8 million compared to

negative $168.5 million in 1997.The operating loss for the

segment declined to $228.1 million in 1998 from

$254.6 million in 1997.

United States. The DIRECTV U.S. business was the

biggest contributor to the segment’s revenue growth with

revenues of $1,604.1 million for 1998, a 45.4% increase

over prior year’s revenues of $1,103.3 million.The large

increase in revenues resulted primarily from an increase in

subscribers. Subscribers grew to about 4.5 million at the

end of 1998 compared to 3.3 million at the end of 1997.

Average monthly revenue per subscriber also increased

during 1998 to $46, compared to $44 for 1997.

DIRECTV U.S. reported negative EBITDA of

$17.9 million in 1998 compared to negative EBITDA of

$68.0 million in 1997.The full-year 1998 operating loss for

DIRECTV U.S. was $100.0 million compared with

$137.0 million in 1997.The improvement in EBITDA and

lower operating loss was principally due to increased sub-

scriber revenues which more than offset increased sales

and marketing expenditures.

Latin America. Revenues for the Latin America

DIRECTV businesses increased to $173.0 million in 1998

from $70.0 million in 1997.The increase in revenues

resulted from an increase in subscribers to 484,000 at the

end of 1998 from 300,000 at the end of 1997.

E B I T DA was negative $93.0 million in 1998 compared

to negative $96.5 million in 1997.The operating loss was

$113.2 million in 1998 compared with $111.8 million in

1 9 9 7 . The increased operating loss resulted from higher

sales and marketing expenditures and subscriber acquisi-

tion costs.

Satellite Services Segment

Revenues for the Satellite Services segment in 1998

increased 21.8% to $767.3 million from $629.9 million in

1997.The increase in revenues was due to the May 1997

PanAmSat merger and increased operating lease revenues

from the commencement of service agreements for full-

time video distribution, as well as short-term special events

and an increase in data and Internet-related service agree-

ments.The increase was partially offset by a decrease in

sales and sales-type lease revenues.

As a result of the increased revenues described above,

the Satellite Services segment’s EBITDA and operating

profit improved. EBITDA increased to $553.3 million in

1998 from $438.1 million in 1997.Operating profit

increased 8.7% to $318.3 million in 1998,compared with

the prior year’s operating profit of $292.9 million.

Operating profit margin in 1998 declined to 41.5% from

46.5% in the prior year principally due to goodwill amorti-

zation associated with the PanAmSat merger, a provision

for losses relating to the May 1998 failure of PanAmSat’s

Galaxy IV satellite and increased depreciation expense

resulting from increased capital expenditures by PanAmSat.

Backlog for the Satellite Services segment, which con-

sists pri m a ri ly of operating leases on satellite tra n s p o n-

d e rs , was $4,461.9 million in 1998 compared to $5,772.5

million in 1997.

Network Systems Segment

R e ve nues for the Netwo rk Systems segment in 1998

were $1,076.7 million compared with $1,011.3 million in

1 9 9 7 .The increase in reve nues resulted from the grow t h

in sales of DIRECTV receiver equipment and increased

sales of private business netwo rks and satellite-based

mobile telephony equipment offset by lower intern a-

tional sales of wireless telephony systems and pri v a t e

business netwo rk s , p ri m a ri ly in the A s i a - Pa c i fic region.

E B I T DA was $52.6 million in 1998, a decrease of

$53.5 mill ion from 1997. O p e rating profit in 1998

was $10.9 million compared with $74.1 million in

1997 and operating profit margin declined to 1.0%

from 7.3%. These decreases were pri m a ri ly due to a

$26.0 mill ion provision for estimated losses associ-

ated with the bankruptcy filing by a customer, p r ov i-

sion for uncollectible amounts due from cer t a i n

wireless customers and lower international sales of
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wireless telephony systems and private business networks,

primarily in the Asia-Pacific region.

Backlog for the Netwo rk Systems segment, which con-

sists pri m a ri ly of private business netwo rks and satellite-

based mobile telephony equipment orders , was $1,333.4

million in 1998 compared to $1,101.4 million in 1997.

Eliminations and Other

The elimination of reve nues increased $99.7 million in

1998 to $179.5 million due pri m a ri ly to increased intercom-

p a ny activity resulting from the PanAmSat merger and

increased manu f a c t u ring subsidies received by the Netwo rk

Systems segment from DIRECTV that resulted from the

increased shipments of DIRECTV receiver equipment.

Operating losses for “eliminations and other” increased

to $147.3 million in 1998 from $68.9 million in 1997.The

increase was primarily due to increases in eliminations of

intercompany profit and corporate expenditures.The

increased intercompany profit elimination resulted from

the increased intercompany sales noted above and

increased corporate expenditures resulted primarily from

higher pension and other employee costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were $238.2 million at

December 31, 1999 compared to $1,342.0 million at

December 31, 1 9 9 8 .The decrease in cash resulted pri m a ri ly

from increased investing activities, offset in part by

increased borr owings and the issuance of prefe rred stock.

Cash provided by operating activities was $379.5 million

in 1999, compared to $612.1 million in 1998 and $90.6 million

in 1997.The change in 1999 from 1998 resulted primarily

from increased cash requirements for working capital, off-

set by increased income from continuing operations

excluding non-cash adjustments such as depreciation and

amortization, the loss resulting from the discontinuation of

the wireless product lines and deferred taxes.The change

in 1998 from 1997 resulted primarily from increased

income from continuing operations excluding non-cash

adjustments and decreased working capital requirements.

Cash used by investing activities was $3,941.8 million in

1999,compared to $2,128.5 million in 1998 and $2,115.6

million in 1997.The increase in 1999 investing activities

reflects the acquisitions of PRIMESTAR and the related

Tempo Satellite assets,USSB, SurFin,GGM and GLB.The

1999 increase is also due to investments in DIRECTV

Japan convertible bonds, the early buy-out of satellite sale-

leasebacks at PanAmSat and an increase in expenditures

for property, compared to 1998.The increase in 1998

investing activities reflects the purchase of an additional

9.5% interest in PanAmSat, the early buy-out of satellite

sale-leasebacks at PanAmSat and an increase in expendi-

tures for satellites,compared to 1997, offset in part by

proceeds from insurance claims for the full or partial loss

of certain PanAmSat satellites.

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities was

$2,577.5 million in 1999, compared to $(63.6) million in

1998 and $5,014.0 million in 1997. 1999 financing activities

reflect increased borrowings and proceeds from the

issuance of preferred stock. 1998 financing activities include

the payment to General Motors for the Delco post-closing

price adjustment stemming from the Hughes Transactions,

offset in part by net long-term borrowings. 1997 financing

activities reflect the impact of the PanAmSat merger, the

Hughes Transactions and cash contributions from the

Parent Company.

Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations

was $(119.0) million in 1999,compared to $138.3 million

in 1998 and $(211.5) million in 1997.The decrease in

1999 was due to increased working capital requirements,

increased development costs, the termination of the APMT

contract and decreased activity associated with the ICO

contract.The increase in 1998 compared to 1997 was due

to a decrease in working capital requirements.

Liquidity Measurement. As a measure of liquidity, the cur-

rent ratio (ratio of current assets to current liabilities) at

December 31, 1999 and 1998 was 1.46 and 3.03, respec-

tively. Working capital decreased by $1,513.3 million t o

$1,215.9 million at December 31, 1999 from $2,729.2

million at December 31, 1 9 9 8 .The change in wo rk i n g
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capital resulted principally from the decrease in cash and

cash equivalents discussed above.

P r o p e rty and Satellites. P r o p e rt y, net of accumu l a t e d

d e p r e c i a t i o n , increased $540.0 million to $1,223.0 million in

1999 from $683.0 million in 1998.The increase in propert y

resulted pri m a ri ly from capital expenditures of about $506.4

m i l l i o n , additions resulting from acquisitions of about $281.6

m i l l i o n , offset by depreciation of $227.0 million.The increase

in capital expenditures of $262.5 million in 1999 over 1998

was pri m a ri ly due to an increase in subscriber leased

DIRECTV receiver equipment used in the conve rsion of

P R I M E S TAR subscri b e rs .S a t e l l i t e s , net of accumu l a t e d

d e p r e c i a t i o n , increased $709.8 million to $3,907.3 million in

1999 from the $3,197.5 million reported in 1998. C a p i t a l

e x p e n d i t u r e s , including expenditures related to satellites,

increased to $1,665.3 million in 1999 from $1,328.8 million

in 1998. 1999 capital expenditures include $789.4 million fo r

the construction of satellites and $369.5 million for the early

buy-out of satellite sale-leasebacks.

Common Stock Dividend Policy and Use of Cash. As dis-

cussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, since the

completion of the recapitalization of Hughes in late 1997,

the GM Board has not paid, and does not currently intend

to pay in the foreseeable future, cash dividends on its Class

H common stock. Similarly, since such time, Hughes has

not paid dividends on its common stock to GM and does

not currently intend to do so in the foreseeable future.

Future Hughes earnings, if any, are expected to be retained

for the development of the businesses of Hughes.Hughes

expects to have significant cash requirements in 2000 pri-

marily due to capital expenditures of approximately $1.5

to $2.0 billion for satellites and property. In addition,

Hughes expects to increase its investment in affiliated

companies, primarily related to its international DIRECTV

businesses.These cash requirements are expected to be

funded from a combination of cash provided from opera-

tions, cash to be received upon completion of the Boeing

transaction, amounts available under credit facilities and

debt and equity offerings, as needed.

Debt and Credit Fa c i l i t i e s. S h o rt - Te rm Borr ow i n g s . I n

October 1999, Hughes issued $500.0 million ($498.9

million net of unamortized discount) of floating rate notes

to a group of institutional investors in a private placement.

The notes bear interest at a variable rate which was 7.45%

at December 31, 1999.Interest is payable quarter ly and

the notes are due and payable on October 23, 2000.

Notes Payable. PanAmSat issued five-, seven-,ten- and

thirty-year notes totaling $750.0 million in January 1998.

The outstanding principal balances and interest rates for

the five-, seven-, ten- and thirty-year notes as of December

31, 1999 were $200 million at 6.0%, $275 million at

6.125%, $150 million at 6.375% and $125 million at

$6.875%, respectively. Principal on the notes is payable at

maturity, while interest is payable semi-annually.

In July 1999, in connection with the early buy-out of

satellite sale-leasebacks, PanAmSat assumed $124.1 million

of variable rate notes, all of which were outstanding at

December 31, 1999.The notes bear interest at various

rates.The weighted average interest rate on the notes was

6.75% at December 31, 1999.The notes mature on vari-

ous dates through January 2, 2002.

R e volving Credit Facilities. Hughes has three unsecured

r e volving credit facilities totaling $1.6 billion, consisting of a

$750.0 million mu l t i - year facility, a $350.0 million 364-day

f a c i l i t y, and a $500.0 million bridge facility.The mu l t i - ye a r

credit facility provides for a commitment of $750.0 million

through December 5, 2002 and borr owings bear interest

at various ra t e s , of which the weighted ave rage rate at

December 31, 1999 was 7.09%.The 364-day facility pro-

vides for a commitment of $350.0 million through

N ovember 22, 2 0 0 0 .These facilities also provide backup

capacity for Hughes’ commercial paper progra m .T h e

b ridge facility provides for a commitment of $500.0 mil-

lion through the earlier of November 22, 2 0 0 0 , or the

receipt of proceeds from the issuance of any debt securi-

ties of Hughes in a public offe ri n g . $500.0 million was out-

standing under the mu l t i - year facility at December 31,

1 9 9 9 . No amounts were outstanding under the commer-

cial paper progra m ,3 6 4 - d ay, or bridge facilities at

December 31, 1 9 9 9 .

PanAmSat maintains a $500.0 million mu l t i - ye a r

r e volving credit facility that provides for shor t - t e rm and
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l l o n g - t e rm borr owings and a $500.0 million commercial

paper program that provides for short - t e rm borr ow i n g s .

The mu l t i - year revolving credit facility provides for a

commitment through December 24, 2 0 0 2 . B o rr ow i n g s

under the credit facility and commercial paper progra m

are limited to $500.0 million in the aggregate. N o

amounts were outstanding under either the mu l t i - ye a r

r e volving credit facility or the commercial paper progra m

at December 31, 1 9 9 9 .

At December 31, 1 9 9 9 , H u g h e s ’ 75% owned subsidiary,

S u r F i n , had a total of $227.9 million outstanding under a

$400.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility expiri n g

in June 2002. B o rr owings under the credit facility bear

interest at various rates of interest.The weighted ave ra g e

interest rate on these borr owings was 6.84% at

December 31, 1 9 9 9 .

Other. At December 31, 1999, GLB had a total of

$24.3 million outstanding under variable rate notes bearing

interest at various rates.The weighted average interest rate

of the notes was 11.9% at December 31,1999. Principal is

payable in varying amounts at maturity in April and May

2002, and interest is payable monthly.

Other long-term debt totaling $16.2 million and

$28.9 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively,

consisted primarily of notes bearing fixed rates of interest

of 9.61% to 11.11%. Principal is payable at maturity in April

2007, while interest is payable semi-annually.

As part of a debt refinancing program undertaken by

PanAmSat in 1997,an extraordinary charge of $20.6 mil-

lion ($34.4 million before taxes) was recorded that

resulted from the excess of the price paid for the debt

over its carrying value, net of deferred financing costs.

Hughes has filed a shelf registration statement with the

Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to an

issuance of up to $2.0 billion of debt securities from time

to time. No amounts have been issued as of December

31, 1999.

Acquisitions, Investments and Divestitures . On March 1,

2000, Hughes announced that DIRECTV Japan’s operations

will be discontinued and that its subscribers would migrate

to SkyPerfecTV!.As a result of this transaction, Hughes will

acquire an approximate 6.8% interest in SkyPerfecTV!,

which is expected to complete an IPO during its fiscal year

ending March 31, 2001.Hughes will be required to fund a

substantial portion of the costs to be incurred over the

next six to nine months to exit the DIRECTV Japan busi-

ness.Hughes will accrue such exit costs during the first

quarter of fiscal 2000.The first quarter charge will be offset

by the fair value of the SkyPerfectTV! interest received;

however, the amounts are not yet estimable . In addition,

Hughes will continue to record its share of DIRECTV

Japan’s operating losses during 2000.

On January 13, 2000, Hughes announced that it had

reached an agreement to sell its satellite systems manufac-

turing businesses to Boeing for $3.75 billion in cash.The

final transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, is

expected to close in the second or third quarter of 2000

and result in an after-tax gain in excess of $1 billion.The

financial results for the satellite systems manufacturing busi-

nesses are treated as discontinued operations for all peri-

ods presented herein.

Also on January 13, 2000, Hughes announced the dis-

continuation of its mobile cellular and narrowband local

loop product lines at Hughes Network Systems.As a result

of this decision, Hughes recorded a fourth quarter 1999

pre-tax charge to continuing operations of $272.1 million.

The charge represents the write-off of receivables and

inventories, licenses, software and equipment with no alter-

native use.

In September and November of 1999, DIRECTV Japan

raised a total of approximately $281 million through the

issuance of bonds, convertible into common stock, to five

of its major shareholders, including $244.7 million issued to

Hughes.

On July 28, 1 9 9 9 , GLA acquired GLB, the exclusive dis-

t ri butor of DIRECTV in Bra z i l , from Te vecap S.A. fo r

a p p r ox i m a t e ly $114.0 million plus the assumption of debt.

In connection with the tra n s a c t i o n ,Te vecap also sold its

10% equity interest in GLA to Hughes and The Cisneros

Group of Companies, the remaining GLA part n e rs , w h i c h

increased Hughes’ ow n e rship interest in GLA to 77.8%.

As part of the tra n s a c t i o n , Hughes also increased its
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ownership interest in SurFin from 59.1% to 75.0%.The

total consideration paid in the transactions amounted to

approximately $101.1 million.

On May 20, 1999, Hughes acquired by merger all of the

outstanding capital stock of USSB, a provider of premium

subscription television programming via the digital broad-

casting system that it shares with DIRECTV.The total con-

sideration of about $1.6 billion paid in July 1999, consisted

of about $0.4 billion in cash and 22.6 million shares of

Class H common stock.

On April 28, 1999, Hughes completed the acquisition of

PRIMESTAR’s 2.3 million subscriber medium-power direct-

to-home satellite business.The purchase price consisted of

$1.1 billion in cash and 4.9 million shares of Class H com-

mon stock, for a total purchase price of $1.3 billion.As

part of the agreement to acquire PRIMESTAR,Hughes

agreed to purchase the high-power satellite assets and

related orbital frequencies of Tempo Satellite Inc., a wholly-

owned subsidiary of TCI Satellite Entertainment Inc.The

purchase price for the Tempo Satellite assets consisted of

$500 million in cash.Of this purchase price, $150 million

was paid on March 10, 1999 for a satellite that has not yet

been launched and the remaining $350 million was paid

on June 4,1999 for an in-orbit satellite and 11 related

satellite orbital frequencies.

In February 1999, Hughes acquired an additional own-

ership interest in GGM,a Latin America local operating

company which is the exclusive distributor of DIRECTV in

Mexico, from Grupo MVS, S.R.L.de C.V. Hughes’ equity

ownership represents 49.0% of the voting equity and all of

the non-voting equity of GGM. In October 1998, Hughes

acquired from Grupo MVS an additional 10.0% interest in

GLA, increasing Hughes’ ownership interest to 70.0%.

Hughes also acquired an additional 19.8% interest in

SurFin, a company providing financing of subscriber

receiver equipment for certain local operating companies

located in Latin America and Mexico, increasing Hughes’

ownership percentage from 39.3% to 59.1%.The aggregate

purchase price for these transactions was $197.0 million in

cash.

In May 1998, Hughes purchased an additional 9.5%

interest in PanAmSat for $851.4 million in cash, i n c r e a s i n g

its ow n e rship interest in PanAmSat to 81.0%. Pa n A m S a t

was ori g i n a l ly acquired in May 1997, when Hughes and

PanAmSat completed the merger of their respective satel-

lite service operations into a new publ i c ly-held company,

which retained the name PanAmSat Corp o ra t i o n . H u g h e s

c o n t ri buted its Galaxy satellite services business in

exchange for a 71.5% interest in the new company.

Existing PanAmSat stockholders received a 28.5% interest

in the new company and $1.5 billion in cash. Such cash

c o n s i d e ration and other funds required to consummate

the merger were funded by new debt financing totaling

$1,725.0 million borr owed from GM, which was subse-

q u e n t ly repaid in December 1997.The PanAmSat merg e r

was treated as a partial sale of the Galaxy business by

Hughes and resulted in a one-time pre-tax gain of $489.7

million ($318.3 million after- t a x ) .

The financial info rmation included herein reflect the

acquisitions discussed above from their respective dates

of acquisition.The acquisitions were accounted for by

the purchase method of accounting and, a c c o r d i n g ly, t h e

purchase price has been allocated to the assets

acquired and the liabilities assumed based on the esti-

mated fair values at the date of acquisition.The excess

of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of

the net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill,

resulting in goodwill additions of $3,612.4 million and

$702.9 million for the ye a rs ended December 31, 1 9 9 9

and 1998, r e s p e c t i ve ly.

The December 31,1999 financial statements for the

PRIMESTAR transaction reflect a preliminary allocation of

the purchase price for the transaction based upon infor-

mation currently available. Adjustments relating to the tan-

gible assets, including equipment located on customer

premises; intangible assets, including customer lists and

dealer network; and accrued liabilities for programming

contracts and leases with above-market rates are estimates

pending the completion of independent appraisals cur-

rently in process. A d d i t i o n a l ly, the adjustment to recog-

n i ze the benefit of net operating loss carry forwards of

USSB represents a preliminary estimate pending furt h e r
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review and analysis by Hughes management.The foregoing

appraisals, review and analysis are expected to be com-

pleted by March 31, 2000.Accordingly, the final purchase

price allocations may be different from the amounts

reflected herein.As a result of the acquisitions of GGM,

SurFin and GLB , foreign currency risk, as more fully

described in ‘‘Market Risk Disclosure,’’ has increased for

Hughes and may increase in the future.

On December 15, 1 9 9 7 , Hughes sold substantially all

of the assets and liabilities of the Hughes Avicom bu s i-

ness to Rockwell Collins, I n c. for cash, which resulted in

an after-tax gain of $62.8 million. Hughes Avicom is

treated as a discontinued operation for all periods pri o r

to its disposition.

Also, in December 1997, Hughes repurchased from

AT&T for $161.8 million,a 2.5% equity interest in

DIRECTV, ending AT&T’s marketing agreement to distrib -

ute the DIRECTV direct broadcast satellite television ser-

vice and DIRECTV receiver equipment.

New Accounting Standards.In September 1999, the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued

Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 99-10 (“EITF 99-10”),

Percentage Used to Determine the Amount of Equity

Method Losses.EITF 99-10 addresses the percentage of

ownership that should be used to compute equity method

losses when the investment has been reduced to zero and

the investor holds other securities of the investee. EITF 99-

10 requires that equity method losses should not be rec-

ognized solely on the percentage of common stock

owned; rather, an entitywide approach should be adopted.

Under such an approach,equity method losses must be

recognized based on the ownership level that includes

other equity securities (e.g.,preferred stock) and

loans/advances to the investee or based on the change in

the investor’s claim on the investee’s book value. Hughes

adopted EITF 99-10 during the third quarter of 1999

which resulted in Hughes recording a higher percentage of

DIRECTV Japan’s losses subsequent to the effective date

of September 23, 1999.The unfavorable impact of adopt-

ing EITF 99-10 was $39.0 million after-tax.

In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133,Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.SFAS No.

133 requires all derivatives to be recorded as either assets

or liabilities and the instruments to be measured at fair

value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values

of those derivatives are to be recognized immediately or

deferred depending on the use of the derivative and

whether or not it qualifies as a hedge. Hughes will adopt

SFAS No. 133, as amended, by January 1, 2001, as required.

Hughes does not expect that the adoption of SFAS No.

133, as amended, will have a material impact on Hughes’

results of operations and financial position.

Commitments and Contingencies

Hughes may be required to make a cash payment to, or

receive a cash payment from, Raytheon Company

(“Raytheon”) in connection with the merger of the

defense electronics business of Hughes with Raytheon in

1997.The amount of any such cash payment to or from

Raytheon, if any, is not determinable at this time.

There is a pending grand jury investigation into whether

Hughes should be accused of criminal violations of the

export control laws arising out of the participation of two

of its employees on a committee formed to review the

findings of Chinese engineers regarding the failure of a

Long March rocket in China in 1996. Hughes is also subject

to the authority of the State Department to impose sanc-

tions for non-criminal violations of the Arms Export

Control Act.The possible criminal and/or civil sanctions

could include fines as well as debarment from various

export privileges and participating in government con-

tracts. If Hughes were to enter into a settlement of this

matter prior to the closing of the Boeing transaction that

involves a debarment from sales to the U.S. government or

a material suspension of Hughes’export licenses or other

material limitation on projected business activities of the

satellite systems manufacturing businesses, Boeing would

not be obligated to complete the purchase of Hughes’

satellite systems manufacturing businesses. Hughes does

not expect the grand jury investigation or State
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Department review to result in a material adverse effect

upon its business. However, there can be no assurance as

to those conclusions.

Hughes has contracts with ICO Global Communi-

cations (Operations), Ltd.to build the satellites and related

components for ICO’s global wireless communications sys -

tem. ICO’s parent company recently filed for bankruptcy

protection under Chapter 11. If ICO’s parent company is

unable to confirm a plan of reorganization that provides

for full payment to Hughes under these contracts, ICO

may be unable to pay these amounts and the most likely

outcome would be a liquidation proceeding.In the event

that a liquidation becomes probable , Hughes would expect

to record a pre-tax charge to income of up to approxi-

mately $350 million, of which $100 million would be

attributable to continuing operations and $250 million

would be attributable to discontinued operations.A por-

tion of the purchase price to be paid by Boeing will be

placed in escrow under certain circumstances if prior to

completing this sale to Boeing, Hughes’contracts with ICO

are not assumed by ICO with bankruptcy court approval

or new similar contracts are not entered into with bank-

ruptcy court approval.

At December 31, 1999, minimum future commitments

under noncancelable operating leases having lease terms in

excess of one year are primarily for real property and

aggregated $250.8 million,payable as follows: $102.8 mil-

lion in 2000, $52.3 million in 2001, $24.2 million in 2002,

$17.8 million in 2003, $12.5 million in 2004 and $41.2 mil-

lion thereafter. Certain of these leases contain escalation

clauses and renewal or purchase options.Rental expenses

under operating leases, net of sublease rental income , were

$58.5 million in 1999, $82.7 million in 1998 and $89.1 mil-

lion in 1997.

Hughes is contingently liable under standby letters of

credit and bonds in the amount of $222.0 million at

December 31, 1 9 9 9 . In Hughes’ past experi e n c e, n o

m a t e rial claims have been made against these fi n a n c i a l

i n s t ru m e n t s . In addition, at December 31, 1 9 9 9 , H u g h e s

has guaranteed up to $209.1 million of bank debt,

including $105.0 million related to A m e rican Mobile

Satellite Corporation. Of the bank debt guaranteed,$105.0

million matures in March 2003;$55.4 million matures in

September 2007; the remaining $48.7 million is due in

variable amounts over the next five years.

In connection with the direct-to-home broadcast busi-

nesses,Hughes has commitments related to certain pro-

gramming agreements which are variable based upon the

number of under lying subscribers and market penetration

rates. Minimum payments over the terms of applicable

contracts are anticipated to be about $1,000.0 million to

$1,150.0 million.

As part of a marketing agreement entered into with

AOL on June 21,1999, Hughes committed to increase its

sales and marketing expenditures over the next three

years by about $1.5 billion relating to DirecPC/AOL Plus,

DIRECTV, DIRECTV/AOL TV and DirecDuo.

See Note 20 to the financial statements for fur t h e r

discussion of the above matters and various legal pro-

ceedings and claims that could be materi a l , i n d i v i d u a l ly or

in the aggregate, to Hughes’ c o n t i nuing operations or

financial position.

Year 2000

A comprehensive, c o m p a ny - w i d e,Year 2000 progra m

was initiated in 1996 to identify and remediate potential

Year 2000 probl e m s .The Year 2000 program was i m p l e-

mented in seven phases which included aw a r e n e s s ,

i nve n t o ry, a s s e s s m e n t , r e m e d i a t i o n , t e s t i n g , i m p l e m e n t a-

tion and contingency planning. Hughes incurred and

expensed approx i m a t e ly $10.0 million during 1999,

a p p r ox i m a t e ly $4.0 million during 1998 and approx i-

m a t e ly $1.0 million through 1997, related to the assess-

ment of, and ongoing effo r ts in connection with, its Ye a r

2000 progra m .

As of the date of this report, Hughes has experienced

no significant problems related to the Year 2000 conver-

sion either domestically or in foreign locations.After exten-

sive system verification and testing,all computerized

information and process control systems are operating

normally.The perfo rmance of critical customers and
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s u p p l i e rs continues without notable change. P r o d u c t i o n

and business activities are normal at all locations. H u g h e s

also has not received any material complaints regarding any

Year 2000 issues related to its products. H owe ve r, H u g h e s

cannot provide assurance that problems will not ari s e.

Hughes continues to monitor the status of its opera-

tions,suppliers and distribution channels to ensure no sig-

nificant business interruptions.

In addition to the above, the satellite systems manufac-

turing businesses incurred expenditures related to the Year

2000 conversion of about $11.0 million and

$5.0 million during 1999 and 1998, respectively. As of the

date of this report,the satellite systems manufacturing

businesses have experienced no significant problems

related to the Year 2000 conversions, however, Hughes

cannot provide assurance that problems will not arise.

Each Hughes operating company is funding its

r e s p e c t i ve Year 2000 effo r ts with current and future

o p e rating cash flow s .

Security Ratings

On Janu a ry 14, 2 0 0 0 , subsequent to the announced

sale of Hughes’ satellite systems manu f a c t u ring bu s i n e s s e s

to Boeing, Standard and Po o r ’s Rating Services (“S&P”)

and Moody’s Inve s t o rs Service (“Moody’s”) each affi rm e d

its respective debt ratings for Hughes. S&P maintained its 

BBB - minus credit ra t i n g , which indicates the issuer has

adequate capacity to pay interest and repay pri n c i p a l . S & P

maintained the short - t e rm corp o rate credit and com-

mercial paper ratings at A - 3 . S&P revised its outlook to

p o s i t i ve from negative.

Moody’s confirmed Hughes’ Baa2 long-term credit and

P-2 commercial paper ratings.While the outlook remains

negative, Moody’s ended its review for possible down-

grade.The Baa2 rating for senior debt indicates adequate

likelihood of interest and principal payment and principal

security.The P-2 commercial paper rating is the second

highest rating available and indicates that the issuer has a

strong ability for repayment relative to other issuers.

Debt ratings by the various rating agencies reflect each

agency’s opinion of the ability of issuers to repay debt

obligations as they come due . Lower ratings generally

result in higher borrowing costs.A security rating is not a

recommendation to buy, sell,or hold securities and may be

subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assign-

ing rating organization. Each rating should be evaluated

independently of any other rating.

Market Risk Disclosure

The fo l l owing discussion and the estimated amounts gen-

e rated from the sensitivity analyses refe rred to below

include forward-looking statements of market risk which

assume for analytical purposes that certain adve rse marke t

conditions may occur. Actual future market conditions may

d i f fer materi a l ly from such assumptions because the

amounts noted below are the result of analyses used for the

p u rpose of assessing possible risks and the mitigation

t h e r e o f .A c c o r d i n g ly, the forward-looking statements should

not be considered projections by Hughes of future eve n t s

or losses.

G e n e r a l

H u g h e s ’ cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctua-

tions resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange

ra t e s , interest rates and changes in the market value of its

equity inve s t m e n t s . Hughes manages its exposure to these

m a rket risks through intern a l ly established policies and

procedures and, when deemed appropri a t e, through the

use of deri v a t i ve financial instru m e n t s . H u g h e s ’ policy is to

not enter into speculative deri v a t i ve instruments for profi t

or execute deri v a t i ve instrument contracts for which

there are no underlying exposures. Hughes does not use

financial instruments for trading purposes and is not a

p a r ty to any leve raged deri v a t i ve s .

F o reign Currency Risk

Hughes genera l ly conducts its business in U. S . d o l l a rs

with a small amount of business conducted in a vari e t y

of foreign currencies and therefore is exposed to fluctu-

ations in foreign currency exchange ra t e s . H u g h e s ’
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o b j e c t i ve in managing the exposure to foreign curr e n c y

changes is to reduce earnings and cash flow vo l a t i l i t y

associated with foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

A c c o r d i n g ly, Hughes enters into foreign exchange-fo r-

ward contracts to mitigate risks associated with future

foreign currency fi rm commitments. Foreign exchange-

forward contracts are legal agreements between two

p a r ties to purchase and sell a foreign curr e n c y, for a

p rice specified at the contract date, with delive ry and

settlement in the future. At December 31, 1 9 9 9 , t h e

impact of a hypothetical 10% adve rse change in

exchange rates on the fair values of foreign exchange-

forward contracts and foreign currency denominated

assets and liabilities would not be signifi c a n t .

Investments

Hughes maintains investments in publicly traded com-

mon stock of unaffiliated companies and is therefore sub-

ject to equity price risk.These investments are classified as

available-for-sale and, consequently, are reflected in the bal-

ance sheets at fair value with unrealized gains or losses,net

of taxes,recorded as part of accumulated other compre-

hensive income (loss), a separate component of stock-

holder’s equity. At December 31, 1999, the fair values of

the investments in such common stock were $1,025.2 mil-

lion.The investments were valued at the market closing

prices at December 31,1999. No actions have been taken

by Hughes to hedge this market risk exposure . A 10%

decline in the market price of these investments would

cause the fair value of the investments in common stock

to decrease by $102.5 million as of December 31, 1999.

Interest Rate Risk

Hughes is subject to interest rate risk related to its

$2.1 billion of debt outstanding at December 31, 1 9 9 9 .A s

of December 31, 1 9 9 9 , debt consisted of Hughes’ $ 5 0 0 . 0

million floating rate line of credit and a $498.9 million

floating rate note, Pa n A m S a t ’s fi xe d - rate borr owings of

$750.0 million, and various other floating and fi xed ra t e

b o rr ow i n g s . Hughes is subject to fluctuating interest ra t e s

which may adve rs e ly impact its results of operations and

cash flows for its variable rate bank borrowings.

Fluctuations in interest rates may also adversely effect the

market value of Hughes’ fixed-rate borrowings.At

December 31, 1999, outstanding borrowings bore interest

at rates ranging from 6.00% to 11.11%.The potential fair

value loss resulting from a hypothetical 10% decrease in

interest rates related to Hughes’ outstanding debt would

be approximately $29.0 million as of December 31,1999.

Credit Risk

Hughes is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-

p e r fo rmance by the counterp a rties to its foreign exchange-

forward contra c t s .While Hughes believes this risk is

r e m o t e, credit risk is managed through the periodic moni-

t o ring and approval of fi n a n c i a l ly sound counterp a rt i e s .
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RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fo l l owing financial statements of Hughes Electronics Corp o ration (as more fully described in Note 1 to the fi n a n-

cial statements) were prepared by management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity.The statements

h ave been prepared in confo rmity with genera l ly accepted accounting principles and, as such, include amounts based on

judgments of management.

Management is further responsible for maintaining internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that the

books and records reflect the transactions of the company and that established policies and procedures are carefully fo l-

l owe d . Perhaps the most important feature in internal control is that it is continu a l ly reviewed for effe c t i veness and is

augmented by written policies and guidelines, the careful selection and training of qualified personnel and a strong pro-

g ram of internal audit.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent auditing fi rm , is engaged to audit the financial statements of Hughes Electronics

C o rp o ration and issue reports thereon.The audit is conducted in accordance with genera l ly accepted auditing standards

that comprehend the consideration of internal control and tests of transactions to the extent necessary to fo rm an inde-

pendent opinion on the financial statements prepared by management.The Independent A u d i t o rs' Report appears on

the next page.

The Board of Directors , through its Audit Committee, is responsible for assuring that management fulfills its responsi-

bilities in the preparation of the financial statements and engaging the independent auditors .The Audit Committee

reviews the scope of the audits and the accounting principles being applied in financial repor t i n g .The independent audi-

t o rs , r e p r e s e n t a t i ves of management, and the internal auditors meet regularly (separa t e ly and jointly) with the A u d i t

Committee to review the activities of each, to ensure that each is properly discharging its responsibilities and to assess

the effe c t i veness of internal control. It is management’s conclusion that internal control at December 31, 1999 prov i d e s

r e a s o n a ble assurance that the books and records reflect the transactions of the company and that established policies

and procedures are complied with.To ensure complete independence, Deloitte & Touche LLP has full and free access to

meet with the Audit Committee, without management representatives present, to discuss the results of the audit, t h e

adequacy of internal control, and the quality of financial repor t i n g .

Chairman of the Board and Senior Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Hughes Electronics Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheets of Hughes Electronics Corporation (as more fully described in

Note 1 to the financial statements) as of December 31,1999 and 1998 and the related Statements of Operations and

Available Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss),Statements of Changes in Stockholder’s Equity and Statements of

Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,1999.These financial statements are the

responsibility of Hughes Electronics Corporation’s management.Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-

cial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement.An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements.An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,

as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for

our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fair ly, in all material respects, the financial position of Hughes

Electronics Corporation at December 31, 1999 and 1998 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the accompanying financial statements, effective January 1, 1998,Hughes Electronics

Corporation changed its method of accounting for costs of start-up activities by adopting American Institute of Certified

Public Accountants Statement of Position 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up Activities.

Los Angeles,California
January 19,2000 
(March 1, 2000 as to Note 21)
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND AVAILABLE SEPARATE 
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (LOSS)

Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

R e ve nu e s
Direct broadcast, leasing and other serv i c e s $ 4 , 5 5 0 . 1 $ 2 , 6 4 0 . 2 $ 1 , 9 8 4 . 7

Product sales 1 , 0 1 0 . 2 8 4 0 . 4 8 5 3 . 6
Total Rev e nu e s 5 , 5 6 0 . 3 3 , 4 8 0 . 6 2 , 8 3 8 . 3

Operating Costs and Expenses
Broadcast programming and other costs 2 , 0 7 5 . 1 1 , 2 1 1 . 4 9 1 2 . 3
Cost of products sold 9 5 4 . 6 6 0 6 . 6 5 3 8 . 4
S e l l i n g , g e n e ral and administra t i ve expenses 2 , 3 0 7 . 9 1 , 3 2 0 . 9 1 , 0 8 3 . 8
Depreciation and amort i z a t i o n 6 4 7 . 4 3 8 4 . 6 2 5 7 . 0
A m o rtization of GM purchase accounting adjustments 3 . 3 3 . 3 3 . 3

Total Operating Costs and Expenses 5 , 9 8 8 . 3 3 , 5 2 6 . 8 2 , 7 9 4 . 8
Operating Profit (Loss) ( 4 2 8 . 0 ) ( 4 6 . 2 ) 4 3 . 5
Interest income 2 7 . 0 1 1 2 . 3 3 3 . 0
Interest expense ( 1 2 2 . 7 ) ( 1 7 . 5 ) ( 9 1 . 0 )
O t h e r, n e t ( 1 3 6 . 3 ) ( 1 5 1 . 8 ) 3 8 8 . 6
Income (Loss) From Continuing Operations Bef o re

Income T a xe s , Minority Inter e s t s ,E x t r a o rd i n a r y Item
and Cum u l a t i v e Effect of Accounting Change ( 6 6 0 . 0 ) ( 1 0 3 . 2 ) 3 7 4 . 1

Income tax provision (benefi t ) ( 2 3 6 . 9 ) ( 1 4 2 . 3 ) 1 6 2 . 0
M i n o rity interests in net losses of subsidiari e s 3 2 . 0 2 4 . 4 2 4 . 8
Income (Loss) from continuing operations before extra o r d i n a ry 

item and cumu l a t i ve effect of accounting change ( 3 9 1 . 1 ) 6 3 . 5 2 3 6 . 9
Income from discontinued opera t i o n s , net of taxe s 9 9 . 8 1 9 6 . 4 1 7 0 . 6
Gain on sale of discontinued opera t i o n s , net of taxe s - - 6 2 . 8
Income (Loss) before extra o r d i n a ry item and cumu l a t i ve 

e f fect of accounting change ( 2 9 1 . 3 ) 2 5 9 . 9 4 7 0 . 3
E x t ra o r d i n a ry item, net of taxe s - - ( 2 0 . 6 )
C u mu l a t i ve effect of accounting change, net of taxe s - ( 9 . 2 ) -
Net Income (Loss) ( 2 9 1 . 3 ) 2 5 0 . 7 4 4 9 . 7
Adjustments to exclude the effect of GM purchase 

accounting adjustments 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0
E a rnings (Loss) excluding the effect of GM purchase

accounting adjustments ( 2 7 0 . 3 ) 2 7 1 . 7 4 7 0 . 7
P r e fe rred stock dividends ( 5 0 . 9 ) - -
Earnings (Loss) Used for Computation of A v a i l a bl e

Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss) $ ( 3 2 1 . 2 ) $ 2 7 1 . 7 $ 4 7 0 . 7

Av a i l a b le Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss)
Ave rage number of shares of General Motors Class H

Common Stock outstanding (in millions) (Numera t o r ) 1 2 4 . 7 1 0 5 . 3 1 0 1 . 5
Ave rage Class H dividend base (in millions) (Denominator) 4 1 8 . 5 3 9 9 . 9 3 9 9 . 9
Av a i l a ble Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss) $ ( 9 5 . 7 ) $ 7 1 . 5 $ 1 1 9 . 4

Reference should be made to the Notes to Financial Statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

A S S E T S

C u rrent A s s e t s

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2 3 8 . 2 $ 1 , 3 4 2 . 0

Accounts and notes receivabl e, net of allowances of 

$92.9 and $23.9 9 6 0 . 9 7 6 4 . 6

C o n t racts in process 1 5 5 . 8 1 7 9 . 0

I nve n t o ri e s 2 3 6 . 1 2 8 6 . 6

Net assets of discontinued opera t i o n s 1 , 2 2 4 . 6 1 , 0 0 5 . 8

D e fe rred income taxe s 2 5 4 . 3 2 0 9 . 7

Prepaid expenses and other 7 8 8 . 1 2 8 7 . 5

Total Current A s s e t s 3 , 8 5 8 . 0 4 , 0 7 5 . 2

S a t e l l i t e s ,n e t 3 , 9 0 7 . 3 3 , 1 9 7 . 5

P r o p e rt y, n e t 1 , 2 2 3 . 0 6 8 3 . 0

Net Investment in Sales-type Leases 1 4 6 . 1 1 7 3 . 4

I n t a n g i ble A s s e t s , net 7 , 4 0 6 . 0 3 , 1 8 5 . 9

I nvestments and Other A s s e t s 2 , 0 5 6 . 6 1 , 3 0 2 . 4

Total A s s e t s $ 1 8 , 5 9 7 . 0 $ 1 2 , 6 1 7 . 4

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY

C u rrent Liabilities

Accounts paya bl e $ 1 , 0 6 2 . 2 $ 6 9 1 . 8

D e fe rred reve nu e s 1 3 0 . 5 4 3 . 8

S h o rt - t e rm borr owings and current portion of long-term debt 5 5 5 . 4 1 5 6 . 1

A c c rued liabilities and other 8 9 4 . 0 4 5 4 . 3

Total Current Liabilities 2 , 6 4 2 . 1 1 , 3 4 6 . 0

L o n g - Te rm Debt 1 , 5 8 6 . 0 7 7 8 . 7

Other Liabilities and Defe rred Credits 1 , 4 5 4 . 2 9 5 7 . 7

D e fe rred Income Ta xe s 6 8 9 . 1 6 4 1 . 1

Commitments and Contingencies

M i n o rity Interests 5 4 4 . 3 4 8 1 . 7

S t o c k h o l d e r ’s Equity

Capital stock and additional paid-in capital 9 , 8 0 9 . 5 8 , 1 4 6 . 1

P r e fe rred stock 1 , 4 8 7 . 5 -

Retained earnings (defi c i t ) ( 8 4 . 4 ) 2 5 7 . 8

Subtotal Stockholder’s Equity 1 1 , 2 1 2 . 6 8 , 4 0 3 . 9

A c c u mulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

M i n i mum pension liability adjustment ( 7 . 3 ) ( 6 . 8 )

A c c u mulated unrealized gains on securi t i e s 4 6 6 . 0 1 6 . 1

A c c u mulated foreign currency translation adjustments 1 0 . 0 ( 1 . 0 )

A c c u mulated other comprehensive income 4 6 8 . 7 8 . 3

Total Stockholder’s Equity 1 1 , 6 8 1 . 3 8 , 4 1 2 . 2

Total Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity $ 1 8 , 5 9 7 . 0 $ 1 2 , 6 1 7 . 4

Reference should be made to the Notes to Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY

C a pital Stock

P a re n t a n d A c c u mu l a t e d

C o m p a ny ’ s A dd i t i o n a l R e t a i n e d O t h e r To t a l

N e t Paid-In P re fe r re d Earnings C o m p re h e n s i v e S t o c k h o l d e r ’ s C o m p re h e n s i v e

(Dollars in Millions) I n ve s t m e n t C ap i t a l S t o c k ( D e f i c i t ) Income (Loss) E q u i t y I n c o m e

Balance at December 31, 1 9 9 6 $ 2 , 4 9 7 . 0 $ ( 5 . 4 ) $ 2 , 4 9 1 . 6

Net contri bution from Parent Company 1 , 1 2 4 . 2 1 , 1 2 4 . 2

Tra n s fer of capital from Parent Company ’s

net inve s t m e n t ( 4 , 0 6 3 . 8 ) $4 , 0 6 3 . 8 -

Capital contri bution resulting from the

Hughes Tra n s a c t i o n s 4 , 2 5 9 . 0 4 , 2 5 9 . 0

M i n i mum pension liability adjustment 

resulting from the Hughes Tra n s a c t i o n s ( 6 . 3 ) ( 6 . 3 )

U n r e a l i zed gains on securities resulting

from the Hughes Tra n s a c t i o n s 2 1 . 4 2 1 . 4

Net income 4 4 2 . 6 $ 7 . 1 4 4 9 . 7 $4 4 9 . 7

Foreign currency translation 

a d j u s t m e n t s 0 . 6 0 . 6 0 . 6

C o m p r e h e n s i ve income $4 5 0 . 3

Balance at December 31, 1 9 9 7 - 8 , 3 2 2 . 8 7 . 1 1 0 . 3 8 , 3 4 0 . 2

Net Income 2 5 0 . 7 2 5 0 . 7 $ 2 5 0 . 7

Delco post-closing price adjustment ( 1 9 9 . 7 ) ( 1 9 9 . 7 )

Tax benefit from exercise of GM Class H

common stock options 2 3 . 0 2 3 . 0

M i n i mum pension liability adjustment ( 0 . 5 ) ( 0 . 5 ) ( 0 . 5 )

Foreign currency translation adjustments 3 . 8 3 . 8 3 . 8

U n r e a l i zed gains on securi t i e s :

U n r e a l i zed holding gains 1 . 8 1 . 8 1 . 8

L e s s :r e c l a s s i fication adjustment fo r

gains included in net income ( 7 . 1 ) ( 7 . 1 ) ( 7 . 1 )

C o m p r e h e n s i ve income $2 4 8 . 7

Balance at December 31, 1 9 9 8 - 8 , 1 4 6 . 1 2 5 7 . 8 8 . 3 8 , 4 1 2 . 2

Net Loss ( 2 9 1 . 3 ) ( 2 9 1 . 3 ) $ ( 2 9 1 . 3 )

P r e fe rred stock $ 1 , 4 8 7 . 5 1 , 4 8 7 . 5

P r e fe rred stock dividends ( 5 0 . 9 ) ( 5 0 . 9 )

Shares reacquired ( 1 1 . 1 ) ( 1 1 . 1 )

Stock options exe r c i s e d 1 1 4 . 4 1 1 4 . 4

Shares issued in connection with acquisitions 1 , 5 0 6 . 7 1 , 5 0 6 . 7

Tax benefit from exercise of GM Class H

common stock options 5 3 . 4 5 3 . 4

M i n i mum pension liability adjustment ( 0 . 5 ) ( 0 . 5 ) ( 0 . 5 )

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1 1 . 0 1 1 . 0 1 1 . 0

U n r e a l i zed gains on securi t i e s 4 4 9 . 9 4 4 9 . 9 4 4 9 . 9

C o m p r e h e n s i ve income $1 6 9 . 1

Balance at December 31, 1 9 9 9 $ - $9 , 8 0 9 . 5 $ 1 , 4 8 7 . 5 $ (84.4) $4 6 8 . 7 $1 1 , 6 8 1 . 3

Reference should be made to the Notes to Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Cash Flows from Operating A c t i v i t i e s
Income (Loss) from continuing operations before extra o r d i n a ry

item and cumu l a t i ve effect of accounting change $ ( 3 9 1 . 1 ) $ 6 3 . 5 $ 2 3 6 . 9
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continu i n g

o p e rations before extra o r d i n a ry item and cumu l a t i ve effe c t
of accounting change to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amort i z a t i o n 6 5 0 . 7 3 8 7 . 9 2 6 0 . 3
Equity losses from unconsolidated affi l i a t e s 1 8 9 . 2 1 2 8 . 3 7 2 . 2
A m o rtization of gains on sale-leasebacks ( 1 0 . 8 ) ( 3 6 . 2 ) ( 4 2 . 9 )
Net gain on sale of investments and businesses sold ( 3 0 . 0 ) ( 1 3 . 7 ) ( 4 8 9 . 7 )
Gross profit on sales-type leases - - ( 3 3 . 6 )
Net loss on discontinuation of wireless product lines 2 7 2 . 1 - -
Net loss on disposal of assets 2 . 7 - -
D e fe rred income taxes and other 2 7 1 . 1 9 9 . 6 2 2 0 . 5
Change in other operating assets and liabilities

Accounts and notes receivabl e 3 5 . 0 ( 4 9 . 4 ) ( 2 4 6 . 2 )
C o n t racts in process 2 3 . 2 1 . 7 ( 1 9 . 5 )
I nve n t o ri e s ( 3 8 . 7 ) 1 2 . 9 ( 3 9 . 9 )
Prepaid expenses and other ( 4 9 4 . 0 ) ( 9 1 . 6 ) ( 1 3 8 . 0 )
Collections of principal on net investment in sales-type leases 2 2 . 2 4 0 . 6 2 2 . 0
Accounts paya bl e 1 0 1 . 4 2 2 4 . 0 ( 1 8 3 . 9 )
D e fe rred reve nu e s ( 5 0 . 3 ) ( 3 4 . 0 ) ( 2 1 . 2 )
A c c rued liabilities and other 5 9 . 6 ( 1 9 . 0 ) 2 0 7 . 3
O t h e r ( 2 3 2 . 8 ) ( 1 0 2 . 5 ) 2 8 6 . 3

Net Cash Provided by Operating A c t i v i t i e s 3 7 9 . 5 6 1 2 . 1 9 0 . 6
Cash Flows from Investing A c t i v i t i e s
I nvestment in companies, net of cash acquired ( 2 , 4 4 3 . 7 ) ( 1 , 2 3 1 . 0 ) ( 1 , 7 9 6 . 8 )
I nvestment in conve rt i ble bonds ( 2 4 4 . 7 ) - -
Expenditures for propert y ( 5 0 6 . 4 ) ( 2 4 3 . 9 ) ( 1 3 7 . 4 )
Increase in satellites ( 7 8 9 . 4 ) ( 9 2 9 . 4 ) ( 6 3 3 . 5 )
E a rly buy-out of satellites under sale and leaseback ( 2 4 5 . 4 ) ( 1 5 5 . 5 ) -
Proceeds from sale of discontinued opera t i o n s - - 1 5 5 . 0
Proceeds from disposal of propert y 1 5 . 8 2 0 . 0 5 5 . 1
Proceeds from sale of inve s t m e n t s - 1 2 . 4 2 4 2 . 0
Proceeds from insurance claims 2 7 2 . 0 3 9 8 . 9 -

Net Cash Used in Investing A c t i v i t i e s ( 3 , 9 4 1 . 8 ) ( 2 , 1 2 8 . 5 ) ( 2 , 1 1 5 . 6 )
Cash Flows from Financing A c t i v i t i e s
Net increase in notes and loans paya bl e 3 4 3 . 0 - -
L o n g - t e rm debt borr ow i n g s 8 , 1 6 5 . 6 1 , 1 6 5 . 2 2 , 3 8 3 . 3
R e p ayment of long-term debt ( 7 , 4 9 4 . 4 ) ( 1 , 0 2 4 . 1 ) ( 2 , 8 5 1 . 9 )
Net proceeds from issuance of prefe rred stock 1 , 4 8 5 . 0 - -
Stock options exe r c i s e d 1 1 4 . 4 - -
Purchase and retirement of GM Class H common stock ( 1 1 . 1 ) - -
P r e fe rred stock dividends paid to General Motors ( 2 5 . 0 ) - -
Premium paid to retire debt - - ( 3 4 . 4 )
C o n t ri butions from Parent Company - - 1 , 1 2 4 . 2
Payment to General Motors for Delco post-closing price adjustment - ( 2 0 4 . 7 ) -
Capital contri bution resulting from Hughes Tra n s a c t i o n s - - 4,392.8 

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing A c t i v i t i e s 2 , 5 7 7 . 5 ( 6 3 . 6 ) 5 , 0 1 4 . 0
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing opera t i o n s ( 9 8 4 . 8 ) ( 1 , 5 8 0 . 0 ) 2 , 9 8 9 . 0
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued opera t i o n s ( 1 1 9 . 0 ) 1 3 8 . 3 ( 2 1 1 . 5 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ( 1 , 1 0 3 . 8 ) ( 1 , 4 4 1 . 7 ) 2 , 7 7 7 . 5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ye a r 1 , 3 4 2 . 0 2 , 7 8 3 . 7 6 . 2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the ye a r $ 2 3 8 . 2 $ 1 , 3 4 2 . 0 $ 2 , 7 8 3. 7

Reference should be made to the Notes to Financial Statements.
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Note 1: Basis of Presentation and Description of
Business

On December 17, 1 9 9 7 , Hughes Electronics

C o rp o ration (“Hughes Electronics”) and General Motors

C o rp o ration (“GM”), the parent of Hughes Electronics,

completed a series of transactions (the “ H u g h e s

Transactions”) designed to address strategic challenges

facing the three principal businesses of Hughes

Electronics and unlock stockholder value in GM.T h e

Hughes Transactions included the tax-free spin-off of the

d e fense electronics business (“Hughes Defense”) to hold-

e rs of GM $1-2/3 par value and Class H common stocks,

the tra n s fer of Delco Electronics Corp o ration (“Delco”),

the automotive electronics bu s i n e s s , to GM’s Delphi

A u t o m o t i ve Systems unit and the recapitalization of GM

Class H common stock into a new tracking stock, G M

Class H common stock, that is linked to the remaining

t e l e c o m munications and space bu s i n e s s .The Hughes

Transactions were fo l l owed immediately by the merger of

Hughes Defense with Raytheon Company (“Ray t h e o n ” ) .

For the periods prior to the consummation of the

Hughes Transactions on December 17, 1 9 9 7 , H u g h e s

E l e c t r o n i c s , consisting of its defense electronics, a u t o m o-

t i ve electronics and telecommunications and space bu s i-

n e s s e s , is hereinafter refe rred to as fo rmer Hughes or

Parent Company.

In connection with the recapitalization of Hughes

Electronics on December 17, 1 9 9 7 , the telecommu n i c a-

tions and space business of fo rmer Hughes, c o n s i s t i n g

p ri n c i p a l ly of its direct-to-home broadcast, satellite ser-

v i c e s , satellite systems and netwo rk systems bu s i n e s s e s ,

was contri buted to the recapitalized Hughes Electronics.

Such telecommunications and space bu s i n e s s , b o t h

b e fore and after the recapitalization, is hereinafter

r e fe rred to as Hughes.The accompanying financial state-

ments and footnotes pertain only to Hughes and do not

include balances of fo rmer Hughes related to Hughes

D e fense or Delco.

Prior to the Hughes Transactions, the Hughes businesses

were effectively operated as divisions of former Hughes.

For the period prior to December 18, 1997, these finan-

cial statements include allocations of corporate expenses

from former Hughes, including research and development,

general management, human resources, financial,legal, tax,

quality, communications, marketing, international, employee

benefits and other miscellaneous services.These costs and

expenses have been charged to Hughes based either on

usage or using allocation methodologies primarily based

upon total revenues, certain tangible assets and payroll

expenses. Management believes the allocations were

made on a reasonable basis; however, they may not neces-

sarily reflect the financial position,results of operations or

cash flows of Hughes on a stand-alone basis in the future.

Also, prior to December 18, 1997,interest expense in the

Statements of Operations and Available Separate

Consolidated Net Income (Loss) included an allocated

share of total former Hughes’ interest expense.

R e ve nu e s , o p e rating costs and expenses, a n d

other non-operating results for discontinued opera-

tions are excluded from Hughes’ results from contin-

uing operations for all periods presented herein. T h e

financial results of these businesses are presented in

H u g h e s ’ Statements of Operations and Av a i l a bl e

S e p a rate Consolidated Net Income (Loss) in a single

line item entitled “income from discontinued opera-

t i o n s , net of taxe s ,” the related assets and liabilities

are presented in the balance sheets on a single line

item entitled “net assets of discontinued opera t i o n s ”

and the net cash flows as “net cash provided by

(used in) discontinued opera t i o n s .” See fur ther dis-

cussion in Note 17.

The accompanying financial statements include the

a p p l i c a ble por tion of intangible assets, including good-

w i l l , and related amortization resulting from purchase

accounting adjustments associated with GM’s purchase

of Hughes in 1985, with cer tain amounts allocated to

the satellite systems manu f a c t u ring bu s i n e s s e s .

Hughes is a leading provider of digital enter t a i n m e n t ,

i n fo rmation and communication services and satellite-

based private business netwo rk s . Hughes is the wo rl d ’s

leading digital multi-channel entertainment serv i c e
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p r ovider with its programming distri bution service know n

as DIRECTV®, which was introduced in the U. S . in 1994

and was the fi rst high-powe r e d , all digital, d i r e c t - t o - h o m e

(“DTH”) television distri bution service in North A m e ri c a .

DIRECTV began service in Latin A m e rica in 1996.

Hughes is also the owner and operator of the larg e s t

commercial satellite fleet in the wo rld through its 81%

owned subsidiary, Pa n A m S a t . Hughes is also a leading

p r ovider of satellite wireless communications ground

equipment and business communications serv i c e s . I t s

equipment and services are applied in, among other

t h i n g s , d a t a , video and audio tra n s m i s s i o n , c a ble and net-

wo rk television distri bu t i o n , p rivate business netwo rk s ,

digital cellular communications and DTH satellite broad-

cast distri bution of television progra m m i n g .

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

Principles of Combination and Consolidation

Prior to December 18,1997, the financial statements

present, on a combined basis, the financial position, results

of operations and cash flows of the telecommunications

and space business owned and operated by former

Hughes. Subsequent to the Hughes Transactions,the

accompanying financial statements are presented on a con-

solidated basis.The financial statements include the

accounts of Hughes and its domestic and foreign sub-

sidiaries that are more than 50% owned or controlled by

Hughes,with investments in associated companies in which

Hughes owns at least 20% of the voting securities or has

significant influence accounted for under the equity

method of accounting.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of the Financial

Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity

with generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect amounts reported therein. Due to the inherent

uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results

reported in future periods may be based upon amounts

which differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are generated from sales of DTH broadcast

subscriptions, and the sale of transponder capacity and

related services through outright sales, sales-type leases

and operating lease contracts, and sales of communications

equipment and services.

Sales are genera l ly recognized as products are shipped or

s e rvices are rendered. DTH subscription reve nues are recog-

n i zed when programming is viewed by subscri b e rs .

P r o g ramming payments received from subscri b e rs in advance

of viewing are recorded as defe rred reve nue until earn e d .

Satellite transponder lease contracts qualifying for capi-

tal lease treatment (typically based on the term of the

lease) are accounted for as sales-type leases, with revenues

recognized equal to the net present value of the future

minimum lease payments.Upon entering into a sales-type

lease, the cost basis of the transponder is charged to cost

of products sold.The portion of each periodic lease pay-

ment deemed to be attributable to interest income is rec-

ognized in each respective period. Contracts for sales of

transponders typically include telemetry, tracking and con-

trol (“TT&C”) service agreements. Revenues related to

TT&C service agreements are recognized as the services

are performed.

Transponder and other lease contracts that do not

qualify as sales-type leases are accounted for as oper-

ating leases. O p e rating lease reve nues are recognize d

on a straight-line basis over the respective lease term .

D i f ferences between operating lease pay m e n t s

r e c e i ved and reve nues recognized are defe rred and

included in accounts and notes receivable or inve s t-

ments and other assets.

A small percentage of reve nues are deri ved from

l o n g - t e rm contracts for the sale of large wireless com-

munications systems. Sales under long-term contra c t s

are recognized pri m a ri ly using the percentage-of-com-

pletion (cost-to-cost) method of accounting. U n d e r

this method, sales are recorded equivalent to costs
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i n c u rred plus a portion of the profit expected to be real-

i ze d , d e t e rmined based on the ratio of costs incurred to

estimated total costs at completion. P r o fits expected to

be realized on long-term contracts are based on esti-

mates of total sales value and costs at completion.T h e s e

estimates are reviewed and revised peri o d i c a l ly through-

out the lives of the contra c t s , and adjustments to profi t s

resulting from such revisions are recorded in the account-

ing period in which the revisions are made. E s t i m a t e d

losses on contracts are recorded in the period in which

they are identifi e d .

Hughes has from time to time entered into agree-

ments for the sale and leaseback of cer tain of its

satellite tra n s p o n d e rs . H owe ve r, as a result of early

buy-out transactions described in Note 4, no obl i g a-

tions under sale-leaseback agreements remain at

December 31, 1 9 9 9 . P rior to the completion of the

e a rly buy-out tra n s a c t i o n s , the leasebacks were classi-

fied as operating leases and, t h e r e fo r e, the capitalize d

cost and associated depreciation related to satellite

t ra n s p o n d e rs sold were not included in the accompa-

nying financial statements. Gains resulting from the

sale and leaseback transactions were defe rred and

a m o rt i zed over the leaseback peri o d . L e a s e b a c k

expense was recorded using the straight-line method

over the term of the lease, net of amor tization of the

d e fe rred gains. D i f ferences between operating lease-

back payments made and expense recognized we r e

d e fe rred and included in other liabilities and defe rr e d

c r e d i t s .

Cash Flows

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid inve s t m e n t s

purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Net cash from operating activities includes cash pay-

ments made for interest of $174.6 million, $53.2 million

and $156.8 million in 1999, 1998 and 1997, r e s p e c t i ve ly.

Net cash refunds received by Hughes for prior ye a r

income taxes amounted to $197.2 million and $59.9

million in 1999 and 1998, r e s p e c t i ve ly. Cash pay m e n t s

for income taxes amounted to $24.0 million in 1997.

C e r tain non-cash transactions occurred in connect i o n

with the consummation of the Hughes Transactions on

December 17, 1997,resulting in a contribution of a net lia-

bility of $133.8 million.

In 1997, in a separate non-cash tra n s a c t i o n , H u g h e s ’

s u b s i d i a ry, PanAmSat Corp o ration (“Pa n A m S a t ” ) ,c o n-

ve rted its outstanding prefe rred stock into debt amount-

ing to $438.5 million.

Contracts in Pro c e s s

C o n t racts in process are stated at costs incurred plus

estimated profi t , less amounts billed to customers and

advances and progress payments applied. E n g i n e e ri n g ,

t o o l i n g , m a nu f a c t u ri n g , and applicable overhead costs,

including administra t i ve, research and development and

selling expenses, are charged to costs and expenses when

i n c u rr e d . Amounts billed under retainage provisions of

c o n t racts are not signifi c a n t , and substantially all amounts

are collectible within one ye a r. Advances offset against

c o n t ract related receivables amounted to $114.5 million

and $112.0 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998,

r e s p e c t i ve ly.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market

principally using the average cost method.

Major Classes of Inventories

(Dollars in Millions) 1999 1998

P r o d u c t i ve material and supplies $ 5 9 . 1 $ 5 5 . 0
Wo rk in process 6 7 . 0 1 1 8 . 6
Finished goods 1 1 0 . 0 1 1 3 . 0
To t a l $ 2 3 6 . 1 $ 2 8 6 . 6

Property, Satellites and Depreciation

Property and satellites are carried at cost. Satellite costs

include construction costs,launch costs, launch insurance

and capitalized interest. Capitalized satellite costs represent

the costs of successful satellite launches.The proportionate

cost of a satellite , net of depreciation and insurance pro-

ceeds, is written off in the period a full or partial loss of

the satellite occurs. Depreciation is computed generally

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
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lives of the assets.Leasehold improvements are amortized

over the lesser of the life of the asset or term of the lease.

Intangible Assets

G o o d w i l l , which represents the excess of the cost ove r

the net tangible and identifi a ble intangible assets of acquired

bu s i n e s s e s , and intangible assets are amort i zed using the

s t raight-line method over periods not exceeding 40 ye a rs .

Software Development Costs

Other assets include certain software deve l o p m e n t

costs capitalized in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 8 6 ,

Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be

S o l d , L e a s e d , or Otherwise Marke t e d . C a p i t a l i zed soft-

ware development costs at December 31, 1999 and

1 9 9 8 , net of accumulated amortization of $98.7 million

and $70.6 million, r e s p e c t i ve ly, totaled $70.4 million and

$104.1 million.The software is amort i zed using the

greater of the units of reve nue method or the stra i g h t -

line method over its estimated useful life, not in excess of

fi ve ye a rs . Software program reviews are conducted to

ensure that capitalized software development costs are

p r o p e rly treated and costs associated with programs that

are not generating reve nues are appropri a t e ly written off.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Hughes peri o d i c a l ly evaluates the carrying value of

l o n g - l i ved assets to be held and used, including goodwill

and other intangible assets, when events and circum-

stances warrant such a review.The carrying value of a

l o n g - l i ved asset is considered impaired when the antici-

pated undiscounted cash flow from such asset is sepa-

ra t e ly identifi a ble and is less than its carrying value. In that

e ve n t , a loss is recognized based on the amount by which

the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long-live d

a s s e t . Fair value is determined pri m a ri ly using the antici-

pated cash flows discounted at a rate commensura t e

with the risk invo l ve d . Losses on long-lived assets to be

disposed of are determined in a similar manner, e x c e p t

that fair values are reduced for the cost of disposal.

Foreign Currency

S u b s t a n t i a l ly all of Hughes’ foreign operations have deter-

mined the local currency to be their functional curr e n c y.

A c c o r d i n g ly, these foreign entities translate assets and liabili-

ties from their local currencies to U. S .d o l l a rs using ye a r- e n d

exchange rates while income and expense accounts are

t ranslated at the ave rage rates in effect during the ye a r.T h e

resulting translation adjustment is recorded as part of accu-

mulated other comprehensive income (loss), a separa t e

component of stockholder’s equity. Gains and losses result-

ing from remeasurement into the functional currency of

t ransactions denominated in non-functional currencies are

r e c o g n i zed in earn i n g s . Net foreign currency tra n s a c t i o n

gains and losses included in operations were not materi a l

for all ye a rs presented.

Financial Instruments and Investments

Hughes maintains investments in equity securities of

unaffiliated companies.These investments are considered

available-for-sale and carried at current fair value with

unrealized gains or losses, net of taxes, reported as part of

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a sepa-

rate component of stockholder’s equity. Fair value is deter -

mined by market quotes, when available, or by

management estimate.

M a rket values of financial instru m e n t s , other than debt

and deri v a t i ve instru m e n t s , are based upon management

e s t i m a t e s . M a rket values of debt and deri v a t i ve instru m e n t s

are determined by quotes from financial institutions.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, a c c o u n t s

and notes receivabl e, i nvestments and other assets, a c c o u n t s

p aya bl e, amounts included in accrued liabilities and other

meeting the definition of a financial instrument and debt

a p p r oximated fair value at December 31, 1 9 9 9 .

Hughes’derivative contracts primarily consist of foreign

exchange-forward contracts. Hughes enters into these

contracts to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign

exchange rates. Foreign exchange-forward contracts are

accounted for as hedges to the extent they are designated

as,and are effective as, hedges of firm foreign currency

c o m m i t m e n t s . Gains and losses on foreign exchange-
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forward contracts designated as hedges of fi rm fo r e i g n

c u rrency commitments are recognized in income in the

same period as gains and losses on the underly i n g

t ransactions are recognize d .

Stock Compensation

Hughes issues stock options to employees with gra n t

p rices equal to the fair value of the underlying securi t y

at the date of gra n t . No compensation cost has been

r e c o g n i zed for options in accordance with the prov i s i o n s

of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 2 5 ,

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employe e s . See Note 12

for info rmation regarding the pro fo rma effect on earn-

ings of recognizing compensation cost based on the esti-

mated fair value of the stock options gra n t e d , a s

required by SFAS No. 1 2 3 , Accounting for Stock-

Based Compensation.

Compensation related to stock awards is recognize d

ra t a bly over the vesting period and, where required,

p e ri o d i c a l ly adjusted to reflect changes in the stock pri c e

of the underlying securi t y.

P roduct and Service Related Expenses

A d ve r tising and research and development costs are

expensed as incurr e d .A d ve rtising expenses we r e

$115.8 million in 1999, $130.0 million in 1998 and

$74.2 million in 1997. Expenditures for research and

d e velopment were $98.8 million in 1999, $92.6 million

in 1998 and $81.9 million in 1997.

Market Concentrations and Credit Risk

Hughes provides services and extends credit to a

number of wireless communications equipment cus-

t o m e rs and to a large number of DTH consumers .

Management monitors its exposure to credit losses and

maintains allowances for anticipated losses.

Accounting Change 

In 1998, Hughes adopted A m e rican Institute of

C e rt i fied Public Accountants Statement of Po s i t i o n

(“SOP”) 98-5, R e p o rting on the Costs of Star t - U p

Activities. SOP 98-5 requires that all start-up costs previ-

ously capitalized be written off and recognized as a cumu-

lative effect of accounting change , net of taxes, as of the

beginning of the year of adoption. On a prospective basis,

these types of costs are required to be expensed as

incurred.The unfavorable cumulative effect of this account-

ing change at January 1, 1998 was $9.2 million after-tax.

New Accounting Standards

In September 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (“FASB”) issued Emerging Issues Task Force Issue

99-10 (“EITF 99-10”), Percentage Used to Determine the

Amount of Equity Method Losses. EITF 99-10 addresses

the percentage of ownership that should be used to com-

pute equity method losses when the investment has been

reduced to zero and the investor holds other securities of

the investee. EITF 99-10 requires that equity method

losses should not be recognized solely on the percentage

of common stock owned; rather, an entity-wide approach

should be adopted. Under such an approach, equity

method losses must be recognized based on the owner-

ship level that includes other equity securities (e.g., pre-

ferred stock) and loans/advances to the investee or based

on the change in the investor’s claim on the investee’s

book value. Hughes adopted EITF 99-10 during the third

quarter of 1999 which resulted in Hughes recording a

higher percentage of DIRECTV Japan’s losses subsequent

to the effective date of September 23, 1999.The unfavor-

able impact of adopting EITF 99-10 was $39.0 million

after-tax.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1 3 3 ,

Accounting for Deri v a t i ve Instruments and Hedging

A c t i v i t i e s . S FAS No. 1 3 3 , as amended, requires all deri v a-

t i ves to be recorded as either assets or liabilities and the

i n s t ruments to be measured at fair value. Gains or losses

resulting from changes in the values of those deri v a t i ve s

are to be recognized immediately or defe rred depending

on the use of the deri v a t i ve and whether or not it quali-

fies as a hedge. Hughes will adopt SFAS No. 133 by

J a nu a ry 1, 2 0 0 1 , as required. Hughes does not expect
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that the adoption of SFAS No. 133 will have a materi a l

impact on Hughes’ results of operations or fi n a n c i a l

p o s i t i o n .

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior

year balances to conform to the 1999 presentation.

Note 3: Property and Satellites, Net

E s t i m a t e d

Useful Liv e s

(Dollars in Millions) ( ye a r s ) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Land and improvements 7 – 2 5 $ 5 1 . 4 $ 3 2 . 5
Buildings and leasehold

i m p r ove m e n t s 2 – 3 0 1 9 7 . 0 1 3 6 . 3
M a c h i n e ry and equipment 3 – 1 0 7 9 5 . 2 6 4 2 . 4
Equipment under 

o p e rating lease 6 3 3 3 . 1 -
F u rn i t u r e, fixtures and 

o f fice machines 3 – 1 3 9 2 . 3 6 7 . 7
C o n s t ruction in progress - 3 6 3 . 4 2 0 6 . 6
To t a l 1 , 8 3 2 . 4 1 , 0 8 5 . 5
Less accumulated depreciation 6 0 9 . 4 4 0 2 . 5
P r o p e rt y, n e t $ 1 , 2 2 3 . 0 $ 6 8 3 . 0

S a t e l l i t e s 1 2 – 1 6 $ 4 , 6 8 3 . 1 $ 3 , 7 8 3 . 2
Less accumulated depreciation 7 7 5 . 8 5 8 5 . 7
S a t e l l i t e s , n e t $ 3 , 9 0 7 . 3 $ 3 , 1 9 7 . 5

Hughes capitalized interest of $65.1 million, $55.3 mil-

lion and $64.5 million during 1999, 1998 and 1997, respec-

tively, as part of the cost of its satellites under

construction.

Note 4: Leasing Activities

Future minimum payments due from customers under

sales-type leases and related service agreements, and non-

cancelable satellite transponder operating leases as of

December 31, 1999 are as follows:

S a l e s - T ype Leases

M i n i mu m S e rv i c e

L e a s e A g re e m e n t

(Dollars in Millions) Pa y m e n t s Pa y m e n t s Operating Leases

2 0 0 0 $ 4 2 . 0 $ 5 . 3 $ 7 0 2 . 0
2 0 0 1 4 3 . 4 5 . 7 6 2 6 . 4
2 0 0 2 4 3 . 4 5 . 7 5 7 5 . 0
2 0 0 3 4 3 . 4 5 . 7 5 3 8 . 5
2 0 0 4 3 9 . 7 5 . 2 5 0 3 . 1
T h e r e a f t e r 3 7 . 1 5 . 2 1 , 9 1 1 . 3
To t a l $ 2 4 9 . 0 $ 3 2 . 8 $ 4 , 8 5 6 . 3

The components of the net investment in sales-type

leases are as follows:

(Dollars in Millions) 1999 1998

Total minimum lease pay m e n t s $ 2 4 9 . 0 $ 3 0 1 . 9
Less unearned interest income and 

a l l owance for doubtful accounts 8 1 . 1 1 0 6 . 0
Total net investment in sales-type leases 1 6 7 . 9 1 9 5 . 9
Less current port i o n 2 1 . 8 2 2 . 5
To t a l $ 1 4 6 . 1 $ 1 7 3 . 4

In 1996 and 1992, Hughes entered into sale-leaseback

agreements for certain satellite tra n s p o n d e rs with other

c o m p a n i e s , including General Motors A c c e p t a n c e

C o rp o ration (“GMAC ” ) , a subsidiary of GM. D e fe rred gains

from these sale-leaseback agreements are amort i zed ove r

the expected term of the leaseback peri o d . In 1998,

PanAmSat exercised certain early buy-out options and

repurchased a portion of the leased tra n s p o n d e rs for a

total payment of $155.5 million. In 1999, PanAmSat exe r-

cised early buy-out options for the remaining tra n s p o n d e rs

for $245.4 million in cash and $124.1 million of assumed

d e b t . As a result of the above tra n s a c t i o n s , no d e fe rr e d

amounts remain outstanding at December 31, 1 9 9 9 .
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Note 5: Intangible Assets

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, Hughes had $6,642.3

million and $3,184.6 million,respectively, of goodwill, net of

accumulated amortization. Goodwill is amortized over 10

to 40 years. Hughes also had, net of accumulated amorti-

zation, $763.7 million and $1.3 million of intangible assets

at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, which are

amortized over 2 to 40 years. Intangible assets consist

mainly of FCC licenses,customer lists and dealer networks.

Note 6: Investments

Hughes has various investments that are accounted for

under the equity method of accounting.Under the equity

method of accounting,the investment is recorded at cost

and adjusted for the appropriate share of the net earnings

or losses of the investee. Investee losses are recorded up

to the amount of the investment plus advances and loans

made to the investee, and financial guarantees made on

behalf of the investee. Aggregate investments in affiliated

companies,including advances and loans, accounted for

under the equity method at December 31,1999 and

1998, amounted to $317.4 million and $57.1 million,

respectively. Of these amounts, approximately $232.1 mil-

lion and $55.9 million at December 31,1999 and 1998,

respectively, represent the investment in DIRECTV Japan,

net of accumulated losses of $237.6 million and $102.7

million as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Hughes’ pre-tax share of losses of investees is disclosed in

Note 13, Other Income and Expenses.

Investments in marketable equity securities stated at

current fair value and classified as available-sale-for totaled

$1,025.2 million and $486.0 million at December 31,1999

and 1998,respectively. Accumulated unrealized holding

gains, net of taxes, recorded as part of accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss),a separate component of

stockholder’s equity, were $466.0 million and $16.1 million

as of December 31, 1999 and 1998,respectively.

Note 7: Accrued Liabilities and Other

(Dollars in Millions) 1999 1998

Payroll and other compensation $ 1 5 7 . 2 $ 9 3 . 5
C o n t ract-related prov i s i o n s 8 2 . 3 3 8 . 5
P r ovision for consumer fi n a n c e

and rebate progra m s 1 0 7 . 3 93.0 
P r o g ramming contract liabilities 8 2 . 6 -
O t h e r 4 6 4 . 6 2 2 9 . 3
To t a l $ 8 9 4 . 0 $ 4 5 4 . 3

Included in other liabilities and deferred credits are

long-term programming contract liabilities which totaled

$627.1 million at December 31, 1999.

Note 8: Short-Term Borrowings 
and Long-Term Debt

Short-Term Borrowings

In October 1999, Hughes issued $500.0 million

($498.9 million net of unamort i zed discount) of floating

rate notes in a private placement with a group of institu-

tional inve s t o rs .The notes bear interest at a vari a ble ra t e

which was 7.45% at December 31, 1 9 9 9 . Interest is

p aya ble quart e rly and the notes are due and paya ble on

October 23, 2 0 0 0 .

Long-Term Debt

I n t e r est Rates at
(Dollars in Millions) December 31, 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Notes paya bl e 6 . 0 0 % – 6 . 8 8 % $ 8 7 4 . 1 $7 5 0 . 0

R e volving credit facilities 6 . 7 7 % – 7 . 1 0 % 7 2 7 . 9 1 5 5 . 9

Other debt 9 . 6 1 % – 1 2 . 2 9 % 4 0 . 5 2 8 . 9

Total debt 1 , 6 4 2 . 5 9 3 4 . 8

Less current port i o n 5 6 . 5 1 5 6 . 1

Total long-term debt $ 1 , 5 8 6 . 0 $7 7 8 . 7

Notes payable. PanAmSat issued five, seven, ten and

thirty-year notes totaling $750.0 million in January 1998.

The outstanding principal balances and interest rates for
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the five, seven, ten and thirty-year notes as of

December 31, 1999 were $200 million,$275 million,

$150 million and $125 million,respectively. Principal on the

notes is payable at maturity, while interest is payable semi-

annually.

In July 1999, in connection with the early buy-out of

satellite sale-leasebacks, PanAmSat assumed $124.1 million

of variable rate notes, all of which were outstanding at

December 31, 1999.The notes mature on various dates

through January 2, 2002.

Revolving credit facilities. Hughes has three unsecured

revolving credit facilities totaling $1.6 billion, consisting of a

$750.0 million multi-year facility, a $350.0 million 364-day

facility, and a $500.0 million bridge facility.The multi-year

credit facility provides for a commitment of $750.0 million

through December 5, 2002.The 364-day facility provides

for a commitment of $350.0 million through November

22, 2000.These facilities also provide backup capacity for

Hughes’ commercial paper program.The bridge facility pro-

vides for a commitment of $500.0 million through the ear-

lier of November 22, 2000 or the receipt of proceeds

from the issuance of any debt securities of Hughes in a

public offering. $500.0 million was outstanding under the

multi-year facility at December 31, 1999. No amounts

were outstanding under the commercial paper program,

364-day, or bridge facilities at December 31, 1999.

Each of Hughes’ credit facilities contain covenants that

Hughes must comply with.The covenants require Hughes

to maintain a minimum level of consolidated net worth

and not to exceed certain specified ratios.At December

31, 1999, Hughes was in compliance with all such

covenants.

PanAmSat maintains a $500.0 million multi-year revolv -

ing credit facility that provides for short-term and long-

term borrowings and a $500.0 million commercial paper

program that provides for short-term borrowings.The

multi-year revolving credit facility provides for a commit-

ment through December 24, 2002. Borrowings under the

credit facility and commercial paper program are limited to

$500.0 million in the aggregate. No 

amounts were outstanding under either the multi-year

revolving credit facility or the commercial paper program

at December 31, 1999.

At December 31, 1999,Hughes’ 75% owned subsidiary,

SurFin Ltd. (“SurFin”), had a total of $227.9 million out-

standing under a $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit

facility expiring in June 2002.

Other. At December 31,1999, Galaxy Latin America,

LLC’s (“GLA”) 100% owned subsidiar y, Galaxy Brasil, Ltda.

(“GLB”), had a total of $24.3 million outstanding under

variable rate notes payable in varying amounts at maturity

in April and May 2002.

Other long-term debt at December 31,1999 and 1998

consisted primarily of notes that are payable at maturity in

April 2007.

As part of a debt refinancing program undertaken by

PanAmSat in 1997,an extraordinary charge of $20.6 mil-

lion ($34.4 million before taxes) was recorded that

resulted from the excess of the price paid for the debt

over its carrying value, net of deferred financing costs.

Hughes has filed a shelf registration statement with the

S e c u rities and Exchange Commission with respect to an

issuance of up to $2.0 billion of debt securities from time to

t i m e. No amounts have been issued as of December 31, 1 9 9 9 .

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the five

years subsequent to December 31, 1999 are $56.5 million

in 2000,$21.2 million in 2001, $798.8 million in 2002,

$200.0 million in 2003 and $566.0 million in 2005 and

thereafter.

Note 9: Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is based on reported

income from continuing operations before income taxes,

minority interests, extraordinary item and cumulative effect

of accounting change. Deferred income tax assets and lia-

bilities reflect the impact of temporary differences

between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized

for financial reporting purposes and such amounts recog-

nized for tax purposes, as measured by applying currently

enacted tax laws.
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The income tax provision (benefit) consisted of the following:

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Ta xes curr e n t ly paya ble (refundabl e ) :

U. S . fe d e ral $ ( 4 0 6 . 5 ) $ ( 2 0 1 . 9 ) $ ( 5 1 . 9 )

F o r e i g n 3 0 . 1 1 5 . 9 9 . 5

State and local ( 2 4 . 2 ) ( 3 6 . 5 ) 7 . 7

To t a l ( 4 0 0 . 6 ) ( 2 2 2 . 5 ) ( 3 4 . 7 )

D e fe rred tax liabilities (assets):

U. S . fe d e ra l 1 8 5 . 0 5 0 . 8 1 8 1 . 9

State and local ( 2 1 . 3 ) 2 9 . 4 1 4 . 8

To t a l 1 6 3 . 7 8 0 . 2 1 9 6 . 7

Total income tax provision (benefit) $ ( 2 3 6 . 9 ) $ ( 1 4 2 . 3 ) $ 1 6 2 . 0

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interests, extraordinary item and cumulative

effect of accounting change included the following components:

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

U. S . income (loss) $ ( 5 1 9 . 0 ) $ ( 1 0 . 2 ) $ 4 1 5 . 3

Foreign loss ( 1 4 1 . 0 ) ( 9 3 . 0 ) ( 4 1 . 2 )

To t a l $ ( 6 6 0 . 0 ) $ ( 1 0 3 . 2 ) $ 3 7 4 . 1

The combined income tax provision (benefit) was different than the amount computed using the U.S. federal statutory

income tax rate for the reasons set forth in the following table:

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Expected tax (refund) at U. S . fe d e ral statutory income tax ra t e $ ( 2 3 1 . 0 ) $ ( 3 6 . 1 ) $ 1 3 1 . 0

Research and experimentation tax benefits and resolution of tax contingencies ( 7 8 . 9 ) ( 1 7 2 . 9 ) ( 3 5 . 3 )

Foreign sales corp o ration tax benefi t ( 1 3 . 6 ) ( 1 5 . 6 ) ( 1 3 . 0 )

U. S . state and local income taxe s ( 2 9 . 5 ) ( 4 . 6 ) 1 4 . 6

Losses of equity method inve s t e e s 6 0 . 3 3 6 . 7 2 5 . 3

M i n o rity interests in losses of part n e rs h i p 1 9 . 0 1 9 . 3 1 7 . 5

N o n - d e d u c t i ble goodwill amort i z a t i o n 3 1 . 0 2 0 . 0 9 . 7

O t h e r 5 . 8 1 0 . 9 1 2 . 2

Total income tax provision (benefi t ) $ ( 2 3 6 . 9 ) $ ( 1 4 2 . 3 ) $ 1 6 2 . 0

Hughes and fo rmer Hughes (prior to December 18,

1 9 9 7 ) , and their domestic subsidiaries join with Genera l

M o t o rs in filing a consolidated U. S . fe d e ral income tax

r e t u rn . The portion of the consolidated income tax liabil-

ity or receivable recorded by Hughes is genera l ly equiva-

lent to the amount that would have been recorded on a

s e p a rate return basis.

P rior to December 18, 1 9 9 7 , income tax expense was

allocated to Hughes as if Hughes filed a separate income

tax return .
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No income tax provision has been made for the por-

tion of undistri buted earnings of foreign subsidiari e s

deemed perm a n e n t ly reinvested that amounted to

a p p r ox i m a t e ly $29.7 million and $18.5 million at

December 31, 1999 and 1998, r e s p e c t i ve ly. R e p a t ri a t i o n

of all accumulated earnings would have resulted in tax lia-

bilities of $10.4 million in 1999 and $6.4 million in 1998.

At December 31, 1 9 9 9 , Hughes has $84.0 million of

d e fe rred tax assets relating to foreign operating loss car-

ry forwards expiring in varying amounts between 2000

and 2004. A valuation allowance was provided for all fo r-

eign operating loss carry fo r w a r d s . At December 31, 1 9 9 9 ,

a Hughes subsidiary has $45.2 million of altern a t i ve mini-

mum tax credits generated in separate filing ye a rs , w h i c h

can be carried forward indefi n i t e ly. At December 31,

1 9 9 9 , H u g h e s ’ s u b s i d i a ries have $126.2 million of

d e fe rred tax assets relating to fe d e ral net operating loss

c a rry forwards which will expire in varying amounts

b e t ween 2009 and 2018. Hughes has $11.9 million of

d e fe rred tax assets relating to state net operating loss

c a rry forwards which will expire in varying amounts

between 2004 and 2018. Hughes also has $20 million of

research and experimentation credits which will expire in

2019.

Hughes has an agreement with Raytheon which governs

Hughes’ rights and obligations with respect to U.S. federal

and state income taxes for all periods prior to the merger

of Hughes Defense with Raytheon. Hughes is responsible

for any income taxes pertaining to those periods prior to

the merger, including any additional income taxes resulting

from U.S. federal and state tax audits. Hughes is entitled to

any U.S. federal and state income tax refunds relating to

those years.

The U.S. federal income tax returns of former Hughes

have been examined through 1994.All years prior to 1986

are closed.Issues relating to the years 1986 through 1994

are being contested through various stages of administra-

tive appeal.The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) is cur-

rently examining former Hughes’ U.S. federal tax returns

for years 1995 through 1997. Management believes that

adequate provision has been made for any adjustment

which might be assessed for open years.

Te m p o ra ry differences and carry forwards which gave rise to defe rred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were as fo l l ow s :

1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

D e fe r re d D e fe r re d D e fe r re d D e fe r re d
Ta x Ta x Ta x Ta x

(Dollars in Millions) A s s e t s L i a b i l i t i e s A s s e t s L i a b i l i t i e s

A c c ruals and advances $ 1 0 6 . 1 $ 1 4 3 . 6

Sales and leasebacks - 6 5 . 4

Customer deposits, rebates and commissions 4 4 . 1 $ 1 1 4 . 1 5 2 . 9

State taxe s 2 7 . 9 - 3 8 . 8

Gain on PanAmSat merg e r - 1 8 6 . 3 - $ 1 9 1 . 1

Satellite launch insurance costs - 1 3 6 . 8 - 1 0 3 . 1

Depreciation and amort i z a t i o n - 5 4 5 . 0 - 4 3 7 . 5

Net operating loss and tax credit carry fo r w a r d s 2 8 7 . 3 - 7 7 . 8 -

P r o g ramming contract liabilities 2 8 5 . 0 - - -

U n r e a l i zed gains on securi t i e s - 3 1 8 . 6 - 1 . 2

W rite-off related to wireless product lines 9 5 . 9 - - -

O t h e r 2 0 4 . 4 1 0 0 . 7 7 0 . 9 8 3 . 7

S u b t o t a l 1 , 0 5 0 . 7 1 , 4 0 1 . 5 4 4 9 . 4 8 1 6 . 6

Valuation allow a n c e ( 8 4 . 0 ) - ( 6 4 . 2 ) -

Total defe rred taxe s $ 9 6 6 . 7 $ 1 , 4 0 1 . 5 $ 3 8 5 . 2 $ 8 1 6 . 6
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Hughes reached an agreement with the IRS regarding a

claim for refund of U.S. federal income taxes related to the

treatment of research and experimentation costs for the

years 1983 through 1995. Hughes recorded a total of

$172.9 million of research and experimentation tax bene-

fits during 1998, a substantial portion of which related to

the above noted agreement with the IRS and covered

prior years.

Hughes has taxes receivable from GM at December 31,

1999 and 1998, respectively, of approximately $610.6 mil-

lion and $379.3 million of which $290.8 million and $45.1

million, respectively, are included in prepaid expenses and

other in the balance sheets.

Note 10: Retirement Programs and Other
Postretirement Benefits

Substantially all of Hughes’employees participate in

Hughes’contributory and non-contributory defined benefit

retirement plans.Benefits are based on years of service

and compensation earned during a specified period of

time before retirement.Additionally, an unfunded,nonquali-

fied pension plan covers certain employees. Hughes also

maintains a program for eligible retirees to participate in

health care and life insurance benefits generally until they

reach age 65. Qualified employees who elected to partici-

pate in the Hughes contributory defined benefit pension

plans may become eligible for these health care and life

insurance benefits if they retire from Hughes between the

ages of 55 and 65.

Prior to December 18,1997, the pension related assets

and liabilities and the postretirement benefit plans were

maintained by former Hughes for its non-automotive busi-

nesses and were not included in the Hughes balance sheet.

A portion of former Hughes’ net pension expense and

postretirement benefit cost was allocated to Hughes and is

included in the Statements of Operations and Available

Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss).For 1997, the

pension expense and post retirement benefit cost compo-

nents were not determined separately for the Hughes par-

ticipants.The 1997 information presented below is based

on pro rata allocations from former Hughes for each pen-

sion and postretirement benefit component.
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The components of the pension benefit obligation and the other postretirement benefit obligation, as well as the net

benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheets,are shown below:

O t h e r
Po s t re t i re m e n t

Pension Benefits B e n e f i t s

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

C h a n g e in Benefit Ob l i g a t i o n

Net benefit obligation at beginning of ye a r $ 3 4 1 . 8 $ 3 1 6 . 4 $ 2 4 . 7 $ 1 9 . 5

S e rvice cost 1 4 . 5 1 3 . 6 0 . 6 0 . 5

Interest cost 2 3 . 9 2 2 . 5 1 . 5 1 . 2

Plan part i c i p a n t s ’ c o n t ri bu t i o n s 3 . 0 3 . 0 - -

A c t u a rial (gain) loss ( 3 1 . 3 ) 1 7 . 1 ( 2 . 7 ) 5 . 1

B e n e fits paid ( 3 4 . 2 ) ( 3 0 . 8 ) ( 1 . 3 ) ( 1 . 6 )

Net benefit obligation at end of ye a r 317.7 3 4 1 . 8 2 2 . 8 2 4 . 7

C h a n g e in Plan A s s e t s

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of ye a r 3 4 6 . 6 3 3 7 . 0 - -

Actual return on plan assets 6 9 . 6 3 0 . 3 - -

E m p l oyer contri bu t i o n s 3 . 0 4 . 3 ( 1 . 3 ) ( 1 . 6 )

Plan part i c i p a n t s ’ c o n t ri bu t i o n s 3 . 0 3 . 0 - -

B e n e fits paid ( 3 4 . 2 ) ( 3 0 . 8 ) 1 . 3 1 . 6

Tra n s fe rs 2 . 1 2 . 8 - -

Fair value of plan assets at end of ye a r 3 9 0 . 1 3 4 6 . 6 - -

Funded status at end of ye a r 7 2 . 4 4 . 8 ( 2 2 . 8 ) ( 2 4 . 7 )

U n a m o rt i zed amount resulting from changes

in plan prov i s i o n s ( 0 . 4 ) 1 . 9 - -

U n a m o rt i zed net amount resulting from changes

in plan experience and actuarial assumptions ( 3 8 . 7 ) 2 6 . 7 ( 1 . 4 ) 0 . 7

Net amount recognized at end of ye a r $ 3 3 . 3 $ 3 3 . 4 $ ( 2 4 . 2 ) $ ( 2 4 . 0 )

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 4 3 . 0 $ 4 2 . 0

A c c rued benefit cost ( 2 4 . 6 ) ( 2 3 . 2 ) $ ( 2 4 . 2 ) $ ( 2 4 . 0 )

I n t a n g i ble asset 2 . 6 3 . 2 - -

D e fe rred tax assets 5 . 0 4 . 6 - -

A c c u mulated other comprehensive loss 7 . 3 6 . 8 - -

Net amount recognized at end of ye a r $ 3 3 . 3 $ 3 3 . 4 $ ( 2 4 . 2 ) $ ( 2 4 . 0 )

Included in the pension plan assets at December 31,1999 and 1998 are GM Class H common stock of $0.6 million

and $0.4 million, GM $1-2/3 common stock of $0.3 million and $1.3 million and GMAC bonds of $0.5 million and $0.6

million, respectively.
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O t h e r
Po s t re t i re m e n t

Pension Benefits B e n e f i t s

Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Discount ra t e 7 . 7 5 % 6 . 7 5 % 7 . 5 0 % 6 . 5 0 %

Expected return on plan assets 9 . 5 0 % 9 . 5 0 % N / A N / A

Rate of compensation increase 5 . 0 0 % 5 . 0 0 % N / A N / A

For measurement purposes, a 9.0% annual rate of increase per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed

for 2000.The rate was assumed to decrease gradually 0.5% per year to 6.0% in 2006.

O t h e r
Po s t re t i re m e n t

Pension Benefits B e n e f i t s

Components of net periodic benefit cost 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

(Dollars in Millions)

B e n e fits earned during the ye a r $ 1 4 . 5 $ 1 3 . 6 $ 1 1 . 4 $ 0 . 6 $ 0 . 5 $ 0 . 5

Interest accrued on benefits earned in prior ye a rs 2 3 . 9 2 2 . 5 2 2 . 4 1 . 5 1 . 2 1 . 2

Expected return on assets ( 2 8 . 5 ) ( 2 6 . 3 ) ( 2 4 . 7 ) - - -

A m o rtization components

Asset at date of adoption - ( 2 . 7 ) ( 3 . 0 ) - - -

Amount resulting from changes in plan

p r ov i s i o n s 0 . 4 0 . 4 0 . 4 - - -

Net amount resulting from changes in plan

e x p e rience and actuarial assumptions 4 . 7 2 . 7 2 . 0 - ( 0 . 1 ) ( 0 . 2 )

Net periodic benefit cost $ 1 5 . 0 $ 1 0 . 2 $ 8 . 5 $ 2 . 1 $ 1 . 6 $ 1 . 5

The projected benefit obligation and accumulated bene-

fit obligation for the pension plans with accumulated bene-

fit obligations in excess of plan assets were $52.9 million

and $42.4 million, respectively, as of December 31, 1999

and $49.8 million and $38.9 million, respectively, as of

December 31, 1998.The pension plans with accumulated

benefit obligations in excess of plan assets do not have any

underlying assets.

A one-percentage point change in assumed health care

cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1 - Pe rc e n t a ge 1 - Pe rc e n t a ge
(Dollars in Millions) Point Incr e a s e Point Decr e a s e

E f fect on total of service 
and interest cost 
c o m p o n e n t s $ 0 . 4 $ ( 0 . 3 )

E f fect on postretirement 
b e n e fit obl i g a t i o n 3 . 2 ( 2 . 8 )

Hughes maintains 401(k) plans for qualified employees.

A portion of employee contributions are matched by

Hughes and amounted to $12.5 million, $10.6 million and

$9.6 million in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Hughes has disclosed certain amounts associated 

with estimated future postretirement benefits other than

pensions and chara c t e ri zed such amounts as “ o t h e r

postretirement benefi t s .” Notwithstanding the recording

of such amounts and the use of these term s , H u g h e s

does not admit or otherwise acknowledge that such

amounts or existing postretirement benefit plans of

Hughes (other than pensions) represent legally enfo r c e-

a ble liabilities of Hughes.



The following represents changes in the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),net of taxes,

as of December 31:

1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Ta x Ta x
P re - t a x ( C re d i t ) N e t P re - t a x ( C re d i t ) N e t P re - t a x Ta x N e t

(Dollars in Millions) A m o u n t E x p e n s e A m o u n t A m o u n t E x p e n s e A m o u n t A m o u n t E x p e n s e A m o u n t

M i n i mum pension

liability adjustments $ ( 0 . 8 ) $ (0.3) $ ( 0 . 5 ) $ ( 0 . 8 ) $ ( 0 . 3 ) $ ( 0 . 5 ) - - -

Foreign curr e n c y

t ranslation 

a d j u s t m e n t s $ 1 1 . 0 - $ 1 1 . 0 $ 3 . 8 - $ 3 . 8 $ 0 . 6 - $ 0 . 6

U n r e a l i zed gains 

on securi t i e s $7 6 7 . 3 $3 1 7 . 4 $4 4 9 . 9 $ 3 . 0 $ 1 . 2 $ 1 . 8 - - -

R e c l a s s i fi c a t i o n

adjustment for gains

included in net income - - - $( 1 1 . 8 ) $ ( 4 . 7 ) $ ( 7 . 1 ) - - -

Note 12: Incentive Plans

Under the Hughes Electronics Corporation Incentive Plan (“the Plan”), as approved by the GM Board of Directors in

1999, shares, rights or options to acquire up to 77.6 million shares of GM Class H common stock on a cumulative basis

were available for grant through December 31, 1999.

The GM Executive Compensation Committee may grant options and other rights to acquire shares of GM Class H

common stock under the provisions of the Plan.The option price is equal to 100% of the fair market value of GM Class H

common stock on the date the options are granted.These nonqualified options generally vest over two to four years,

expire ten years from date of grant and are subject to earlier termination under certain conditions.

As part of the Hughes Transactions, the outstanding options of former Hughes employees who continued as Hughes

employees were converted on December 18, 1997 into options to purchase recapitalized GM Class H common stock.

Recognition of compensation expense was not required in connection with the conversion.
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Note 11: Stockholder’s Equity

In connection with the Hughes Transactions,Hughes was recapitalized on December 17, 1997 at which time 1,000

shares of $1.00 par value common stock,representing all of the authorized and outstanding common stock of Hughes,

were issued to GM. Prior to December 17, 1997, the equity of Hughes was comprised of Parent Company’s net invest-

ment in its telecommunications and space business.
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Changes in the status of outstanding options were as follows:

S h a r es Under W e i g h t e d - A ve r a ge
GM Class H Common Stock O p t i o n E xe r cise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 1 9 9 7 1 3 , 9 6 1 , 6 1 5 $ 2 9 . 0 8

G ra n t e d 4 , 1 8 0 , 5 2 5 5 1 . 0 2

E xe r c i s e d ( 1 , 5 0 6 , 2 4 1 ) 2 3 . 2 2

Te rm i n a t e d ( 9 3 7 , 1 7 9 ) 3 1 . 7 9

Outstanding at December 31, 1 9 9 8 1 5 , 6 9 8 , 7 2 0 $ 3 5 . 3 2

G ra n t e d 5 , 0 0 4 , 2 7 5 4 8 . 2 3

E xe r c i s e d ( 3 , 4 3 6 , 0 5 7 ) 2 9 . 8 4

Te rm i n a t e d ( 1 , 4 3 1 , 5 8 2 ) 4 0 . 4 6

Outstanding at December 31, 1 9 9 9 1 5 , 8 3 5 , 3 5 6 $ 3 9 . 8 4

The following table summarizes information about the Plan stock options outstanding at December 31,1999:

Options Outstanding Options Ex e rc i s a bl e

We i g h t e d -
Av e r a ge

R e m a i n i n g We i g h t e d - We i g h t e d -
R a n g e of N u m b e r C o n t r a c t u a l Av e r a ge N u m b e r Av e r a ge

E xe r cise Prices O u t s t a n d i n g L i f e (y e a r s ) E xe r cise Price E xe rc i s a bl e E xe r cise Price

$ 9.86 to $20.00 3 2 6 , 6 8 6 2 . 9 $ 1 5 . 0 6 3 2 6 , 6 8 6 $ 1 5 . 0 6

20.01 to 3 0 . 0 0 6 6 3 , 5 4 9 4 . 9 2 2 . 2 4 6 6 3 , 5 4 9 2 2 . 2 4

30.01 to 4 0 . 0 0 6 , 6 3 4 , 5 0 6 7 . 1 3 1 . 7 4 3 , 8 4 2 , 2 7 2 3 2 . 0 1

40.01 to 5 0 . 0 0 5 , 5 7 3 , 7 7 5 9 . 0 4 6 . 3 7 1 7 , 7 1 2 4 7 . 6 3

50.01 to 8 5 . 7 2 2 , 6 3 6 , 8 4 0 8 . 5 5 5 . 7 8 1 , 0 3 1 , 7 1 9 5 4 . 7 9

$ 9.86 to $85.72 1 5 , 8 3 5 , 3 5 6 7 . 8 $ 3 9 . 8 4 5 , 8 8 1 , 9 3 8 $ 3 3 . 5 9

At December 31, 1999, 43.1 million shares were avail-

able for grant under the Plan subject to GM Executive

Compensation Committee approval.

On May 5, 1997, PanAmSat adopted a stock option

incentive plan with terms similar to the Plan.As of

December 31, 1999, PanAmSat had 3,455,832 options

outstanding to purchase its common stock with exercise

prices ranging from $29.00 per share to $59.75 per share.

The options vest ratably over three to four years and have

a remaining life ranging from seven years to nine years.At

December 31, 1999, 439,420 options were exercisable at a

weighted average exercise price of $36.46.The PanAmSat

options have been considered in the following pro forma

analysis.

The following table presents pro forma information as if

Hughes recorded compensation cost using the fair value of

issued options on their grant date, as required by SFAS

No. 123,Accounting for Stock Based Compensation:

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Earnings (loss) used for computation 

of available separate consolidated 

net income (loss)

as reported $ (321.2) $ 271.7 $ 470.7

pro forma (384.9) 186.7 427.2

The pro forma amounts for compensation cost are not

indicative of the effects on operating results for future

periods.

For stock options granted prior to the Hughes

Tra n s a c t i o n s , the estimated compensation cost was based

upon an allocation from fo rmer Hughes which was

calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model fo r
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estimation of the fair value of its options.The following

table presents the estimated weighted-average fair value 

of options granted and the assumptions used for the 

1999, 1998 and 1997 calculations (for 1998 and 1997,

stock volatility was estimated based upon a three-year

average derived from a study of a Hughes determined

peer group):

1999 1998 1997

Estimated fair value per 

option gra n t e d $ 2 4 . 0 2 $ 2 2 . 7 8 $ 2 6 . 9 0

Ave rage exercise price 

per option gra n t e d 4 8 . 2 3 5 1 . 0 2 3 1 . 7 1

Expected stock vo l a t i l i t y 3 8 . 0 % 3 2 . 8 % 3 2 . 5 %

Risk-free interest ra t e 5 . 2 % 5 . 6 % 5 . 9 %

Expected option life (in ye a rs ) 7 . 0 6 . 2 7 . 0

Note 13: Other Income and Expenses

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

Equity losses from 

unconsolidated affi l i a t e s $ ( 1 8 9 . 2 ) $( 1 2 8 . 3 ) $ ( 7 2 . 2 )

Gain on PanAmSat merg e r - - 4 8 9 . 7

Gain from sale of common 

stock of an affi l i a t e 3 9 . 4 - -

O t h e r 1 3 . 5 ( 2 3 . 5 ) ( 2 8 . 9 )

Total other, n e t $( 1 3 6 . 3 ) $( 1 5 1 . 8 ) $ 3 8 8 . 6

Equity losses from unconsolidated affiliates at December

3 1 , 1999 are pri m a ri ly comprised of losses at DIRECTV

J a p a n , of which Hughes owns 42.2%, Hughes Ispat Limited,

of which Hughes owns 45%, Galaxy Entertainment de

Ve n e z u e l a , C. A . , of which Hughes owns 20% and A m e ri c a n

Mobile Satellite Corp o ration (“AMSC”). D u ring the third

q u a rter of 1999,AMSC issued new shares of its common

s t o c k , resulting in Hughes recording an increase in its inve s t-

ment in AMSC of $50.2 million with an offsetting adjust-

ment to other comprehensive income (loss), a separa t e

component of stockholder’s equity.The issuance of the new

shares diluted Hughes’ ow n e rship in AMSC to 14%. S i n c e

Hughes no longer exe rted significant influence ove r

A M S C ’s opera t i o n s , the accounting for the AMSC inve s t-

ment was conve rted from the equity method to the

cost basis of accounting.

Note 14: Related-Party Transactions

In the ordinary course of its operations, Hughes pro-

vides telecommunications services and sells electronic

components to, and purchases sub-components from,

related parties.

The following table summarizes significant related-party

transactions:

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

R e ve nu e s $ 4 6 . 5 $ 4 0 . 5 $ 2 5 . 0

Costs and expenses

P u r c h a s e s 3 5 . 2 2 9 . 0 3 8 . 4

Allocation of corp o rate 

e x p e n s e s - - 5 7 . 9

Allocated interest - - 3 1 . 6

Note 15: Available Separate Consolidated Net
Income (Loss)

Holders of GM Class H common stock have no direct

rights in the equity or assets of Hughes, but rather have

rights in the equity and assets of GM (which includes

100% of the stock of Hughes).

Amounts av a i l a ble for the payment of dividends on GM

Class H common stock are based on the Av a i l a ble Separa t e

Consolidated Net Income (Loss) (“ASCNI”) of Hughes.T h e

ASCNI of Hughes is determined quar t e rly and is equal to

the separate consolidated net income (loss) of Hughes,

excluding the effects of GM purchase accounting adjust-

ments arising from GM’s acquisition of Hughes and including

the effects of prefe rred dividends paid and/or paya ble to

GM (earnings (loss) used for computation of A S C N I ) , mu l t i-

plied by a fra c t i o n , the nu m e rator of which is equal to the

we i g h t e d - ave rage number of shares of GM Class H com-

mon stock outstanding during the period (124.7 million,

105.3 million and 101.5 million during 1999, 1998 and 1997,

r e s p e c t i ve ly) and the denominator of which is a nu m b e r

equal to the we i g h t e d - ave rage number of shares of GM

Class H common stock which, if issued and outstanding,

would represent 100% of the tracking stock interest in the
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earnings of Hughes (Average Class H dividend base).The

Average Class H dividend base was 418.5 million during

1999 and 399.9 million during 1998 and 1997. Upon con-

version of the GM Series H preference stock into GM

Class H common stock,both the numerator and the

denominator used in the computation of ASCNI will

increase by the number of shares of the GM Class H com-

mon stock issued (see further discussion in Note 16). In

addition,the denominator used in determining the ASCNI

of Hughes may be adjusted from time to time as deemed

appropriate by the GM Board of Directors (“GM Board”)

to reflect subdivisions or combinations of the GM Class H

common stock, certain transfers of capital to or from

Hughes, the contribution of shares of capital stock of GM

to or for the benefit of Hughes employees and the retire -

ment of GM Class H common stock purchased by

Hughes.The GM Board’s discretion to make such adjust-

ments is limited by criteria set forth in GM’s Restated

Certificate of Incorporation.

In connection with the PRIMESTAR and USSB tra n s a c-

tions (see fur ther discussion in Note 17), GM con-

t ri buted to Hughes an amount of cash sufficient to

e n a ble Hughes to purchase from GM, for fair value as

d e t e rmined by the GM Board, the number of shares of

GM Class H common stock delivered by Hughes. I n

accordance with the GM cer t i ficate of incorp o ra t i o n , t h e

Class H dividend base was increased to reflect that nu m-

ber of shares.The number of shares issued as part of the

P R I M E S TAR acquisition and the USSB merger have been

included in the calculation of both the nu m e rator and

denominator of the fraction described above since the

consummation dates of the tra n s a c t i o n s .

Effective January 1, 1999,shares of Class H common

stock delivered by GM in connection with the award of

such shares to and the exercise of stock options by

employees of Hughes increases the numerator and

denominator of the fraction referred to above. Prior to

January 1, 1999, the exercise of stock options did not

affect the GM Class H dividend base (denominator).From

time to time, in anticipation of exercises of stock options,

Hughes purchases Class H common stock on the open

market. Upon purchase, these shares are retired and there-

fore decrease the numerator and denominator of the frac-

tion referred to above.

Dividends may be paid on the GM Class H common

stock only when, as, and if declared by GM's Board of

Directors in its sole discretion.Dividends may be paid on

GM Class H common stock to the extent of the amount

initially determined to be available for the payment of divi-

dends on GM Class H common stock,plus the portion of

earnings of GM after the closing of the Hughes

Transactions attributed to GM Class H common stock.The

GM Board determined that the amount initially available

for the payment of dividends on shares of the recapitalized

GM Class H common stock was the cumulative amount

available for the payment of dividends on GM Class H

common stock immediately prior to the closing of the

Hughes Transactions, reduced by a pro rata portion of the

net reduction in GM’s total stockholder’s equity resulting

from the Hughes Transactions.As of December 31, 1999,

the amount available for the payment of dividends on GM

Class H common stock was $5.4 billion.The GM Board

does not currently intend to pay cash dividends on the

recapitalized GM Class H common stock.

Note 16: Hughes Series A Preferred Stock

On June 24, 1999, as part of a strategic alliance with

Hughes,America Online (“AOL”) invested $1.5 billion in

shares of GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible

Preference Stock (“GM Series H Preference Stock”).The

GM Series H preference stock will automatically convert

into GM Class H common stock in three years based

upon a variable conversion factor linked to the GM Class

H common stock price at the time of conversion, and

accrues quarterly dividends at a rate of 6.25% per year. It

may be converted earlier in certain limited circumstances.

GM immediately invested the $1.5 billion received from

AOL in shares of Hughes Series A Preferred Stock

designed to correspond to the financial terms of the GM

Series H preference stock. Dividends on the Hughes Series

A Preferred Stock are payable to GM quarterly at an
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annual rate of 6.25%.These preferred stock dividends

payable to GM will reduce Hughes’ earnings used for com-

putation of the ASCNI of Hughes, which will have an effect

equivalent to the payment of dividends on the Series H

preference stock as if those dividends were paid by

Hughes. Upon conversion of the GM Series H preference

stock into GM Class H common stock, Hughes will

redeem the Series A Preferred Stock through a cash pay-

ment to GM equal to the fair market value of the GM

Class H common stock issuable upon the conversion.

Simultaneous with GM’s receipt of the cash redemption

proceeds, GM will make a capital contribution to Hughes

of the same amount. In connection with this capital contri-

bution, the denominator of the fraction used in the com-

putation of the ASCNI of Hughes will be increased by the

corresponding number of shares of GM Class H common

stock issued.Accordingly, upon conversion of the GM

Series H preference stock into GM Class H common

stock, both the numerator and denominator used in the

computation of ASCNI will increase by the amount of the

GM Class H common stock issued.

Note 17: Acquisitions, Investments and
Divestitures

Acquisitions and Investments

In September and November of 1999, DIRECTV Japan,

H u g h e s ’ 42.2% owned affi l i a t e, raised a total of approx i-

m a t e ly $281 million through the issuance of bonds, c o n-

ve rt i ble into common stock, to fi ve of its major

s h a r e h o l d e rs , including $244.7 million issued to Hughes.

On July 28, 1 9 9 9 , GLA acquired GLB, the exclusive dis-

t ri butor of DIRECTV services in Bra z i l , from Te vecap S.A.

for approx i m a t e ly $114.0 million plus the assumption of

d e b t . In connection with the tra n s a c t i o n ,Te vecap also sold

its 10% equity interest in GLA to Hughes and T h e

Cisneros Group of Companies, the remaining GLA part-

n e rs , which increased Hughes’ ow n e rship interest in GLA

to 77.8%. As part of the tra n s a c t i o n , Hughes also

increased its ow n e rship interest in SurFin from 59.1% to

7 5 . 0 % .The total consideration paid in the tra n s a c t i o n s

amounted to approximately $101.1 million.

On May 20, 1999, Hughes acquired by merger all of the

outstanding capital stock of U.S. Satellite Broadcasting

Company (“USSB”), a provider of premium subscription

television programming via the digital broadcasting system

that it shares with DIRECTV.The total consideration of

approximately $1.6 billion paid in July 1999, consisted of

approximately $0.4 billion in cash and 22.6 million shares

of Class H common stock.

On April 28, 1999, Hughes completed the acquisition of

PRIMESTAR’s 2.3 million subscriber medium-power direct-

to-home satellite business.The purchase price consisted of

$1.1 billion in cash and 4.9 million shares of Class H com-

mon stock, for a total purchase price of $1.3 billion.As

part of the agreement to acquire PRIMESTAR,Hughes

agreed to purchase the high-power satellite assets and

related orbital frequencies of Tempo Satellite Inc., a wholly

owned subsidiary of TCI Satellite Entertainment Inc.The

purchase price for the Tempo Satellite assets consisted of

$500 million in cash.Of this purchase price, $150 million

was paid on March 10, 1999 for a satellite that has not yet

been launched and the remaining $350 million was paid

on June 4,1999 for an in-orbit satellite and 11 related

satellite orbital frequencies.

Hughes agreed, in connection with its acquisition of

PRIMESTAR, to exit the medium-power business prior to

May 1, 2001. Hughes formulated a detailed exit plan during

the second quarter of 1999 and immediately began to

migrate the medium-power customers to DIRECTV’s high-

power platform.Accordingly, Hughes accrued exit costs of

$150 million in determining the purchase price allocated

to the net assets acquired.The principal components of

such exit costs include penalties to terminate assumed

contracts and costs to remove medium-power equipment

from customer premises.The timing of subscriber migra-

tion and exit of the medium-power business is currently

estimated to occur by the end of 2000, but is subject to

change pending final management determination, which

could result in an adjustment to the amount of accrued

exit costs.The amount of accrued exit costs remaining at

December 31, 1999 was $123.9 million.
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In February 1999, Hughes acquired an additional own-

ership interest in Grupo Galaxy Mexicana, S.R.L. de C.V.

(“GGM”), a Latin America local operating company which

is the exclusive distributor of DIRECTV in Mexico, from

Grupo MVS,S.R.L. de C.V. Hughes’equity ownership rep-

resents 49.0% of the voting equity and all of the non-vot-

ing equity of GGM.In October 1998, Hughes acquired

from Grupo MVS an additional 10.0% interest in GLA,

increasing Hughes’ ownership interest to 70.0%. Hughes

also acquired an additional 19.8% interest in SurFin,a com-

pany providing financing of subscriber receiver equipment

for certain local operating companies located in Latin

America and Mexico, increasing Hughes’ ownership per-

centage from 39.3% to 59.1%.The aggregate purchase

price for these transactions was $197.0 million in cash.

In May 1998, Hughes purchased an additional 9.5%

interest in PanAmSat for $851.4 million in cash,increasing

its ownership interest in PanAmSat to 81.0%. PanAmSat

was originally acquired in May 1997, when Hughes and

PanAmSat completed the merger of their respective satel-

lite service operations into a new publicly-held company,

which retained the name PanAmSat Corporation. Hughes

contributed its Galaxy satellite services business in

exchange for a 71.5% interest in the new company. Existing

PanAmSat stockholders received a 28.5% interest in the

new company and $1.5 billion in cash.Such cash consider-

ation and other funds required to consummate the merger

were funded by new debt financing totaling $1,725.0 mil-

lion borrowed from GM, which was subsequently repaid in

December 1997.The PanAmSat merger was treated as a

partial sale of the Galaxy business by Hughes and resulted

in a one-time pre-tax gain of $489.7 million ($318.3 mil-

lion after-tax).

The financial info rmation included herein reflects the

acquisitions discussed above from their respective dates

of acquisition.The acquisitions were accounted for by

the purchase method of accounting and, a c c o r d i n g ly, t h e

purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired

and the liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair

values at the date of acquisition.The excess of the pur-

chase price over the estimated fair values of the net

assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill, resulting in

goodwill additions of $3,612.4 million and $702.9 million

for the ye a rs ended December 31, 1999 and 1998,

r e s p e c t i ve ly.

The December 31,1999 financial statements reflect a

preliminary allocation of the purchase price for the

PRIMESTAR transaction based upon information currently

available. Adjustments relating to the tangible assets, includ-

ing equipment located on customer premises;intangible

assets, including customer lists and dealer network; and

accrued liabilities for programming contracts and leases

with above-market rates are estimates pending the com-

pletion of independent appraisals currently in process.

Additionally, the adjustment to recognize the benefit of net

operating loss car ryforwards of USSB represents a prelimi-

nary estimate pending further review and analysis by

Hughes management.The foregoing appraisals, review and

analysis are expected to be completed by March 31, 2000.

Accordingly, the final purchase price allocations may be dif-

ferent from the amounts reflected herein.
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The following selected unaudited pro forma information

is being provided to present a summary of the combined

results of Hughes and USSB and PRIMESTAR for 1999 

and 1998 as if the acquisitions had occurred as of the

beginning of the respective periods, giving effect to pur-

chase accounting adjustments.The pro forma data presents

only significant transactions,is presented for informational

purposes only and may not necessarily reflect the results

of operations of Hughes had these companies operated as

part of Hughes for each of the periods presented, nor are

they necessarily indicative of the results of future opera-

tions.The pro forma information excludes the effect of

non-recurring charges.

(Dollars in Millions)                                     1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

Total Reve nu e s $ 6 , 3 5 0 . 3 $ 5 , 3 1 8 . 6
Income (loss) befo r e

e x t ra o r d i n a ry item and
c u mu l a t i ve effect of
accounting change ( 2 9 7 . 1 ) 1 6 0 . 0

Net income (loss) ( 2 9 7 . 1 ) 1 5 0 . 8
Pro fo rma av a i l a bl e

s e p a rate consolidated net
income (loss) ( 1 0 3 . 1 ) 5 3 . 4

Divestitures

On January 13, 2000, Hughes announced that it had

reached an agreement to sell its satellite systems manufac-

turing businesses to The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) for

$3.75 billion in cash.The final transaction, which is subject

to regulatory approval,is expected to close in the second

or third quarter of 2000.The financial results for the satel-

lite systems manufacturing businesses are treated as dis-

continued operations for all periods presented herein.

On December 15, 1997, Hughes sold substantially all of

the assets and liabilities of the Hughes Avicom business to

Rockwell Collins, Inc. for cash,which resulted in an after-tax

gain of $62.8 million. Hughes Avicom is treated as a dis-

continued operation for all periods prior to its disposition.

Summarized financial information for the discontinued

operations follows:

(Dollars in Millions)                        1 9 9 9 1998           1997

R e ve nu e s $1,780.4     $2,483.3     $2,392.5
Income tax prov i s i o n 4 2 . 9 9 7 . 6 7 4 . 7
Net income 9 9 . 8 1 9 6 . 4 1 7 0 . 6

Hughes also announced on January 13, 2000, the dis-

continuation of its mobile cellular and narrowband local

loop product lines at Hughes Network Systems.As a result

of this decision, Hughes recorded a fourth quarter 1999

pre-tax charge to continuing operations of $272.1 million.

The charge represents the write-off of receivables and

inventories, licenses, software and equipment with no alter-

native use.

Also, in December 1997, Hughes repurchased from

AT&T for $161.8 million,a 2.5% equity interest in

DIRECTV, ending AT&T’s marketing agreement to distrib -

ute the DIRECTV direct broadcast satellite television ser-

vice and DIRECTV™ receiver equipment.

Note 18: Derivative Financial Instruments and
Risk Management

In the normal course of bu s i n e s s , Hughes enters into

t ransactions that expose it to risks associated with fo r e i g n

exchange ra t e s . Hughes utilizes deri v a t i ve instruments in

an effo rt to mitigate these ri s k s . H u g h e s ’ policy is to not

enter into speculative deri v a t i ve instruments for profit or

e xecute deri v a t i ve instrument contracts for which there

are no underlying exposures. I n s t ruments used as hedges

must be effe c t i ve at reducing the risk associated with the

exposure being hedged and designated as a hedge at the

inception of the contra c t .A c c o r d i n g ly, changes in marke t

values of hedge instruments are highly correlated with

changes in market values of the underlying tra n s a c t i o n s ,

both at the inception of the hedge and over the life of

the hedge contra c t .
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Hughes pri m a ri ly uses foreign exchange-forward con-

t racts to hedge fi rm commitments denominated in fo r-

eign curr e n c i e s . Foreign exchange-forward contracts are

legal agreements between two parties to purchase and

sell a foreign curr e n c y, for a price specified at the con-

t ract date, with delive ry and settlement in the future.T h e

total notional amounts of contracts afforded hedge

accounting treatment at December 31, 1999 and 1998

were not signifi c a n t.

Hughes is exposed to credit risk in the event of

n o n - p e r fo rmance by the counterp a r ties to its fo r e i g n

e x c h a n g e - forward contra c t s . While Hughes believe s

this risk is remote, credit risk is managed through the

p e riodic monitoring and approval of fi n a n c i a l ly sound

c o u n t e rp a rt i e s .

Note 19:  Segment Reporting

Hughes’segments, which are differentiated by their

products and services, include Direct-To-Home Broadcast,

Satellite Services, and Network Systems. Direct-To-Home

Broadcast is engaged in acquiring, promoting, selling and/or

distributing digital entertainment programming via satellite

to residential and commercial customers. Satellite Services

is engaged in the selling, leasing and operating of satellite

transponders and providing services for cable television

systems,news companies, Internet service providers and

private business networks. Network Systems is engaged in

manufacturing DIRECTV receiver equipment and providing

satellite wireless communications ground equipment and

business communications services. Other includes the cor-

porate office and other entities.
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Selected information for Hughes’operating segments are reported as follows:

D i re c t - To -
H o m e S a t e l l i t e N e t wo r k

(Dollars in Millions) B ro a d c a s t S e rv i c e s S y s t e m s O t h e r E l i m i n a t i o n s To t a l

1 9 9 9

E x t e rnal Reve nu e s $ 3 , 7 8 1 . 7 $ 6 7 3 . 6 $ 1 , 0 9 1 . 7 $ 1 3 . 3 - $ 5 , 5 6 0 . 3

I n t e rsegment Reve nues 3 . 3 1 3 7 . 0 2 9 3 . 0 2 . 5 $ ( 4 3 5 . 8 ) -

Total Reve nu e s $ 3,785.0 $ 810.6 $ 1 , 3 8 4 . 7 $ 1 5 . 8 $ ( 4 3 5 . 8 ) $ 5 , 5 6 0 . 3

O p e rating Profit (Loss) $ ( 2 9 2 . 1 ) $ 3 3 8 . 3 $ ( 2 2 7 . 3 ) $ ( 1 4 3 . 8 ) $ ( 1 0 3 . 1 ) $ ( 4 2 8 . 0 )

Depreciation and 

A m o rtization 3 1 2 . 0 2 8 0 . 5 4 9 . 2 2 0 . 8 ( 1 1 . 8 ) 6 5 0 . 7

I n t a n g i bl e s , n e t 4 , 3 0 8 . 5 2 , 3 6 8 . 6 4 6 . 9 6 8 2 . 0 - 7 , 4 0 6 . 0

Segment Assets 9 , 0 5 6 . 6 5 , 9 8 4 . 7 1 , 1 6 7 . 3 2 , 7 6 5 . 9 ( 3 7 7 . 5 ) 1 8 , 5 9 7 . 0

Capital Expenditures (1) 5 1 6 . 9 9 5 6 . 4 3 5 . 0 1 7 0 . 0 ( 1 3 . 0 ) 1 , 6 6 5 . 3

1 9 9 8

E x t e rnal Reve nu e s $ 1 , 8 1 3 . 7 $ 6 4 3 . 8 $ 1 , 0 0 0 . 6 $ 2 2 . 5 - $ 3 , 4 8 0 . 6

I n t e rsegment Reve nu e s 2 . 4 1 2 3 . 5 7 6 . 1 1 . 4 $ ( 2 0 3 . 4 ) -

Total Reve nu e s $ 1 , 8 1 6 . 1 $ 7 6 7 . 3 $ 1 , 0 7 6 . 7 $ 2 3 . 9 $ ( 2 0 3 . 4 ) $ 3 , 4 8 0 . 6

O p e rating Profit (Loss) $ ( 2 2 8 . 1 ) $ 3 1 8 . 3 $ 1 0 . 9 $ ( 1 1 4 . 2 ) $ ( 3 3 . 1 ) $ ( 4 6 . 2 )

Depreciation and 

A m o rtization 1 0 2 . 3 2 3 5 . 0 4 1 . 7 1 3 . 9 ( 5 . 0 ) 3 8 7 . 9

I n t a n g i bl e s , n e t - 2 , 4 3 3 . 5 5 3 . 6 6 9 8 . 8 - 3 , 1 8 5 . 9

Segment Assets 2 , 1 9 0 . 4 5 , 8 9 0 . 5 1 , 2 9 9 . 0 3 , 4 7 0 . 6 ( 2 3 3 . 1 ) 1 2 , 6 1 7 . 4

Capital Expenditures (1) 2 3 0 . 8 9 2 1 . 7 4 0 . 0 3 . 3 1 3 3 . 0 1 , 3 2 8 . 8

1 9 9 7

E x t e rnal Reve nu e s $ 1 , 2 7 6 . 9 $ 5 3 7 . 3 $ 9 9 8 . 3 $ 2 5 . 8 - $ 2 , 8 3 8 . 3

I n t e rsegment Reve nu e s - 9 2 . 6 1 3 . 0 2 . 7 $ ( 1 0 8 . 3 ) -

Total Reve nu e s $ 1 , 2 7 6 . 9 $ 6 2 9 . 9 $ 1 , 0 1 1 . 3 $ 2 8 . 5 $ ( 1 0 8 . 3 ) $ 2 , 8 3 8 . 3

O p e rating Profit (Loss) $ ( 2 5 4 . 6 ) $ 2 9 2 . 9 $ 7 4 . 1 $ ( 6 3 . 7 ) $ ( 5 . 2 ) $ 4 3 . 5

Depreciation and 

A m o rtization 8 6 . 1 1 4 5 . 2 3 2 . 0 - ( 3 . 0 ) 2 6 0 . 3

I n t a n g i bl e s , n e t - 2 , 4 9 8 . 5 - 6 3 . 6 - 2 , 5 6 2 . 1

Segment Assets 1 , 4 0 8 . 7 5 , 6 8 2 . 4 1 , 2 1 5 . 6 3 , 9 1 8 . 0 ( 8 3 . 2 ) 1 2 , 1 4 1 . 5

Capital Expenditures (1) 1 0 5 . 6 6 2 5 . 7 4 3 . 1 0 . 4 ( 6 2 . 1 ) 7 1 2 . 7

(1) Includes expenditures related to satellites in segments as follows:$136.0 million and $70.2 million in 1999 and 1998,respectively, for Direct-To-Home Broadcast segment;

$532.8 million,$726.3 million and $606.1 million in 1999,1998 and 1997,respectively, for Satellite Services segment. Satellite Services segment also includes $369.5 million

and $155.5 million in 1999 and 1998,respectively, related to the early buy-out of satellite sale-leasebacks.
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A reconciliation of operating profit (loss) to income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, minority

interests, extraordinary item and cumulative effect of accounting change, as shown in the Statement of Operations and

Available Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss), follows:

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1998 1 9 9 7

O p e rating profit (loss) $ ( 4 2 8 . 0 ) $ ( 4 6 . 2 ) $ 4 3 . 5

Interest income 2 7 . 0 1 1 2 . 3 3 3 . 0

Interest expense ( 1 2 2 . 7 ) ( 1 7 . 5 ) ( 9 1 . 0 )

O t h e r, n e t ( 1 3 6 . 3 ) ( 1 5 1 . 8 ) 3 8 8 . 6

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income

t a xe s , m i n o rity interests, e x t ra o r d i n a ry item and 

c u mu l a t i ve effect of accounting change $ ( 6 6 0 . 0 ) $ ( 1 0 3 . 2 ) $ 3 7 4 . 1

The following table presents revenues earned from customers located in different geographic areas. Property is

grouped by its physical location. All satellites are reported as United States assets.

1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

N e t N e t N e t
To t a l P ro p e r ty & T o t a l P ro p e r ty & T o t a l P ro p e r ty &

(Dollars in Millions) R eve nu e s S a t e l l i t e s R eve nu e s S a t e l l i t e s R eve nu e s S a t e l l i t e s

N o rth A m e ri c a

United States $ 4 , 4 0 7 . 9 $ 4 , 8 9 1 . 8 $ 2 , 6 4 5 . 6 $ 3 , 8 3 0 . 6 $ 1 , 7 8 1 . 5 $ 3 , 1 7 8 . 6

Canada and Mexico 1 1 4 . 6 5 1 . 8 5 6 . 9 2 . 0 4 4 . 8 -

Total North A m e ri c a 4 , 5 2 2 . 5 4 , 9 4 3 . 6 2 , 7 0 2 . 5 3 , 8 3 2 . 6 1 , 8 2 6 . 3 3 , 1 7 8 . 6

E u r o p e

United Kingdom 1 7 5 . 2 1 0 . 5 1 1 1 . 3 1 4 . 1 2 5 . 8 1 0 . 4

O t h e r 4 7 . 6 0 . 2 6 1 . 2 0 . 3 1 2 1 . 7 0 . 1

Total Europe 2 2 2 . 8 1 0 . 7 1 7 2 . 5 1 4 . 4 1 4 7 . 5 1 0 . 5

Latin A m e ri c a

B ra z i l 1 5 7 . 7 1 5 1 . 1 1 5 0 . 9 4 . 6 1 0 2 . 1 -

O t h e r 2 4 5 . 3 9 . 8 1 0 4 . 2 1 1 . 1 9 0 . 4 -

Total Latin A m e ri c a 4 0 3 . 0 1 6 0 . 9 2 5 5 . 1 1 5 . 7 1 9 2 . 5 -

A s i a

J a p a n 1 0 3 . 6 0 . 7 6 7 . 5 0 . 5 2 1 . 1 0 . 5

I n d i a 8 5 . 1 1 2 . 4 7 9 . 9 1 4 . 7 4 1 . 9 1 2 . 7

C h i n a 2 7 . 7 1 . 2 6 3 . 4 1 . 7 1 5 4 . 3 1 . 5

O t h e r 1 0 8 . 5 0 . 5 6 5 . 5 0 . 6 3 5 9 . 9 0 . 4

Total A s i a 3 2 4 . 9 1 4 . 8 2 7 6 . 3 17.5 5 7 7 . 2 1 5 . 1

Total Middle East 1 1 . 9 - 2 0 . 0 - 4 7 . 2 -

Total A f ri c a 7 5 . 2 0 . 3 5 4 . 2 0 . 3 4 7 . 6 -

To t a l $ 5 , 5 6 0 . 3 $ 5 , 1 3 0 . 3 $ 3 , 4 8 0 . 6 $ 3 , 8 8 0 . 5 $ 2,838.3 $ 3 , 2 0 4 . 2
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Note 20:  Commitments and Contingencies

In connection with the 1997 spin-off of the defense

electronics business of Hughes’ predecessor as part of the

Hughes restructuring transactions and the subsequent

merger of that business with Raytheon Company, the

terms of the merger agreement provided processes for

resolving disputes that might arise in connection with post-

closing financial adjustments that were also called for by

the terms of the merger agreement. These financial adjust-

ments might require a cash payment from Raytheon to

Hughes or vice versa.

A dispute curr e n t ly exists regarding the post-closing

adjustments which Hughes and Raytheon have pro-

posed to one another and related issues regarding the

adequacy of disclosures made by Hughes to Ray t h e o n

in the period prior to consummation of the merg e r.

Hughes and Raytheon are proceeding with the dispute

resolution process. It is possible that the ultimate reso-

lution of the post-closing financial adjustment and of

related disclosure issues may result in Hughes making a

p ayment to Raytheon that would be material to

H u g h e s . H owe ve r, the amount of any payment that

either party might be required to make to the other

cannot be determined at this time. Hughes intends to

v i g o r o u s ly pursue resolution of the disputes through the

a r b i t ration processes, opposing the adjustments pro-

posed by Ray t h e o n , and seeking the payment from

R aytheon that Hughes has proposed.

On June 3, 1 9 9 9 , the National Rural Te l e c o m - mu n i c a-

tions Coopera t i ve ("NRTC") filed a lawsuit against

D I R E C T V, I n c. and Hughes Communications Galaxy, I n c. ,

which Hughes refe rs to together in this description as

‘‘ D I R E C T V,’’ in the U. S . D i s t rict Court for the Centra l

D i s t rict of Califo rn i a , alleging that DIRECTV has breached

the DBS Distri bution Agreement with the NRT C.T h e

DBS Distri bution Agreement provides the NRTC with

c e r tain ri g h t s , in certain specified portions of the United

S t a t e s , with respect to DIRECTV programming delive r e d

over 27 of the 32 frequencies at the 101° west longitude

orbital location. The NRTC claims that DIRECTV has

w r o n g f u l ly depri ved it of the exclusive right to distri bu t e

programming former ly provided by USSB over the other

five frequencies at 101°. DIRECTV denies that the NRTC

is entitled to exclusive distribution rights to the former

USSB programming because , among other things,the

NRTC’s exclusive distribution rights are limited to pro-

gramming distributed over 27 of the 32 frequencies at

101°.The NRTC’s complaint seeks, in the alternative, the

right to distribute former USSB programming on a non-

exclusive basis and the recovery of related revenues from

the date USSB was acquired by Hughes. DIRECTV main-

tains that the NRTC’s right under the DBS Distribution

Agreement is to mar ket and sell the former USSB pro-

gramming as its agent and the NRTC is not entitled to the

claimed revenues. DIRECTV intends to vigorously defend

against the NRTC claims. DIRECTV has also filed a coun-

terclaim against the NRTC seeking a declaration of the

parties’ rights under the DBS Distribution Agreement.

On August 26, 1 9 9 9 , the NRTC filed a second law s u i t

against DIRECTV alleging that DIRECTV has breached

the DBS Distri bution A g r e e m e n t . In this law s u i t , t h e

N RTC is asking the court to require DIRECTV to pay the

N RTC a proportionate share of unspecified financial ben-

e fits that DIRECTV deri ves from programming prov i d e rs

and other third par t i e s . DIRECTV denies that it owe s

a ny sums to the NRTC on account of the allegations in

these matters and plans to vigorously defend itself against

these claims.

Pegasus Satellite Te l e v i s i o n , I n c. and Golden Sky

S y s t e m s , I n c. , the two largest NRTC affi l i a t e s , filed an

action on Janu a ry 11, 2000 against DIRECTV in the U. S .

D i s t rict Court in Los A n g e l e s . The plaintiffs allege, a m o n g

other things, that DIRECTV has interfered with their

c o n t ractual relationship with the NRT C.The plaintiffs

plead that their rights and damages are deri v a t i ve of the

rights and claims asserted by the NRTC in its two cases

against DIRECTV.The plaintiffs also allege that DIRECTV

has interfered with their contractual relationships with

m a nu f a c t u r e rs and distri bu t o rs by preventing those par-

ties from selling receiving equipment to the plaintiffs’

d e a l e rs . DIRECTV denies that it has wrongfully interfe r e d

with any of plaintiffs’ business relationships and will
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v i g o r o u s ly defend the law s u i t . Although an amount of loss,

if any, cannot be estimated at this time, an unfavo ra bl e

outcome could be reached in the NRTC and Pegasus liti-

gation that could be material to Hughes’ results of opera-

tions or financial position.

G e n e ral Electric Capital Corp o ration (“GECC”) and

D I R E C T V, I n c. entered into a contract on July 31, 1 9 9 5 , i n

which GECC agreed to establish and manage a pri v a t e

label consumer credit program for consumer purchases

of hardware and related DIRECTV progra m m i n g . U n d e r

the contra c t , GECC also agreed to provide cer t a i n

related services to DIRECTV, including credit risk scori n g ,

billing and collections serv i c e s . DIRECTV agreed to act

as a surety for loans complying with the terms of the

c o n t ra c t . Hughes guaranteed DIRECTV’s perfo rm a n c e

under the contra c t . A complaint and counterclaim have

been filed by the parties in the U. S . D i s t rict Court for the

D i s t rict of Connecticut concerning GECC’s perfo rm a n c e

and DIRECTV’s obligation to act as a surety. G E C C

claims damages from DIRECTV in excess of $140 million.

DIRECTV is seeking damages from GECC in excess of

$45 million. Hughes intends to vigorously contest

G E C C ’s allegations and pursue its own contractual ri g h t s

and remedies. Hughes does not believe that the litigation

will have a material adve rse impact on its results of oper-

ations or financial position. P r e t rial discove ry is com-

p l e t e d . No specific trial date has been set, but a trial may

be held in 2000.

There is a pending grand jury investigation into whether

Hughes should be accused of criminal violations of the

export control laws arising out of the participation of two

of its employees on a committee formed to review the

findings of Chinese engineers regarding the failure of a

Long March rocket in China in 1996. Hughes is also sub-

ject to the authority of the State Department to impose

sanctions for non-criminal violations of the Arms Expor t

Control Act. The possible criminal and/or civil sanctions

could include fines as well as debarment from various

export privileges and participating in government con-

tracts. If Hughes were to enter into a settlement of this

matter prior to the closing of the Boeing tra n s a c t i o n

that involves a debarment from sales to the U.S. govern-

ment or a material suspension of Hughes’export licenses

or other material limitation on projected business activities

of the satellite systems manufacturing businesses, Boeing

would not be obligated to complete the purchase of

Hughes’satellite systems manufacturing businesses.

Hughes does not expect the grand jury investigation or

State Department review to result in a material adverse

effect upon its business.

Hughes Space and Communications Intern a t i o n a l , a

w h o l ly owned subsidiary of Hughes Space and

C o m munications Company, has certain contracts with

ICO Global Communications Operations to build the

satellites and related components for a global wireless

c o m munications system. Hughes owns approx i m a t e ly

2.6% of the equity in ICO’s parent company (which

Hughes has agreed to sell to Boeing as part of the sale of

H u g h e s ’ satellite systems manu f a c t u ring bu s i n e s s e s ) . O n

August 27, 1 9 9 9 , the ICO parent company filed for bank-

ruptcy protection under Chapter 11 in U. S . B a n k ru p t c y

C o u rt in W i l m i n g t o n , D e l aw a r e. On December 3, 1 9 9 9 ,

the U. S . B a n k ruptcy Court in this case granted fi n a l

a p p r oval of debtor-in-possession financing in the amount

of $500 million to a group led by Craig McCaw, t h e

C h a i rman of Teledesic LLC, a company establishing a

global broadband Internet-in-the-Sky satellite commu n i c a-

tions netwo rk . In October 1999, M c C aw and his group

also agreed to provide an additional $700 million in

financing upon the ICO parent’s emergence from bank-

ruptcy court protection, to the extent that this fi n a n c i n g

is not provided by other inve s t o rs . This exit financing is

expected to be completed in mid-2000, upon court

a p p r oval and consummation of the ICO parent company

r e o rganization plan. There can be no  assurance when

the consummation of the reorganization plan will occur

or if the ICO parent company will be successful in con-

fi rming any plan of reorg a n i z a t i o n . If it is unable to do

so the most like ly outcome would be a liquidation pro-

c e e d i n g . In the event that a liquidation becomes prob-

a bl e, Hughes would expect to record a pre-tax charg e

to income of up to approx i m a t e ly $350 million, o f
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which $100 million would be attributable to continuing

operations and $250 million would be attributable to dis-

continued operations. A portion of the purchase price to

be paid by Boeing will be placed in escrow under certain

circumstances if prior to completing this sale to B o e i n g ,

H u g h e s ’c o n t racts with ICO are not assumed by ICO with

b a n k ruptcy court approval or new similar contracts are not

entered into with bankruptcy court approv a l .

At December 31, 1999, minimum future commitments

under noncancelable operating leases having lease terms in

excess of one year are primarily for real property and

aggregated $250.8 million, payable as follows: $102.8 mil-

lion in 2000, $52.3 million in 2001, $24.2 million in 2002,

$17.8 million in 2003, $12.5 million in 2004 and $41.2 mil-

lion thereafter. Certain of these leases contain escalation

clauses and renewal or purchase options. Rental expenses

under operating leases, net of sublease rental income,

were $58.5 million in 1999, $82.7 million in 1998 and

$89.1 million in 1997.

Hughes is contingently liable under standby letters of

credit and bonds in the amount of $222.0 million at

December 31, 1999. In Hughes’past experience, no mate-

rial claims have been made against these financial instru-

ments. In addition, at December 31, 1999 Hughes has

guaranteed up to $209.1 million of bank debt,including

$105.0 million related to American Mobile Satellite

Corporation. Of the bank debt guaranteed, $105.0 million

matures in March 2003; $55.4 million matures in

September 2007; the remaining $48.7 million is due in

variable amounts over the next five years.

In connection with the DTH broadcast businesses,

Hughes has commitments related to certain programming

agreements which are variable based upon the number of

underlying subscribers and market penetration rates.

Minimum payments over the terms of applicable contracts

are anticipated to be approximately $1,000.0 million to

$1,150.0 million.

As part of a marketing agreement entered into with

AOL on June 21, 1 9 9 9 , Hughes committed to increase its

sales and marketing expenditures over the next three ye a rs

by approx i m a t e ly $1.5 billion relating to DirecPC/AO L - P l u s ,

D I R E C T V, D I R E C T V / AOL TV and DirecDuo.

Hughes is subject to various claims and legal actions

which are pending or may be asserted against it. The

aggregate ultimate liability of Hughes under these claims

and actions was not determinable at December 31,1999.

In the opinion of Hughes management, such liability is not

expected to have a material adverse effect on Hughes’

results of operations or financial position.

Note 21:  Subsequent Events 

On March 1, 2 0 0 0 , Hughes announced that DIRECTV

J a p a n ’s operations will be discontinued and that its sub-

s c ri b e rs would migrate to SkyPe r fe c T V ! , a company in

Japan providing direct-to-home satellite broadcasting. As a

result of this tra n s a c t i o n , Hughes will acquire an approx i-

mate  6.8% interest in SkyPe r fe c T V ! , which is expected to

complete an IPO during its fiscal year ending March 31,

2 0 0 1 . Hughes will be required to fund a substantial port i o n

of the costs to be incurred over the next six to nine

months to exit the DIRECTV Japan business. Hughes will

accrue such exit costs during the first quarter of fiscal

2000.The first quarter charge will be offset by the fair

value of the SkyPerfectTV! interest received; however the

amounts are not yet estimable . In addition, Hughes will

c o n t i nue to record its share of DIRECTV Japan’s operating

losses during fiscal 2000.

EchoStar Communications Corp o ration and others com-

menced an action in the U. S .D i s t rict Court in Colorado on

F e b ru a ry 1, 2000 against DIRECTV, Hughes Netwo rk

Systems and Thomson Consumer Electronics, I n c. s e e k i n g ,

among other things, i n j u n c t i ve relief and unspecified dam-

a g e s , including treble damages, in connection with allegations

that the defendants have entered into agreements with

r e t a i l e rs and program prov i d e rs and engaged in other con-

duct that violates the antitrust laws and constitutes unfair

c o m p e t i t i o n . DIRECTV believes that the complaint is with-

out merit and intends to vigorously defend against the alle-

gations ra i s e d .Although an amount of loss, if any, cannot be

estimated at this time, an unfavo ra ble outcome could be

reached that could be material to Hughes’ results of opera-

tions or financial position.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited) 

(Dollars in Millions Except Per Share Amounts) 1st  2 n d 3 rd 4 t h

1999 Quar t e r s

R e ve nu e s $ 9 1 8 . 4 $ 1 , 3 1 6 . 1 $ 1 , 6 2 7 . 8 $ 1 , 6 9 8 . 0

Loss from continuing operations befo r e

income taxes and minority interests $ ( 3 1 . 0 ) $ ( 7 0 . 8 ) $ ( 8 7 . 4 ) $ ( 4 7 0 . 8 )

Income tax benefi t ( 1 3 . 4 ) ( 9 . 5 ) ( 3 6 . 8 ) ( 1 7 7 . 2 )

M i n o rity interests in net losses of subsidiari e s 6 . 5 6 . 8 8 . 8 9 . 9

Income from discontinued opera t i o n s 8 4 . 1 ( 4 3 . 1 ) 6 . 9 5 1 . 9

Net income (loss) 7 3 . 0 ( 9 7 . 6 ) ( 3 4 . 9 ) ( 2 3 1 . 8 )

E a rnings (loss) used for computation of

av a i l a ble separate consolidated net income (loss) $ 7 8 . 3 $ ( 9 3 . 9 ) $ ( 5 4 . 3 ) $ ( 2 5 1 . 3 )

Ave rage number of shares of General Motors 

Class H common stock outstanding (in millions) (Numera t o r ) 1 0 6 . 3 1 2 1 . 0 1 3 5 . 1 1 3 6 . 3

Ave rage Class H dividend base (in millions) (Denominator) 4 0 0 . 2 4 1 4 . 9 4 2 8 . 9 4 3 0 . 1

Av a i l a ble separate consolidated net income (loss) $ 2 0 . 8 $ ( 2 7 . 4 ) $ ( 1 7 . 1 ) $ ( 7 9 . 6 )

Stock price range of General Motors Class H 

common stock

H i g h $ 5 3 . 0 0 $ 6 3 . 8 8 $ 6 2 . 4 4 $ 9 7 . 6 3

L ow $ 3 8 . 5 0 $ 4 8 . 9 4 $ 4 8 . 7 5 $ 5 5 . 9 4

1998 Quar t e r s

R e ve nu e s $ 7 3 9 . 7 $ 7 8 0 . 5 $ 8 5 5 . 2 $ 1 , 1 0 5 . 2

Income (loss) from continuing operations befo r e

income taxe s , m i n o rity interests and

c u mu l a t i ve effect of accounting change $ 1 9 . 9 $ ( 2 6 . 3 ) $ ( 1 9 . 8 ) $ ( 7 7 . 0 )

Income tax provision (benefi t ) 1 2 . 9 ( 8 . 5 ) ( 3 . 7 ) ( 1 4 3 . 0 )

M i n o rity interests in net losses of subsidiari e s 1 . 3 8 . 6 9 . 3 5 . 2

Income from discontinued opera t i o n s 4 0 . 1 6 0 . 0 4 4 . 4 5 1 . 9

C u mu l a t i ve effect of accounting change (1) ( 9 . 2 ) - - -

Net income 3 9 . 2 5 0 . 8 3 7 . 6 1 2 3 . 1

E a rnings used for computation of av a i l a bl e

s e p a rate consolidated net income $ 4 4 . 5 $ 5 6 . 1 $ 4 2 . 9 $ 1 2 8 . 2

Ave rage number of shares of General Motors 

Class H common stock outstanding (in millions) (Numera t o r ) 1 0 4 . 1 1 0 5 . 2 1 0 5 . 7 1 0 5 . 9

Ave rage Class H dividend base (in millions) (Denominator) 3 9 9 . 9 3 9 9 . 9 3 9 9 . 9 3 9 9 . 9

Av a i l a ble separate consolidated net income $ 1 1 . 5 $ 1 4 . 7 $ 1 1 . 4 $ 3 3 . 9

Stock price range of General Motors Class H 

common stock

H i g h $ 4 8 . 0 0 $ 5 7 . 8 8 $ 5 0 . 8 1 $ 4 2 . 3 8

L ow $ 3 1 . 5 0 $ 4 2 . 7 5 $ 3 5 . 0 0 $ 3 0 . 3 8

(1) Hughes adopted SOP 98-5,Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up Activities,effective January 1,1998. The unfavorable cumulative effect of adopting SOP 98-5 was

$9.2 million. The impact on the second,third and fourth quarters of 1998 was not significant.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (Concluded)

Selected Financial Data (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Millions) 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Statements of Operations Data:

Total reve nu e s $ 5 , 5 6 0 . 3 $ 3 , 4 8 0 . 6 $ 2 , 8 3 8 . 3 $ 2 , 0 5 8 . 3 $ 1 , 5 5 4 . 0

Total operating costs and expenses 5 , 9 8 8 . 3 3 , 5 2 6 . 8 2 , 7 9 4 . 8 2 , 1 0 9 . 2 1 , 5 7 3 . 6

O p e rating profit (loss) $ ( 4 2 8 . 0 ) $ ( 4 6 . 2 ) $ 4 3 . 5 $ ( 5 0 . 9 ) $ ( 1 9 . 6 )

Income (loss) from continuing operations befo r e
e x t ra o r d i n a ry item and cumu l a t i ve effect of
accounting change $ ( 3 9 1 . 1 ) $ 6 3 . 5 $ 2 3 6 . 9 $ 1 3 . 1 $ ( 2 9 . 9 )

Income from discontinued opera t i o n s , n e t
of taxe s 9 9 . 8 1 9 6 . 4 1 7 0 . 6 1 4 9 . 4 3 6 . 1

Gain on sale of discontinued opera t i o n s , net of
t a xe s - - 6 2 . 8 - -

E x t ra o r d i n a ry item, net of taxe s - - ( 2 0 . 6 ) - -
C u mu l a t i ve effect of accounting change, net of 

t a xe s - ( 9 . 2 ) - - -

Net income (loss) ( 2 9 1 . 3 ) 2 5 0 . 7 4 4 9 . 7 1 6 2 . 5 6 . 2

Adjustments to exclude the effect of GM purchase
accounting adjustments 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0 2 1 . 0

P r e fe rred stock dividends ( 5 0 . 9 ) - - - -

E a rnings (Loss) Used for Computation of Av a i l a ble 
S e p a rate Consolidated Net Income (Loss) $ ( 3 2 1 . 2 ) $ 2 7 1 . 7 $ 4 7 0 . 7 $ 1 8 3 . 5 $ 2 7 . 2

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2 3 8 . 2 $ 1 , 3 4 2 . 0 $ 2 , 7 8 3 . 7 $ 6 . 2 $ 6 . 9

Total current assets 3 , 8 5 8 . 0 4 , 0 7 5 . 2 5 , 1 7 9 . 1 1 , 6 5 8 . 4 1 , 6 1 9 . 8

Total assets 1 8 , 5 9 7 . 0 1 2 , 6 1 7 . 4 1 2 , 1 4 1 . 5 3 , 8 6 1 . 3 3 , 5 1 2 . 7

Total current liabilities 2 , 6 4 2 . 1 1 , 3 4 6 . 0 1 , 0 0 7 . 4 6 9 1 . 9 4 7 7 . 9

L o n g - t e rm debt 1 , 5 8 6 . 0 7 7 8 . 7 6 3 7 . 6 - -

M i n o rity interests 5 4 4 . 3 4 8 1 . 7 6 0 7 . 8 1 2 . 3 -

O w n e r ’s equity 1 1 , 6 8 1 . 3 8 , 4 1 2 . 2 8 , 3 4 0 . 2 2 , 4 9 1 . 6 2 , 6 0 8 . 9

Other Data:

E B I T DA (1) $ 2 2 2 . 7 $ 3 4 1 . 7 $ 3 0 3 . 8 $ 1 1 2 . 6 $ 1 3 0 . 0

Depreciation and amort i z a t i o n 6 5 0 . 7 3 8 7 . 9 2 6 0 . 3 1 6 3 . 5 1 4 9 . 6

Capital expenditures 1 , 6 6 5 . 3 1 , 3 2 8 . 8 7 1 2 . 7 3 6 1 . 6 3 8 9 . 1

(1) EBITDA (Earnings (Loss) Before Interest, Taxes,Depreciation and Amortization) is the sum of operating profit (loss) and depreciation and amortization.



B o a rd of Dire c t o r s

James M. Corn e l i u s* * *
C h a i rm a n
Guidant Corporation

Thomas E. Everh a rt
P resident Emeritus
C a l i f o rnia Institute of Te c h n o l o g y
C h a i rman,  Audit Committee

J. Michael Losh
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Off i c e r
General Motors Corporation
Audit Committee

Peter A. Lund* * *
Media Consultant
and Private Investor

H a rry J. Pearc e
Vice Chairm a n
General Motors Corporation
Executive Compensation Committee

E c k h a rd Pfeiff e r
Chairman, Intershop Communications AG
C h a i rman, Executive Compensation
C o m m i t t e e

A l f red C. Sikes
P re s i d e n t
Hearst Interactive Media

John G. Smale
R e t i red Chairman and 
Chief Executive Off i c e r
The Procter and Gamble Company
Audit Committee
Executive Compensation Committee

John F. Smith, Jr.
C h a i rman and 
Chief Executive Off i c e r
General Motors Corporation

Michael T. Smith
C h a i rman and 
Chief Executive Off i c e r
Hughes Electronics Corporation

B e rnee D.L. Stro m*
P re s i d e n t
InfoSpace Ve n t u re Capital Fund LLC

O ff i c e r s

Michael T. Smith
C h a i rman and 
Chief Executive Off i c e r

Eddy W. Hart e n s t e i n
Senior Executive Vice Pre s i d e n t * *

Jack A. Shaw
Senior Executive Vice Pre s i d e n t * *

Roxanne S. Austin
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Off i c e r

Sandra L. Harr i s o n
Senior Vice Pre s i d e n t

Pradman P. Kaul
Senior Vice Pre s i d e n t

Tig H. Kre k e l
Senior Vice Pre s i d e n t

Mufit Cinali
Vice Pre s i d e n t

L a rry D. Hunter
Vice Pre s i d e n t

Kevin N. McGrath
Vice Pre s i d e n t * * *

Mark A. McEachen
Vice President and Tre a s u re r

M a rcy J.K. Ti ff a n y
Vice President and 
General Counsel

Michael J. Gaines
C o n t ro l l e r

Jan L. Wi l l i a m s o n
S e c re t a ry

* Effective January 31, 2000

** Effective Febru a ry 1, 2000

*** Effective March 1, 2000

GM Class H Common 
Stockholder Inf o r m a t i o n
Market prices of General Motors Class H
common stock ranged from $38.50 to
$97.63 during the calendar year 1999.
The number of holders of re c o rd of GM
Class H common stock as of December
31, 1999, was 192,866.

Tr a n s f er A g ent and GM 
Class H Stock Registrar
BankBoston c/o Equiserv e
General Motors Shareholder Services 
P.O. Box 8036
Boston, Massachusetts 
02266-8036 
(800) 331-9922
h t t p : / / w w w. e q u i s e rv e . c o m
Phone outside continental U.S. 
and Canada (781) 575-3990
TTD for the deaf, hard of hearing or
speech impaired (800) 994-4755 

Independent Auditors 
Deloitte & Touche LLP
1000 Wi l s h i re Boulevard
Los Angeles, Californ i a
9 0 0 1 7 - 2 4 7 2

I nvestor Relations 
GM Class H Stock
Hughes Electronics Corporation
P.O. Box 956
200 N. Sepulveda Blvd.
El Segundo, California 
9 0 2 4 5 - 0 9 5 6
(310) 662-9688

Media Relations Depar t m e n t
Hughes Electronics Corporation 
P.O. Box 956
200 N. Sepulveda Blvd.
El Segundo, California 
9 0 2 4 5 - 0 9 5 6
(310) 662-9670

Stock Data
Ticker Symbol: GMH
Listed on the New York Stock Exchange

I n t e r n e t
View this Annual Report and other
Hughes Electronics information on our
World Wide We b site at
h t t p : / / w w w. h u g h e s . c o m


